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Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K
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E3) ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File No. 001-36847
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PART |
ITEM 1. Business.

This report contains forward-looking sta&ms within the meaning of the Private Securitigggation Reform Act of 1995. All statements
in this report other than statements of historiaat, including statements identified by words sasHbelieve," "may," "will," "estimate,"
“"continue," "anticipate,” "intend," "expect" andrsiar expressions, are forward-looking statemertswardiooking statements include, but
not limited to, statements about:

. our views regarding the future of genetic tegtamd its role in mainstream medical practice;

. strategic plans for our business, products aodrology, including our ability to expand our asaad develop new assays while
maintaining attractive pricing, further enhance genetic testing process and the related user iexger; build interest in and
demand for our tests (including by driving trafficour website) and attract potential partners;

. our expectations with respect to our near-term pfaoperation;

. the implementation of our business model;

. the rate and degree of market acceptance aksts and genetic testing generally;

. our ability to scale our infrastructure and @i@ms in a cost-effective manner;

. the timing of and our ability to introduce impements to our genetic testing platform and to egpzur current assay to include

additional genes;

. our expectations with respect to future hirings;

. the timing and results of studies with respectuptests;

. developments and projections relating to our coitgrstand our industry;

. the degree to which individuals will share genetformation generally, as well as share any relgistgntial economic

opportunities with us;

. our commercial plans, including our sales andketing expectations;

. our ability to obtain and maintain adequate minsement for our tests;

. regulatory developments in the United Statesfarglgn countries;

. our ability to retain key scientific or managempatsonnel;

. our expectations regarding our ability to obtaid amintain intellectual property protection and imfitinge on the rights of
others;

. our expectations regarding the time during whichwilebe an emerging growth company under the J@B&

. our ability to obtain funding for our operations;

. our financial performance; and

. our expectations regarding our future revenue, @bstvenue, operating expenses and capital expeadj and our future capi

requirements.

Forward-looking statements are subjectnamber of risks and uncertainties that could caseal results to differ materially from those
expected. These risks and uncertainties includeafgunot limited to, those risks discussed in Iie%of this report. Although we believe that
the expectations and assumptions reflected indiveaird-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot
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guarantee future results, level of activity, pemance or achievements. In addition, neither weamgrother person assumes responsibility for
the accuracy and completeness of any of these fddeaking statements. Any forward-looking statemsen this report speak only as of the
date of this report. We expressly disclaim anygdtion or undertaking to update any forward-loolkstatements.

This report contains statistical data astih@ates that we obtained from industry publicatiand reports. These publications typically
indicate that they have obtained their informafimm sources they believe to be reliable, but doguarantee the accuracy and completene
their information. Some data contained in this realso based on our internal estimates. Altfhowg have not independently verified the
third-party data, we believe it to be reasonable.

In this report, all references to "Invita&ye," "us," "our," or "the company" mean Invit&®rporation.

Invitae and the Invitae logo are trademarkisivitae Corporation. We also refer to tradensavkother corporations and organizations in
this report.

Overview

Invitae's mission is to bring comprehengjeaetic information into mainstream medical pi@to improve the quality of healthcare for
billions of people. Our goal is to aggregate mdshe world's genetic tests into a single servidth Wigher quality, faster turnaround time and
lower price than many single gene tests today. Wee\iounded on four core principles:

. Patients should own and control their own genetiarmation;

. Healthcare professionals are fundamental inroxdeand interpreting genetic information;

. Driving down the price of genetic informationlMimcrease its clinical and personal utility; and
. Genetic information is more valuable when shared

As the price of DNA sequencing has decljribd amount of genetic information that can becgated per dollar has increased
exponentially, enabling the generation, analysi storage of more comprehensive genetic informdtian ever before. According to OMIM,
there are more than 4,000 inherited genetic canditfor which the scientific and medical commuthigs already identified specific genes and
variants useful for diagnosis or treatment plannByaggregating large numbers of currently avddaenetic tests into a single service, we
can achieve great economies of scale that allotw nst only provide primary single gene or multihgdests but also to generate and store
additional genetic information on behalf of theigiat for future use. We refer to the service of aging genetic information over the course of
disease or the lifetime of a patient as "genomeagament.” In addition, as more individuals gairessco their genetic information, we
believe that sharing genetic information will prd@ian economic opportunity for patients and usatti@pate in advancing the understanding
and treatment of disease. We believe that our aiggaivestment in building our infrastructure anttadting talent across a range of disciplines
to generate, interpret and manage genetic infoomatill position us to be a leader in the fieldgaetic testing and genome management.

In the near term, we plan to focus on themediate market for symptomatic disease with thed tfpaggregate testing for large numbers of
genetic diseases into a single low-cost servicéhérfuture, we plan on expanding our efforts imieaand newborn testing markets and later
into the health and
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wellness market. As our market share grows we éxpatour business will develop in three stagesr éhve longer term:

. Genetic testing: making genetic testing more affordable and mooessible with faster turnaround time than eveoteefWe
believe that there is a significant market oppatyufor high volume, low cost genetic testing tikan allow us to serve a large
number of clients.

. Genome management building a secure and trusted genome managemfeasiructure. By generating and storing large
amounts of individualized genetic information feeey patient sample, we believe we can create vahee the course of diseg
or lifetime of a client.

. Genome network: sharing genetic information on a global scaladeance science and medicine. We plan to helprjatie
share their genetic information in a way that bi#séfiem and us by acting as a permission-basddbuom their behalf.

The fundamental challenge of the first stafjour business (genetic testing) is to delivéficgently comprehensive and quality content at
a cost that makes sense for broad healthcare adaptd reimbursement. We believe we are well poti to address this challenge over time
given our investment in infrastructure that willoaV us to perform these complex tests in high vawahlow cost. This infrastructure includes
the scientific curation of individual genetic diders, genes and variants—a rapidly advancing drecience. It also includes large-scale
laboratory processes and information systems te sémalyze and manage the data; a knowledge deataat allows us to aggregate the role
genetic variations play in diseases and drug resgmrand software tools to help generate repargshgsicians and their patients while
reducing the time required by our genetic spedfafix interpretation and report sign-out.

We are headquartered in San Franciscofo@ai, where we have offices and a CLIA-certifi€@hP-accredited facility. We also have
offices in Palo Alto, California as well as a seddaboratory in Santiago, Chile. We launched owat fftommercial offering in late November
2013 with an assay of 216 genes comprising 85réiftegenetic disorders and 17 targeted panelshegan selling and marketing our panels
with a focused effort on hereditary cancers. We@h&1,500 per sample in most cases, which allawslgents to receive test results on an
all genes in a specific indication or multi-gen@@la importantly, we are providing turnaround tiofdess than three weeks for the substantial
majority of our tests. Our volume has grown rapigllyce commercial launch, and in 2014 we delivenede than 3,600 billable tests, includ
more than 1,800 billable tests in the fourth quasfe2014. We expect our rate of growth in delivebéllable tests to slow in periods leading up
to commercial releases of our expanding platfonoluiding the period in 2015 leading up to the fplstnned expansion of our current assay of
216 genes. We have a multi-disciplinary team of gédple as of December 31, 2014, including biomiticians, clinical and medical
geneticists, commercial and managed care expemngtig counselors, scientists, software engin@exb,developers, graphic designers and lat
automation specialists, as well as administrative @rporate personnel. We believe that creatistyamng team is a competitive advantage, an
we strive to foster a motivating and unique cultarevhich our people can thrive.

We believe that the keys to our future sssawill be to steadily reduce the costs we inayoroviding test results, increase the amount of
genetic content we offer in the form of an expantst menu for the same or lower prices, incrdase/dlume of tests we deliver, and improve
our collections from our customers, particularlydkparty healthcare payors such as insurance coi@pa

The global opportunity for genetic testing

We believe that genes are a fundamentétfgaof modern medicine and that genetic testiag the potential to affect billions of people.
Every individual has a unique genome and we belilkaecomprehensive knowledge of this genetic mpkeill be foundational to the future
practice of
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medicine. We also believe that eventually manwiiadials in a modern healthcare system will havé gpegnome sequenced at birth or during
the course of their lives, resulting in the potainfibr dramatic improvements in health and wellresd an overall reduction in healthcare costs
through preventive care.

Virtually everyone is carrying loss of fiion mutations in their genome, recessive genetialitions that may affect their extended fan
or genetic mutations that may affect their respdasarious drugs or therapies. For example, apprately 2.0% of the population has a
genetic variant in one of 52 genes identified ey American College of Medical Genetics as importacidental findings that should be
reported to patients in part because they are raligactionable. In addition, approximately 0.4%tloé population has a cardiac genetic
condition that may lead to early onset cardiovascdisease, and approximately 0.5-5.0% of the adjoul has a factor V Leiden variant that
increases the genetic risk for blood clots.

The genetic testing market is a rapidlywgny global market. According to UnitedHealth Grothpe U.S. genetic testing and molecular
diagnostics market in 2010 was estimated to beaxpately $5 billion, of which approximately 60%, $3 billion, was genetic testing. As of
December 2014, genetests.org estimated that theneemore than 40,000 different genetic tests availiom over 650 laboratories. These
tests can identify a person's predisposition taréiqular disease (predictive testing), detect Wwhea person has a disease (diagnostic testing)
predict the potential effectiveness of a therapgirog (pharmacogenetic testing), or assess rigksefise progression (prognostic testing).
Based on UnitedHealth's estimates for the growth@fenetic testing and molecular diagnostics etaakd our assumption that genetic
testing's share of this market will be held constdmmpproximately 60% between 2010 and 2021, wee&bthe U.S. genetic testing market to
grow to at least $9 billion by 2021.

An example of this rapid growth is in threaof hereditary genetic testing for cancer. T most commonly tested genes for hereditary
risk of breast and ovarian cancer, BRCA1 and BRG#&¢ identified about two decades ago. Since thistovery, the market in the United
States for testing those two genes alone has grmewer $600 million per year. In addition, the dadaility of low cost DNA sequencing has
resulted in the discovery of multiple new genes thay cause hereditary forms of breast and ovaidaucer, resulting in a rapid shift in the
marketplace toward multi-gene panels. We belieagttie rapid growth of the genetic testing markethiereditary cancer and the rapid
evolution of multi-gene panels is evidence of théeptial for rapid market adoption of new genetimimation.

While adoption of genetic testing has bieeneasing for certain medical applications, themain a number of primary barriers limiting
broader adoption. The cost of genetic testing leas Iprohibitively high for broad market adoptiom arse in routine medical practice. Under
current pricing, payors generally restrict reimlamngnt of genetic testing to limited patient popolad that meet specific criteria. In a survey
UnitedHealth, approximately 78% of physicians idfeed cost of tests and reimbursement as a bawigrcorporating genetic tests in their
practice. We believe advances in DNA sequencirfgramation technology and capacity for analysis high-throughput data processing will
be key drivers for reducing the cost of genetititgsin the future.

Adoption of genetic testing also has beamstrained by an inefficient testing process watihgl turnaround times. The growing availability
of genetic tests that are specific to a singleatisehas created a serial retesting process—commegelyed to as a diagnostic odyssey—in
cases where initial tests return negative resultshere patients require testing for more than @oredition. The retesting process is costly and
time consuming, and it commonly fails to reach aatosive clinical diagnosis. The challenges withuential retesting are further exacerbated
by long and unpredictable turnaround times. Culyepatients and providers can wait more than atmtmreceive each
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genetic testing result, which limits clinical apalbility of genetic testing for patients who arenged of pressing follow-up treatment.

An example of this diagnostic odyssey &dlenetic testing process for Bardet-Biedl syndram®BS, a progressive multi-systemic
disorder that begins to manifest in early childhdadividuals with BBS can present with a variefyspmptoms including obesity, degenera
of the retina, extra fingers or toes, kidney dysfion and cognitive impairment. BBS is difficultdiexpensive to diagnose; patients have
historically undergone testing for each individgahe. With over 15 genes implicated in the herediiiésease, sequential testing of individual
genes, starting with the most common cause ofideade, could easily take up to a year and cost&h@000. With a multgene panel, we a
now able to evaluate the majority of BBS genesdingle test for a price of $1,500, while providirgports to physicians usually within three
weeks.

In addition, the market for genetic testsswonstrained by the existence of patent proteéiocertain naturally-occurring nucleic acids.
However, recent U.S. Supreme Court cases, includiag Collaborative Services v. Prometheus Laboratories, Inc. (2012) , have clarified that
naturally occurring DNA sequences are natural phrara which should not be patentable. These reesestave ushered in an era of broads
participation in the market for genetic testingveees.

Finally, we believe the limited number @gticists and genetic counselors has forced maysigians to navigate the complexities
associated with diagnosis and treatment of gedét@ase with insufficient expert assistance. Instimae survey by UnitedHealth cited above,
49% of physicians identified a lack of familiariith genetic tests as a barrier to greater adoptidheir practice. We believe the growth of
number of genetic tests available has exacerbhiggtoblem, and makes it more challenging for pigas to identify the appropriate tests
interpret their results. To help address theses)emd strategy is to make the process of ordegérngtic tests and understanding the results
easier, not only for patients and physicians, buttie broader universe of healthcare professionals

Our solution for genetic testing

We are focused on making comprehensivetigetesting more affordable and more accessible theer before, pursuing a large and
rapidly growing market with a focus on price andlity. We aim to do so for the majority of gendtsts, consolidating most of them into a
single offering at a price below the typical pricggnany single gene or multi-gene panels.

Our products today

We launched our first commercial offeringate November 2013, an assay of 216 genes camgpB$ different genetic disorders and 17
targeted panels, and began selling and marketinghaiti-gene panels with a focused effort on hdseglicancers, including breast, colon and
pancreatic cancer. We charge $1,500 per sample@h cases, which allows our clients to receiverestlts on any or all genes in a specific
indication or multi-gene panel. We also currentfigoa free re-requisition of additional data withhe same indication when ordered within
90 days of the date of service. In addition, ckemiy obtain test results on genes that are irr gtbieations or panels, or genes within the
same indication or panel more than 90 days afted#te of initial service, for an additional femplortantly, we are providing turnaround time
of less than three weeks for the substantial ntgjofiour tests. Since our initial launch, we havarketed additional panels addressing other
genetic conditions based on the same assay of @idsg

We have developed a value proposition ddllee Invitae Advantage,” which articulates pdroor competitive advantage as follows:
. More affordable than ever before. One price. Any test.
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. Faster time to answers. From sample to results in three weeks on average.

. Flexible test options. Design your own test or select a curated panel.

. Deeper genetic insights Choose multi-gene panels or order a free re-sitpn.

. Confidence and quality. Our team of genetic experts delivers high-quaést results.

Since our commercial launch, approxima&&96 of our orders have been for indications assediaith hereditary cancer. Our hereditary
cancer panel options include BRCA1 and BRCA2, &gk hereditary breast cancer panel of sevengenkereditary colon cancer panel of
14 genes, a hereditary pancreatic cancer panél géties, or a more comprehensive hereditary caaced of 29 cancer genes. Any one or
more cancer genes, up to the entire 29-gene pargpically available for $1,500. We are growingr @olume rapidly and, during 2014, we
delivered more than 3,600 billable tests. Salesuoftests have grown significantly in 2014 from 10280 tests in the first quarter of 2014 to
over 1,800 tests in the fourth quarter of 2014 clvhire believe is evidence that our value propasitcattractive to our clients. As the market
for our billable tests develops, we expect that petitors will release offerings with broader conttrat is clinically relevant to particular
patients. We thus expect our rate of growth invéeéd billable tests to slow in periods leadingapommercial releases of our expanding
platform, including the period in 2015 leading oghe first planned expansion of our current asd&1 6 genes. We estimate that the U.S.
market for hereditary cancer tests is greater $&&0 million per year and thus represents a kewtiropportunity for us. More broadly, it is
estimated that approximately 5-10% of all canceedikely to have a hereditary basis. Today onsubset of individuals are eligible for
BRCA1 and BRCAZ testing covered by third-party kieaisurance plans. However, clinical studies hestablished that a significant
percentage of individuals with breast cancer whaldmot have qualified for testing based on pramily history may test positive for BRCA1
and BRCA2 mutations. We believe that the markehfmeditary breast and ovarian cancer could coatiaexpand as lower-cost testing
becomes available, allowing healthcare systemsstiodrger populations more cost-effectively.

We plan to substantially increase our satesmarketing effort in oncology in 2015 as wsllexpand our sales efforts beyond cancer.
Since our initial commercialization, we have maekkadditional panels involved in multiple differgy@netic disorders, including cardiology,
hematology, neurology and pediatric panels. Fongpta in the field of neurology, we have recentlyrttd to market Charcot-Marie Tooth and
Spastic Paraplegia panels. Charcot-Marie TootiGMT, is one of the most common inherited neurolabgenetic disorders in the United
States and affects approximately 1 in 2,500 indiald. We include 29 genes in our CMT panel, praygdivhat we believe is one of the most
comprehensive offerings for CMT at one of the loimgces and one of the fastest turn-around tinmethe market.

In cardiology we have recently begun tepffanels for hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, long §fidrome, short QT syndrome and
Brugada syndrome. Long QT syndrome affects apprateiyp 1 in 2,500 individuals, resulting in signditt risk of developing an irregular
heartbeat and potential for sudden cardiac deathddition, the presence of long QT syndrome caulrén significant side effects to some
commonly prescribed drugs. Hypertrophic cardiomylopaor HCM, is the leading cause of sudden cardeath in people under 30 years old
and is believed to be prevalent in about 0.2% efpbpulation. HCM may not present with symptomslitntesults in sudden cardiac death.
Thus, lower cost of testing for multiple genes wwhi@use HCM could be useful for screening otherlesadthy individuals and their families
for a potentially lethal condition.

We also offer panels for pediatric condissuch as Noonan spectrum disorders and ciligsatNioonan syndrome is found in
approximately 1 in 2,000 individuals and resultsiinimerous congenital problems including congehiéart defects, short stature, learning
problems and impaired blood clotting. Ciliopathége a broad class of genetic diseases that incliséases such as BBS,
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Joubert syndrome, polycystic kidney disease andrsttiat involve a large number of genes and haee historically hard to diagnose in a
cost effective and timely manner.

The foregoing are just some of the inhdrgenetic conditions included in our current assa®16 genes. The table below lists disorders
that are covered by our 216 gene assay. Some gem@s/olved in more than one disorder and mangrdexs may be associated with multiple
genes. For a number of disorders in our currentlpare may provide some but not all of the genaswe believe are necessary to provide a
comprehensive genetic test. Nonetheless, the l@me pf our assay allows physicians to conduct &@ralirscreen for the genes which we do
cover at prices that we believe are attractivesweening purposes. For example, while we do nagrcall BBS genes, we do cover the
majority of the genes and at a price we beliewreghly attractive for such a test. When we belithat our gene coverage for a given disord:
broad enough to be considered comprehensive byasnaccepted medical practice, we classify iagsmnel. Within each gene, disorder and
panel there may also be certain technical limitegiof our assay for specific mutations or typesiatations that we appropriately identify for
ordering physicians and note in our clinical report
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Clients can order based on gene, disorder or panéh bold):

The Invitae Test Catalog
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Our genetic testing process

We have designed our service to be sinpledr clients to use. Our clients send a samplestand in turn receive a test report. Behind
this streamlined user experience, however, is histpated, highly automated infrastructure thathaee developed in order to scale in a cost
effective manner.

Starting from the client requisition andigat sample, through the report delivery, we havested heavily in tools and technologies at
each step in the process:

. Client portal, logistics and sample managemen

We have built an online, easy to use cgtald web portal to enable convenient online tedtring by healthcare providers. This web
portal can be entered directly or through one ofather client tools, for example the digital IragtFamily History Tool available online and as
an iPad application. Clients can use our web ptotplace orders, track progress of the client dartipough our system, contact client supy
download reports and order further tests. In agdidjtve are dedicated to providing the highest lefelient service, enhanced by technology
wherever possible. We plan to continue to investriline tools that can help support our clientstkffow and create a world class client
experience.

. Sample processing and sequencing:

We have developed a highly automated laborarocess for receiving and tracking samplefraeiing genomic DNA, isolating targeted
DNA sequences from each genome and sequencingrtietéd genes using state-of-the-art next genarBiA sequencing technology. In
addition, our fully integrated information and amtation systems enable us to track every step fearaiving and processing a sample to
delivery of a clinical report. The data generatgabr integrated sample processing infrastructlosvaus to reduce the labor required, incre
the amount of data used in our quality systemsraddce the raw costs of sequencing. We plan taragmto invest in this infrastructure to
enable further scaling in volume and in breadtthefcontent we offer.

. Bioinformatics pipeline:

We integrate standard and proprietary lidsmatics analyses in our workflow. This, combimveith our integrated sample processing
infrastructure, allows us to optimize our procedsevariant detection with clinical sensitivity duspecificity, especially for variant types that
are difficult to resolve with current technologi€ar example, we are able to offer certain typesoofiplex variant analysis without having to
run additional laboratory tests. Any pathogenidarais detected by our next generation DNA sequenaird analysis process are currently
confirmed in a second laboratory test before répgtb a physician.

. Clinical reporting:

We have invested significantly in sciemtifuration, bioinformatics, software infrastructared tools to build a knowledge base about
genetic conditions, genes and variants. This kndgdebase and the software toolkit, which we refeas our clinical report optimization
platform, or CROP, that delivers the informatiorote clinical team enables them to view relevafdrimation in a dashboard, which allows us
to provide high quality genetic interpretation et results to physicians and their patients. Eepbrt is typically reviewed by a Ph.D. scien
a genetic counselor and a licensed medical prafieskiVariants are classified in accordance withefinan College of Medical Genetics
guidelines as benign, likely benign, variants ofentain significance, likely pathogenic or pathdgelVe believe our investment in improved
tools for genetic interpretation of test resulsoahllows us to greatly increase the reportingughput while at the same time standardize the
variant identification and reporting process. Byvily investing in scalable software tools to exedhe sample-to-report process, we believe
that our clinical analysis costs will decline as experience grows, even while assay and paned gizecase.
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Analyzing genomes requires a major investment in $wvare and data analysis:
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One of our competitive advantages is thg iWwavhich we generate and deliver clinical repoat®ur clients. While our approach is
enabled by recent advances in next generation senpgetechnology, delivery of an individual, indysstandard, clinical report that matches
the clinical sensitivity and specificity of the v@uis tests being ordered requires us to addreamaer of challenges. In order to do so, we hav
invested in solving four key areas of complexity:

. Genetic complexity: Multiple genes and pathways can be implicategkimetic disorders, and overlapping networks of gene
and symptoms can make genetic diagnosis ever noonplicated for physicians to assess. Given thangity of scientific and
clinical research in the role of genes in diseasegss, the available information associating gentsclinically relevant
outcomes is rapidly evolving.

To address this complexity, we expect tatione to release new genetic content and proveddtiincare professionals with the flexibility
customize their orders by genes, disorders or rgeltie panels.

. Disparate, nor-standardized clinical information: Many of the clinicians and researchers in thiel fid genetics use
information taken from clinical research literatared multiple public databases in disparate repaeg hosted around the wot
However, many of the public databases are sulpesmtrors and inconsistencies, subjective outcongrigénations, unclear
condition boundaries and genes and variants witipieialiases. In addition, the physical mappiadHie genome or to the
appropriate transcript is in some cases incorrect.

With the goal of ensuring the quality ofdmmation we are using to annotate variants idexatiby our assay, we employ geneticists to
evaluate available literature and correct errofereancorporating the information in our knowledggse. We also contribute to public
understanding by publishing anonymized variantimfation from our tests in Clinvitae, a databaseliofcally-observed genetic
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variants aggregated from public sources that weadpe@nd make freely available, and Clinvar, alsindatabase operated by the National
Center for Biotechnology Information.

. Limitations of next generation sequencing to deterine complex variants: While recent advances in sequencing
technologies have been impressive, use of thebadtagies to consolidate testing for many gendsordlers requires additional
work when clinically important variants are compband less amenable to standard sequencing techeml@urrent next
generation sequencing technologies typically didddA into relatively short strands, or "reads," s@quencing in a highly
parallel manner. The process then uses softwaaesemble these short reads back into sequencespinetent one or more
genes. This process works very well when the vaiteuolves a change in one or more single basesoints, in the gene's
structure. It works less well when the variant ilves a more complex variation, such as a largetiose deletion or duplicatiot

One way to address this challenge is tcaudiéferent technology to identify these variamhile we take this approach on occasion, it
increases test costs and turnaround time, asutresgthe management of multiple processes, oftgnentially. In many cases the alternative
technologies are not easily scalable, which meaeg @re costly and labor intensive. As a consejeme have invested in integrated sample
preparation and software analysis processes tloat ak to identify certain of these variant typegg our next generation sequencing platforn
without having to resort to alternative technolsgi€his allows us to deliver high quality repottattidentify many of these complex variants a
reasonable cost and turnaround times.

. Clinical interpretation at scale: As sequencing costs decline and the amount diade raw DNA sequence data and genes
analyzed per individual sample grows, we expecttst to interpret the data to increase. Unlesseaddd systematically,
analysis and interpretation of the sheer volumBNA sequence information available for each patiifitrequire increasing
amounts of medical professionals' time.

We have invested significantly in sciewrtiéuration, bioinformatics and software infrastuwetand tools to build a knowledge base about
genetic conditions, genes and variants. This kndgdebase and the software toolkit that deliversrif@mation to our clinical team enables
them to view relevant information in a dashboarbiclv allows us to provide high quality genetic mptetation of test results to physicians and
their patients. We can thus significantly incretimereporting throughput while at the same timadaadizing the variant identification and
reporting process, which allows us to deliver apdéneasy to interpret, clinical report to the ondg physician.
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We have developed a standardized clinical report fcclients' ease of use:

Tout Raaticmtion Prowicaa Reushs
Dhiarlie cancer and et Lanoes lamdy hnsery

Ttk Pavbowrred  Hoeedetniy e qardtimes
Sogmbecs analrin and deetondupleaton bertg ot Fbed n e table below

Summary

Pasitive

CEnscal Sairmniary
. A Pathogenic sequence change, ¢.68_6%dalAG (Frameshift), was identified in BRCAT,
. Thie BRCA] gene is assockated with autosomal deminant hereditary breast and ovarian cancer
{HBOL) syndrome (MedGen LID: 151793),

Trpasity Vit (liniification
B This Pathogenic sequence change is consistent with a diagnosis of HBOC. Thete regults shauld be 1
|n1lrpr‘er¢d within the context of additional laboratory results, 'I':mif:,.- his:m‘( and clinical findi ngs hetereryge PATHCCENAD
. The |ifetime risk for fernabe breast cancer in individuals with a pathogenic BRCA) sequence change is -dﬂ.gt,uﬂgll'dup‘ jeatbontl
S0=R00 {PRAED: 126575538, 17168771, 16484695). The risk for contralateral breast cancer in thess SCOMEND, MET ML'HI MS:H? ASHE,

individuals s 43% within tan years of the initial breast cancer diagnosis (PMID: 15197194), The MAD4, ST, P53, Vh
lifetirne risk for male breast cancer in indlviduals with a pathogenic BRCA] sequence change is 1.2% iges onky:
{PMID; 18042939), Lifetime risk for ovarian cancer in individuals with a pathogenic BRCA] sequence
change is 24-40% (PMID: 1 2677558, 17148771, 16484695). Clinical management guldelines for d
HEOC can be found at wwe.niccn.org. i
- Close relatives [children, siblings, and each parent) have up to a 50% chance of being a carrier of this

Pathogenic variant. Mare distant relatives may also be carriers. Site-specific testing for this variant Is
available.

Cenetic counseling is u:umm:nde-d to discuss the implications of this result. For a listing of genetic | premature transiational stop signal

at'codan 39t is edpected 16 result Tn an abient or disrapted pratéin product.

. This pathogenic sequence change is a known comman cause of breast and ovarian cancer in the Ashkenazi
Jewish population (PMID: 9042905, 22430266},

. This sequence change has been associated with a 64% to 83% risk of breast cancer by age 70, and o 14% to
585 risk of ovarian cancer by age 70 (PMID: 15994883, 224 10268),

. This sequence change is also known as 185delAG or 187delAG in the literature.

To build the infrastructure that enablesaupursue consolidation of the rapidly growinglidbmarket for genetic testing will require
significant research and development resourcesré&3earch and development expenses were $22.bm#iiL6.0 million and $5.6 million in
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Commercializing our genetic tests

We have developed an offering that enabdedthcare professionals to customize a test,vecapid test results and pay a single price at
requisition. Currently, we also offer a free reuisifion for the same indication within 90 daystloé date of service. We believe that our
investments in our research and development toletaler prices, the value propositions associatithl our service offering and our
commercial approach will allow us to acceleratekaadoption of our genetic tests.

Currently, we primarily target genetic ceators and geneticists, who we believe are eadpteds and can influence broader clinical
acceptance of new diagnostics, including multi-geaeels. We intend to expand our reach to incluamlogists, neurologists, cardiologists
and other healthcare professionals as we expandffauing and our commercial organization.

In order to reach current and future pagditients, our strategy is designed to expandwand awareness, increase the availability of
genetic content, increase traffic to our websigdivér an excellent user experience and attrachpes. By offering a compelling value
proposition and a comprehensive menu of genetiteobdat competitive prices, we seek to increasatimber of clients that order a test, to
encourage repeat orders and to extend client retent

12




Table of Contents
We employ a variety of commercial stratedeachieve these goals:

. Our model incorporates a smaller sales force tharsitypical for other diagnostic companies. Because we are aggregating
large numbers of genetic tests into a single senaar offering will in most cases replace an éxgstest already offered by a
third party. Where our test is replacing an exgtiest already offered by a third party, clinictlity of the tests that our service
might replace is generally well established an&ptad in medical practice, thus requiring a tajstdes force that manages
relationships with our clients with the supporioir in-house client services team.

. We are building a sophisticated client services tea. We strive to deliver an enhanced customer expegi@and have hired a
team with deep clinical and scientific expertissigeed to ensure our clients receive quality infation. To supplement our
client services team, we provide our clients actesair lab directors and genetic counselors fppsut as needed. We believe
that this approach will allow us to maintain existiclient relationships, allowing our sales foraddcus on generating new
accounts and extending the reach within existiropants.

. Payors may emerge as a sales chann Given our commitment to making genetic informatas affordable and accessible as
possible, we see price as a competitive advantedeve expect will be particularly appealing to pasyseeking to control
healthcare costs. We believe that—with equal aeb&trnaround time and quality—payors will be sopipe of our products
and encourage their coverage universe to utilieeithiVe have recently begun to implement a reimiouese strategy and plan
to focus on establishing broad coverage for thg tlenm.

. We use innovative sales solution We have built an advanced web portal for heatthpaofessionals and their patients to
enhance and streamline their user experience, wiichelieve will encourage them to become loyardb of Invitae. We are
also committed to utilizing innovative technologydomplement our sales and marketing effort andaedhe overall cost of
client acquisition. For example, our Invitae Fantfistory Tool is a family history collection tooVailable in the Apple app
store, which enables genetic counselors to quiakty easily build, modify, share and save theirgoasi family histories. This
tool also helps drive awareness of Invitae andshedgdacilitate online ordering. We plan to congrto build innovative sales
solutions capitalizing on the expertise of our astee team of software developers.

. We employ an integrated marketing approach Our marketing strategy is focused on driving dwpand educating
healthcare professionals on the value of multi-geaneel testing for hereditary cancers, cardiac itimms$ and other genetic
diseases. We work closely with national and redipaient advocacy groups and medical professisoeiketies to promote the
awareness and benefits of genetic testing. Our etiackactivities include presenting at medical evafces and scientific
meetings, advertising on leading websites and atteslia, contributing to social media, conductinglfurelations campaigns,
developing business alliances and partnershipsposoring continuing medical education.

Internationally, we are securing distribatiarrangements in select territories to drive awass and adoption. We currently have
distribution agreements in Brazil, Israel, Mexicwlather geographies and will work with our pargier develop our go-to market strategy anc
to create brand awareness, lead generation amd eligagement activities in those markets. We thtercontinue to build this network to
increase our global presence and to make affordpdietic testing available to patients around thddy

Increased sales and marketing efforts neareQquired to compete with competitors who are nestablished in the market and have large
direct sales forces than we do. To this end, we mdurther staff in this area to expand our reiatt new markets, develop educational
information for patients, and engage with our taayedience.
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The goal of our integrated, global saled marketing approach is to develop and build migtghannels that drive adoption and growth,
enabling us to bring low cost genetic testing imotine medical practice to improve the qualityheilthcare for billions of people.

Securing reimbursement

By focusing on affordability, comprehensgenetic content, flexible ordering and quality, designed our service offering to provide
benefits to payors. Because we are aggregating largibers of genetic tests into a single servigenear-term offering will in most cases
replace an existing test already offered by a tharty. Where our test is replacing an existing adgady offered by a third party, the clinical
utility of the tests that our service might replasgenerally well established and accepted in oadliractice.

We receive payment for our services fromé¢hcategories of payors: patients, institutiorssthird-party payors. Given the relatively low
cost of our test, a small but consistent percentd@atients whose physicians order our tests ébepay for the tests themselves. Institutions,
which are typically hospitals or foreign healthcpreviders, account for a meaningful percentagauoftest orders. We bill these organizations
for our services, and they are responsible formgatfiose bills and seeking reimbursement wherdagtyé. In the case of third party
distributors, we may discount our price in exchafagenarketing and sales services provided by thidutor in the geographic market where
it operates.

Third-party payors are responsible for pgyfior the largest percentage of tests we del@arrently, these third-party payors consist
exclusively of private health insurers. We beliéivat establishing coverage from the Centers foribdéad and Medicaid Services, or CMS, is
an important factor in gaining adoption by healtegaroviders, and we have been accepted as a Medioavider. Further, we have entered
into reimbursement contracts with Blue Shield ofiféenia and SelectHealth.

Third-party payors, including private instg and CMS, require us to identify the test forolitwe are seeking reimbursement using a
Current Procedural Terminology, or CPT, code sehtaged by the American Medical Association, or AMVhere we offer a multi-gene
panel and there is no CPT code for the full pam&t the panel includes a gene for which the AMA &lagstablished CPT code, we identify the
test provided under that CPT code when billingialtharty payor for that test. In cases where tlier®t a specific CPT code, our test may be
billed under a miscellaneous code for an unlisteteoular pathology procedure. Because this mistetlas code does not describe a specific
service, the insurance claim must be examinedtieraéne what service was provided, whether theisemas appropriate and medically
necessary, and whether payment should be rendBnedmay require a letter of medical necessity ftbmordering physician and it may result
in a delay in processing the claim, a lower reinsbarent amount or denial of the claim. Given thengirey CPT coding environment, our
practices regarding billing may change over time.

Additionally, we are targeting Innovatioe@ers within select payor organizations to estalgilot programs in order to demonstrate the
utility of multi-gene panels. One such programnslerway with a major U.S. healthcare provider. lge have an agreement with MultiPlan, a
large PPO Network, which provides for adjudicatiomd payment of claims for tests we deliver to mensibétheir network in cases where we
have not yet contracted with the payors in whosepthe test patients are members.

Supporting clinical data

We do not typically develop new biomarkieus rather aggregate already known genetic tesisour genetic testing platform. However,
generating supporting clinical data is a priority fis as we seek to expand the gene content apti@uof our panels and provide supporting
information to
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healthcare professionals. We conduct clinical ssitth confirm the analytical validity and, when agiate, clinical utility of our genetic
testing platform. These data are used in marketiatgrials, whitepapers, scientific presentatiorts faublications as appropriate.

Some panels we offer interrogate known gehat may be used in a novel clinical contextgfcample, the testing of genes that are kr
to cause certain cancers but have not been repartgtler types of cancer. In these cases additmimécal utility data may influence both
adoption and reimbursement. We thus also partieipastudies to examine issues such as prevaldmgmnetic findings in different clinical
populations and clinical actionability of thesediimgs. We have developed research collaboratiotiskely opinion leaders and leading
academic medical centers with patient-care exgeatisl the appropriate patient populations for cdihstudies.

In April 2014, a team of researchers frai@mn®rd University and Invitae published the iditiasults of such a collaboration in thaurnal
of Clinical Oncology . The study utilized a panel of 42 cancer risk geseected for clinical and research relevancevikad tested by us on
bio-banked germline DNA from 198 women who had bexterred for hereditary breast and ovarian catesting to the Stanford University
Medical Center. These individuals had been preWoested for BRCA1 and BRCA2 by an independentitatory. Of the patients who
participated in this study, 174 had breast canedrs¥ carried pathogenic germline variants in BR@Afl BRCA2. The study found that
BRCA1 and BRCAZ results from our panel were higtdycordant with prior BRCA testing results on theskviduals. Among the 141
BRCA-negative women, our panel identified additiomsk variants in the MLH1, CDH1, NBN, ATM, MUTYHCDKNZ2A, SLX4, BLM and
PRSS1 genes. Based on the identification of ndwwasiants in genes beyond BRCA1 and BRCA2, Statdarlinical staff determined that
about 10% of participants warranted re-contactadditional counseling based on this new informat&tanford provided personalized
recommendations for additional screening and gtbé&ntial changes in care were provided as ap@@piThe Stanford team found that this
counseling was both feasible and was appreciatalebgatients.

One of the patients described above ismavowho had been diagnosed with unilateral bresaster in her mid-30s. At the time of her
original diagnosis, the patient received a negdBR€A1 and BRCAZ2 test report from an independenbiatory, and consented to have her
DNA banked. In this study, the patient was fountidee a pathogenic variation in the gene MLH1 aased with Lynch syndrome. Following
Institutional Review Board-approved protocol, ttaient was re-contacted and the MLH1 results inddpetly confirmed and communicated
to her. In the time between the BRCA1 and BRCA2 gege panel tests, the patient had been diagnasie@éndometrial cancer. Following
communication of her MLH1 status, she underwerganty colonoscopy and a polyp was found and removkds, the tubular adenoma was
caught years earlier than if no broad genetichtadtbeen performed.

More recently, our scientists collaboratéth two medical centers to test 600 patients iattid for BRCAL1 and BRCA2 testing under
National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelinesheof these patients had also previously recedBRGAL and BRCAZ test results fro
another, well-established laboratory employingitradal diagnostic techniques. Our test detectéBRICAL and BRCA2 mutations that had
been previously detected and independently confirribis list includes sequence variants of vangizgs and complexities, as well as
deletions and duplications. All pathogenic variadggected by our assay were confirmed in the referelata. We observed 99.8% agreement
between our clinical interpretations of pathogeridgants and those reported by the other lab. f®@stbset of patients in the study who had
full sequence data for both BRCA1 and BRCAZ fronthbdavitae and from the reference lab, we repoaedriant of uncertain significance, or
VUS, in 6% of the patients, while 4% of the pat&ehad a VUS from the other lab. For this counteweluded patients who received limited
testing (e.g., an Ashkenazi mutation panel or sigifie testing) as such tests can never produdgSand artificially reduce VUS rates. We
believe that sharing data on clinically-interpreggshetic variants benefits the medical and scierddmmunities by making
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knowledge more accessible, reducing VUS ratesgaatlling independent verification of genetic tesutts. We are committed to sharing our

clinically-interpreted variants along with the sopiing evidence. This study has been expandeddo @30 patients and we expect the full
study results to be available in 2015.

Clinical data from our various research dadelopment efforts have been accepted for praentat major conferences, including those
sponsored by the Association for Molecular Pathgldige American College of Medical Genetics and @wgias, the American Society of
Clinical Oncology, the American Society of Humann@tics, and the National Society of Genetic CowrselAdditional data have been
submitted for publication and new studies in comatary clinical areas are in process.

Expanding genetic testing content

Aggregating multiple genetic tests into éest menu and one laboratory and medical inteapogt process provides economies of scale
and greater efficiency. We are focused on deligeawide variety of genetic content through our &ickrtified laboratory, and plan to release
an increasing menu of content over time. By praxgdarge numbers of different but related testshsas multiple genes associated with a
broad genetic condition like hereditary cancerandmvascular disorders, we provide physicians wfithice and flexibility in ordering tests for
individual genes, panels of genes or custom seggmdés at the physician's discretion. In additignadding genes relevant to new diseases, w
are able to expand our offering to address new etsufor genetic testing services.

In the first quarter of 2015, we introdu@esdubstantial improvement to our genetic testlatfgrm which allows us to sequence certain
genes with features that are more difficult to gpaland to include additional genes in our offerimgaddition, we plan to introduce in the
second half of 2015 an expansion of our currergrof§ to over 500 genes. This expanded offeringldvdauble the amount of genetic content
we are able to provide at a fixed cost, which wdulther drive down the cost per reportable gene.

We expect to expand the amount of genetarination we provide over time to include all bétclinically-indicated genes currently
known—more than 4,000 according to genetests.@ugg-eventually the whole genome. The long listisbidlers for which clinicians current
order these tests highlights the opportunity atharaggregating the "long tail" of genetic tests.

We plan to steadily increase the release of genetiontent while driving down the cost per gene:

Our offering today Mew penes & panel 4,000+ genes

panel ~2,000 genes

~1.000 genes
~500 genes
216 genes

We are developing an integrated portfofitaboratory processes, software tools and infoiceatapabilities that allow us to process DNA
containing samples, analyze information about papecific genetic variation and generate testmsfor physicians and their patients. In
addition, we are optimizing web technologies fdicégnt and productive interactions with physiciam patients using our service. We are
investing heavily in systems that we believe wiiba us to deliver individual clinical reports fphysicians and patients from an expanding
menu of content at increasing speed while decrgasiats per reportable gene over time.
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The evolution of our business

We believe there is a substantial oppotyuioir genetic tests and information to be aggred@nd then ultimately captured in
comprehensive genome management services. Weanthsit this shift will enable the medical commund use genetic information on an
ongoing basis, as part of mainstream medical mectd improve patient care.

Genome management

We are building a genome data managemémasinucture to provide clients, including patieatsl healthcare professionals, with an
ongoing resource for pertinent genetic informatieer the course of disease or life of a patienthinfuture we plan to work with healthcare
providers to establish a system where this geirdgticmation is linked at the point of care for appriate use as needs arise.

The decreasing cost of DNA sequencingléahg us to provide an increasing amount of geniefiormation at a decreasing price per
gene and thus aggregate an expanding number of ggoea single service. As a result, our labosafwocess captures more genetic
information than the physician may initially reque3nly those genes that are requisitioned by tbering physician are analyzed by our
medical team and reported to the ordering physiarahpatient. The additional information is stoeéettronically on behalf of the patient
should their physician request any of it in thaufat Currently, we allow raequisition of data for additional genes withie tame indication
no additional charge within 90 days of the dateeasice.

As the amount of information available éach patient expands, we plan to initiate a genmargagement program to provide patients an
their healthcare providers with access to thattamdil information to answer healthcare questiaithay arise. We expect to make additional
genetic content accessible to physicians and pfagients along with educational materials on thed@mns, genes and variants. Because the
raw DNA sequence information has already been ddrxom our laboratory processes, the cost of delig an additional clinical report will
involve only information management and clinicakipretation, and as a consequence will be sigmiflg lower than running a new test.

Ultimately, we believe we can significanittyprove patient care by offering comprehensiveegiertesting, where reports for large
numbers of genetic conditions can be availableffulitional charges over the lifetime of a pati€ar example, a patient whose whole genome
has been sequenced could have that informatiordiné an electronic medical records system or alkglvia Invitae systems for a variety of
applications. Using this information, we may beeatol provide a surgical team with genetic informiatabout a patient's predisposition to
complications associated with anesthesia, postatipermedication and bleeding or clotting. We mksp de able to provide prospective
parents with carrier testing for possible genetioditions. As another example, in the case of patiandergoing chemotherapy we may be
to provide the treating clinicians with informatiabout other genetic conditions that might resuttomplications during treatment.

The genome network

As our genetic testing and genome manageaffarings grow in scale, we intend to continuanteest in informatics solutions that enable
sharing of genetic information to improve healtlecand clinical outcomes. Participants in our genaetevork may include patients, family
members, healthcare professionals, payors, indpstrfgssionals, researchers and clinical trial spos

For example, patients will be able to shiafermation regarding their health and test ressulith family members and future generation
help them understand their own health, enablingetaxd testing and potentially reducing common haafiues. Parents of children with the
same rare genetic conditions can come into comtiisteach other to compare treatment options, déure choices, and provide emotional
support. Physicians could access easily navigatabeses that show the latest
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scientific data, including variants, and conneenthwith other physicians to discuss diagnoses rmadnhent options for similar patients.
Patients could donate their genetic informatiothtoresearch community. Pharmaceutical companigsseek to identify individuals with a
particular genetic profile and medical history #rticipate in clinical trials of new treatmentstiPats may be interested in accessing marketin
information on healthcare products appropriateteir healthcare needs.

The first application of our network stiggds our Invitae Family History Tool, which is alable as a free web or iPad application. This
application enables users to quickly and easilydbunodify, share and save relevant family genatid health history information. All data is
stored in a HIPAA-compliant cloud computing envinoent. A second part of our network strategy is ¥lae, a web property that allows
physicians or patients to look up individual geard variants in order to find out additional gen@iformation. In the future, we plan to add
functionality to allow patients and physicians base more information about their variants and eshmwith other patients or physicians who
might be able to contribute additional informatibiat could affect their health and wellness.

We do not believe that the genome netwdhkoantribute to our financial results for seveyalars. The success of any network offering
will depend on our ability to achieve scale in genetic testing and genome management businedsesu€cess of the genome network will
also require that we deliver infrastructure to dedbe market for the permission-based sharingeabgiic data in a way that is consistent with
our core principles regarding patients' ownershig @ontrol of their data.

Our strategy

Our strategy for long-term growth is focdism five key drivers of our business, which wadna cumulate to create a flywheel effect:

m{\)

Attract Improve
P customer
P k\ experience
\ Drive /
traffic
. Lower the cost and price of genetic information. Our goal is to provide clients with a broad mefigenetic content at a

reasonable price and rapid turn-around time inrai@lgrow volume and further achieve economiesafes As we do so and
experience further cost savings, we expect thaetlvost savings will allow us to deliver more coefygmsive information at
decreasing prices per gene.

. Expand our genetic testing content As we reduce our costs, we intend to continuexpmnd our test menus by steadily

releasing additional genetic content for the samewser prices per test, ultimately leading to affable whole genome services.
The breadth and flexibility of our offering is imged to contribute to an improved user experience.
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. Create a unique user experience.A state-of-the-art interactive platform will emfee our service offering, leverage the
uniquely empowering characteristics of online shguaf genetic information and, we believe, enabdeigerior economic
offering to clients. We intend to continue to expeubstantial efforts developing, acquiring andlenpenting technologgriven
enhancements to our web properties and transaptmressing systems. We believe that an enhance@xserience and the
resulting benefits to our brand and reputation héllp draw clients to us.

. Drive traffic. We intend to increase our brand equity and \igflthrough excellent service and a variety of keding and
promotional techniques, including scientific publion and presentation, sales, marketing, publatioms, social media and w
technology vehicles. We expect that increaseditrédfour website and eventual increases in thamel of tests ordered will
help us to attract partners and increase our reenu

. Attract partners. As we release additional genetic content andcitmore clients, we believe our business becomes
particularly attractive to potential partners thah help the patients in our network further barfedim their genetic information
or that provide us access to new clients who mapwo join our network. The cumulative effect of ihcreased volume broug
by all of these strategic components will allowtasower the cost of our service.

We seek to differentiate our service interket by establishing an exceptional client eignee. To that end, we believe that elevating
needs of the client over those of our other staklne is essential to our success. Thus, in ousid@emaking processes, we will strive to
prioritize, in order: (1) the needs of our clien®) motivating our employees to serve our clieaty] (3) our long-term stockholder value. We
believe that focusing on clients as our top proréther than short-term financial goals is thet bpesy to build and operate an organization for
maximum long-term value creation.

Competition

Our competitors include companies thatrafiielecular genetic testing services, includingcgdey and reference laboratories that offer
traditional single and multjene tests. Principal competitors include compasies as Myriad Genetics, Ambry Genetics, GeneBxybsidiar
of Bio-Reference Laboratories, Laboratory Corparatf America and Quest Diagnostics, as well asratbmmercial and academic labs. In
addition to the companies that currently offer itiadal genetic testing services and research cgnd¢her established and emerging healthcar
information technology and service companies magroercialize competitive products including informat analysis, integrated genetic tools
and services for health and wellness.

We believe the principal competitive fastar our market are:

. price and quality of tests;

. turnaround time of testing results;

. coverage and reimbursement arrangements with gairty- payors;
. breadth and depth of content;

. convenience of testing;

. brand recognition of test provider;

. additional value-added services and informatiods;

. accessibility of results;

. client service;

19




Table of Contents

. quality of website content; and
. reliability.

We believe that we compare favorably witlhh competitors on the basis of these factors. Hanewany of our competitors and potential
competitors have longer operating histories, laoystomer bases, greater brand recognition andenpénetration, substantially greater
financial, technological and research and developmesources and selling and marketing capabilittese experience dealing with thipddty
payors. As a result, they may be able to respone muaickly to changes in customer requirementsotiegreater resources to the developn
promotion and sale of their tests than we do, bitiseir tests at prices designed to win significkvels of market share. We may not be able t
compete effectively against these organizations.

Near-term plan of operation

From the date of this Report through June2B15, we plan to primarily focus on increasidggtion of, and reimbursement for, our assa
of 216 genes, expanding our commercial operatiodsaaglvancing our assay of over 500 genes fromcainialidation into commercial
availability in 2015, working on future generatiasfsour assays to support continued expansion ofjenetic content, and continuing to
automate our laboratory and medical interpretgpiatesses. We anticipate that we will invest hgamilour business through June 30, 2015 ir
connection with the implementation of our strategy.

Specifically, we expect our research ancetipment expenses will increase as we investweldeing additional assays, software anal
pipelines, report optimization systems for intetimg and reporting test results, and digital tdolsuse by clinicians and their patients. We alsc
expect our selling and marketing expenses willease as we hire additional sales, marketing arntdrmes service personnel, further develop
our web infrastructure and undertake additionalketamg efforts through appearances at conferemmgsradeshows in order to promote Inv
and to educate clinicians about our assay. Additlgnwe expect that our general and administragdeenses will increase as we incur
additional expenses necessary to comply with oligatiions as a publicly-traded company and expandddling and client services functions
to support anticipated increased demand for ots.tée believe that the estimated net proceeds @naninitial public offering, together with
our existing cash and cash equivalents, will bégant to meet our anticipated cash requirementtsf least the next 12 months, and as such,
we do not expect it will be necessary to raise timttil capital during that period.

We believe that we will require additiohetboratory capacity in 2016 in order to meet therantly-anticipated demand for our assays, an
we expect to incur approximately $7.5 million irp¢tal expenditures through June 30, 2015 to oatfitnew laboratory and acquire laboratory
equipment and computer systems necessary for tiogpated growth of our business. We anticipate tawill also lease additional office
space in locations where we believe there is a pbiallent with the skills we need in order to done to expand our business. We also plan tc
continue hiring employees to support the anticipage@wth in our business, including in productiselling and marketing, research and
development, and general and administrative funsti6from December 31, 2014 through June 30, 20&®xpect to increase our headcount
by approximately 30 to 40 full-time employees peader.

Our expectations with respect to our neamtoperating plan and ability to effectively extecan this plan are subject to a number of
factors and risks, and many of which are outsideunfcontrol. If one or more of these events weredcur, it may be necessary for us to shift
our priorities and our plans, abandon or delayarmore of our planned activities, or otherwiseuatlpur proposed near- and long-term
business plans. Please see "ltem 1A.—Risk Faclors!' discussion of some of these risks and evant$their potential effects on our
business.
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Regulation
Reimbursemen

In September 2014, the American Medicalosggion published new CPT codes for genomic segjngmprocedures that will be effective
for dates of service on or after January 1, 201®s€ include genomic sequencing procedure codgafals, including hereditary colon car
syndromes, targeted genomic sequence analysissganeaiolid organ neoplasms, targeted genomic seguanalysis panels for
hematolymphoid neoplasm or disorders, whole exomadyaes, and whole genome analyses. In a finatrd@tation under the Medicare
Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule, or CLFS, publisleNovember 2014, CMS set the payment rate fesetcodes by the gap-fill process.
Under the gap-fill process, local Medicare Admirasive Contractors, or MACs, would establish rate8015 considering laboratory charges
and discounts to charges, resources, amounts paithber payors for the tests, and amounts paith&yMAC for similar tests. Based upon the
local gap-filled rates established in 2015, a matidimitation amount for Medicare will be estabksl for 2016. The national limitation amount
serves as a cap on the Medicare and Medicaid paynates for a test procedure. If we are requiregpmrt our tests under these codes, there
can be no guarantees that Medicare (or its cooigctvill set adequate reimbursement rates foretimesv codes.

In April 2014, Congress passed the Pratgchiccess to Medicare Act of 2014, or PAMA, whidkluded substantial changes to the we
which clinical laboratory services will be paid emdedicare. Under PAMA, laboratories that recehe majority of their Medicare revenue
from payments made under the CLFS or the Physk&gmnSchedule would report, beginning in 2016, hed every three years thereafter (or
annually for "advanced diagnostic laboratory tgstativate payor payment rates and volumes forr tiests. An advanced diagnostic laboratory
test is a clinical diagnostic laboratory test ceeeunder Medicare that is offered and furnisheg bgla single laboratory and not sold for use
by a laboratory other than the original develodatgpratory (or a successor owner) and meets otteedbllowing criteria: (1) the test is an
analysis of multiple biomarkers of DNA, RNA, or pems combined with a unique algorithm to yieldragke patient-specific result; (2) the test
is cleared or approved by the Food and Drug Adriratisn; or (3) the test meets other similar créterstablished by the Secretary of Health
and Human Services (no criteria have been est&dlibly the Secretary as of December 2014). We dbei@ve that our tests meet the current
definition of advanced diagnostic laboratory teats] therefore believe we will be required to répoivate payor rates for our tests on an e’
three years basis. CMS will use the rates and veduraported by laboratories to develop Medicarareay rates for the tests equal to the
volume-weighted median of the private payor paynetgs for the tests. Laboratories that fail toorethe required payment information may
be subject to substantial civil money penalties.

For tests furnished on or after Januard0l,7, Medicare payments for clinical diagnosticlabory tests will be paid based upon these
reported private payor rates. For clinical diagiwdsiboratory tests that are assigned a new orntantislly revised code, initial payment rates
clinical diagnostic laboratory tests that are ritemced diagnostic laboratory tests will be assignethe cross-walk or gap-fill methodology,
as under prior law. Initial payment rates for naelvanced diagnostic laboratory tests will be basethe actual list charge for the laboratory
test.

The payment rates calculated under PAMA Ivéleffective starting January 1, 2017. Any redurs to payment rates resulting from the
new methodology are limited to 10% per test per yeaach of the years 2017 through 2019 and to fiéftest per year in each of 2020
through 2022.

PAMA codified Medicare coverage rules fabdratory tests by requiring any local coveragemeination to be made following the local
coverage determination process. PAMA also authei@dS to consolidate coverage policies for clinlehloratory tests among one to four
laboratoryspecific MACs. These same contractors may alscelsegdated to process claims if CMS determinesdhelt a model is approprie
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Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 198&, CLIA

Our clinical reference laboratory in Caltif@ is required to hold certain federal certifessto conduct our business. Under CLIA, we are
required to hold a certificate applicable to theetyf laboratory examinations we perform and to glgrwith standards covering personnel,
facilities administration, inspections, quality ¢amh, quality assurance and proficiency testing.

We have a current certificate under CLIA&form testing at our laboratory location in F@ancisco. To renew our CLIA certificate, we
are subject to survey and inspection every twos/gmassess compliance with program standards.dvereCLIA inspectors may make
random inspections of our clinical reference labmain California. The regulatory and compliantenglards applicable to the testing we
perform may change over time, and any such chacméd have a material effect on our business.

If our clinical reference laboratory is aftcompliance with CLIA requirements, we may bbjsat to sanctions such as suspension,
limitation or revocation of our CLIA certificatesavell as directed plan of correction, state oa-sibnitoring, civil money penalties, civil
injunctive suit or criminal penalties. We must ntain CLIA compliance and certification to be eliglio bill for diagnostic services provided
to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries. If we wierde found out of compliance with CLIA requirem&ahd subjected to sanction, our
business could be harmed.

State laboratory testin

We are required to maintain a license todeet testing in California. California laws esiablstandards for day-to-day operations of our
laboratory in San Francisco. California laws maagabficiency testing, which involves testing oésjmens that have been specifically
prepared for the laboratory. If our clinical refece laboratory is out of compliance with Califorsiandards, the California Department of
Health Services, or DHS, may suspend, restricewoke our license to operate our clinical referdaberatory, assess substantial civil money
penalties, or impose specific corrective actiomplaAny such actions could materially affect ousihass. We maintain a current license in
good standing with DHS. However, we cannot prodsurance that DHS will at all times in the futfine us to be in compliance with all st
laws.

Several states require the licensure obbstate laboratories that accept specimens flasd states. For example, New York requires a
laboratory to hold a permit which is issued afteioa-site inspection and approval of testing methagly, and has various requirements over
and above CLIA and CAP, including those for per@mualifications, proficiency testing, physicatiléy, equipment, and quality control
standards. Our laboratory holds the required liesrisr Florida, Maryland, Pennsylvania and Rhotints

Our clinical reference laboratory in Caitif@ is required to be licensed on a test-spebigis by New York State as an out of state
laboratory and our products, as LDTs, must be agutdy the New York State Department of HealtiN¥DOH, before they are performed
on samples from New York. Once approved, we woldd be subject to periodic inspection by the NYD@&t required to demonstrate
ongoing compliance with NYDOH regulations and stadd. Because our laboratory is not licensed by Mewk, we are currently prohibited
from testing samples from New York.

Other states may adopt similar licensugeiirements in the future, which may require us taify, delay or stop our operations in such
jurisdictions. Complying with licensure requirem&int new jurisdictions may be expensive, i-consuming, and subject us to significant and
unanticipated delays. If we identify any other staith such requirements, or if we are contactedryother state advising us of such
requirements, we intend to follow instructions fréme state regulators as to how we should complly stich requirements.
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We may also be subject to regulation irifgm jurisdictions as we seek to expand internatiatilization of our tests or such jurisdictions
adopt new licensure requirements, which may reqewvi&w of our tests in order to offer them or naye other limitations such as restrictions
on the transport of human blood necessary for petform our tests that may limit our ability to kesour tests available outside of the United
States.

U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA

We provide our tests as laboratory-devaldpsts, or LDTs. CMS and certain state agenciggate the performance of LDTs (as
authorized by CLIA and state law, respectively).

Historically, the FDA, has exercised enfanent discretion with respect to most LDTs andrtwsequired laboratories that furnish LDTs
to comply with the agency's requirements for mddieaices (e.g., establishment registration, deliftimg, quality systems regulations,
premarket clearance or premarket approval, and pwatket controls). In recent years, however, thé has stated it intends to end its policy
of general enforcement discretion and regulateatettDTs as medical devices. To this end, on Oat8p2014, the FDA issued two draft
guidance documents, entitled "Framework for Reguja®versight of Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTa)t "FDA Notification and
Medical Device Reporting for Laboratory Developessts (LDTS)", respectively, that set forth a praabesk-based regulatory framework that
would apply varying levels of FDA oversight to LDTEhe FDA has indicated that it does not intenthtaify its policy of enforcement
discretion until the draft guidance documents aralized. It is unclear at this time when, or Fetdraft guidance documents will be finalized,
and even then, the new regulatory requirementpraqgosed to be phased-in consistent with the sdbet forth in the guidance (in as little as
12 months after the draft guidance is finalizeddertain high-priority LDTs). Nevertheless, the FD#ay decide to regulate certain LDTs on a
case-by-case basis at any time.

Legislative proposals addressing the FId&&rsight of LDTs have been introduced in previGoesigresses, and we expect that new
legislative proposals will be introduced from tinmetime. The likelihood that Congress will passtsiegislation and the extent to which such
legislation may affect the FDA's plans to regulzetain LDTs as medical devices is difficult to gt at this time.

If the FDA ultimately regulates certain LB@as medical devices, whether via final guidanoe] fegulation, or as instructed by Congress
our tests may be subject to certain additional letgry requirements. Complying with the FDA's reguients for medical devices can be
expensive, timesonsuming, and subject us to significant or ungmdied delays. Insofar as we may be required taiolpremarket clearance
approval to perform or continue performing an LVE cannot assure you that we will be able to ol#ach authorization. Even if we obtain
regulatory clearance or approval where requirech swthorization may not be for the intended ukaswe believe are commercially attractive
or are critical to the commercial success of osisteAs a result, the application of the FDA's maldevice requirements to our tests could
materially and adversely affect our business, fimgrcondition, and results of operations.

Failure to comply with applicable FDA regidry requirements may trigger a range of enforcgraetions by the FDA including warning
letters, civil monetary penalties, injunctionspainal prosecution, recall or seizure, operatingriefons, partial suspension or total shutdow
operations, and denial of or challenges to apptinatfor clearance or approval, as well as sigaiftadverse publicity.

In addition, in November 2013, the FDA isddinal guidance regarding the distribution ofdurots labeled for research use only. Certain
of the reagents and other products we use in sts &e labeled as research use only productai€eftour suppliers may cease selling
research use only products to us and any failuobtain an acceptable substitute could signifigaatld adversely affect our business, financia
condition and results of operations.
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HIPAA and HITECH

Under the administrative simplification pisions of the Health Insurance Portability and éwatability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, as
amended by the Health Information Technology fooiieomic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, the U3epartment of Health and Human
Services issued regulations that establish unifstandards governing the conduct of certain eletrogalthcare transactions and protecting
privacy and security of protected health informatised or disclosed by most healthcare providedsotrer covered entities and their busines:
associates, including the business associatedstibctors. Four principal regulations with whick are required to comply have been issued
in final form under HIPAA and HITECH: privacy regtions, security regulations, the breach notifaratiule, and standards for electronic
transactions, which establish standards for comheatthcare transactions.

The privacy regulations cover the use ardldsure of protected health information by codesatities as well as business associates,
which are defined to include subcontractors theats, receive, maintain, or transmit protectedthéaformation on behalf of a business
associate. They also set forth certain rightsadhnandividual has with respect to his or her pregddealth information maintained by a coverec
entity, including the right to access or amendaierntecords containing protected health informat@rto request restrictions on the use or
disclosure of protected health information. Theusigg regulations establish requirements for safding the confidentiality, integrity, and
availability of protected health information thatdlectronically transmitted or electronically sirHITECH, among other things, established
certain health information security breach notifica requirements. A covered entity must notify amgividual whose protected health
information is breached according to the specifices set forth in the breach notification rule. THI®AA privacy and security regulations
establish a uniform federal "floor" and do not sigeee state laws that are more stringent or prauidigiduals with greater rights with respect
to the privacy or security of, and access to, theords containing protected health informatiomsofar as such state laws apply to personal
information that is broader in scope than protetiealth information as defined under HIPAA. Massesgltts, for example, has a state law tha
protects the privacy and security of personal imi@tion of Massachusetts residents.

There are significant civil and criminaidis and other penalties that may be imposed fdating HIPAA. A covered entity or business
associate is also liable for civil money penalf@sa violation that is based on an act or omissibany of its agents, including a downstream
business associate, as determined according fedkeeal common law of agency. Additionally, to thdéent that we submit electronic
healthcare claims and payment transactions thabtoomply with the electronic data transmissi@ndards established under HIPAA and
HITECH, payments to us may be delayed or denied.

Federal, state and foreign fraud and abuse laws

In the United States, there are variousdrand abuse laws with which we must comply an@smeepotentially subject to regulation by
various federal, state and local authorities, iditlg CMS, other divisions of the U.S. DepartmenHeflth and Human Services (e.g., the
Office of Inspector General), the U.S. Departmédniustice, and individual U.S. Attorney offices it the Department of Justice, and state
and local governments. We also may be subjectreago fraud and abuse laws.

In the United States, the federal Afitkback Statute prohibits, among other things,wimgly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting k
receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, othg, covertly, in cash or in kind to induce orneturn for the furnishing, arranging for the
furnishing of, purchasing, leasing, ordering omaging for or recommending purchasing, leasingrdeiing of any good, facility, service or
item for which payment may be made in whole orart py a federal healthcare program. Courts hatedthat a financial arrangement may
violate the Anti-Kickback

24




Table of Contents

Statute if any one purpose of the arrangementéstourage patient referrals or other federal heate program business, regardless of
whether there are other legitimate purposes foathengement. The definition of "remuneration” hasn broadly interpreted to include
anything of value, including gifts, discounts, dtedrangements, payments of cash, consulting feaivers of co-payments, ownership
interests, and providing anything at less thafeitsmarket value. Although the Anti-Kickback Stegicontains several exceptions, it is broad
and may technically prohibit many innocuous or liiered arrangements within the healthcare indusfyrther, the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services issued a series of regulatafg Tarbors." These safe harbor regulations sit éartain provisions, which, if met, will
assure healthcare providers and other partieshbgtwill not be prosecuted under the federal Afitkback Statute. Although full compliance
with the statutory exceptions or regulatory safdbbes ensures against prosecution under the fedataKickback Statute, the failure of a
transaction or arrangement to fit within a specafiatutory exception or regulatory safe harbor du#siecessarily mean that the transaction ol
arrangement is illegal or that prosecution underfétderal Anti-Kickback Statute will be pursuednBigies for federal anti-kickback violations
are severe, and include imprisonment, criminalsjmévil money penalties, and exclusion from pgpttion in federal healthcare programs.
Many states also have anti-kickback statutes, saimdrich may apply to items or services reimbursgdny third-party payor, including
commercial insurers.

There are also federal laws related totheate fraud and false statements, among othdasingeto healthcare matters. The healthcare
fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully exgéting a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefifram, including private payors. A
violation of this statute is a felony and may résuffines, imprisonment, or exclusion from goveemtal payor programs such as the Medicare
and Medicaid programs. The false statements stptotebits knowingly and willfully falsifying, corealing or covering up a material fact, or
making any materially false, fictitious or fraudntestatement in connection with the delivery opayment for healthcare benefits, items, or
services. A violation of this statute is a felomdanay result in fines, imprisonment, or excludimm governmental payor programs.

Another development affecting the healtedadustry is the increased enforcement of therfddealse Claims Act and, in particular,
actions brought pursuant to the False Claims Aet'gstleblower" or "qui tam" provisions. The Fal&tims Act imposes liability on any
person or entity that, among other things, knowimykesents, or causes to be presented, a falsauztulent claim for payment by a federal
governmental payor program. The qui tam provisiointhe False Claims Act allow a private individt@lbring actions on behalf of the federal
government alleging that the defendant has defichtitkefederal government by submitting a falsencla the federal government and permit
such individuals to share in any amounts paid byetfitity to the government in fines or settlem¥viten an entity is determined to have
violated the False Claims Act, it may be requiregday up to three times the actual damages sudthinthe government, plus civil penalties
ranging from $5,500 to $11,000 for each false claim

In addition, various states have enactéxbfalaim laws analogous to the federal False Glaat, although many of these state laws appl
where a claim is submitted to any third-party pagod not merely a governmental payor program.

Additionally, the civil monetary penaltistatute imposes penalties against any person ity grdt, among other things, is determined to
have presented or caused to be presented a clarfetteral health program that the person knovehould know is for an item or service that
was not provided as claimed or for a claim thdaise or fraudulent. This law also prohibits théedhg or transfer of remuneration to a
Medicare or state healthcare program beneficiattyafperson knows or should know it is likely tuence the beneficiary's selection of a
particular provider, practitioner, or supplier efgices reimbursable by Medicare or a state heatéhprogram, unless an exception applies.
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In Europe various countries have adoptedhaibery laws providing for severe consequenaeshe form of criminal penalties and/or
significant fines, for individuals and/or compangsnmitting a bribery offence. Violations of thesati-bribery laws, or allegations of such
violations, could have a negative impact on ouirnmss, results of operations and reputation. Fsiairce, in the United Kingdom, under the
Bribery Act 2010, which went into effect in July D) a bribery occurs when a person offers, givggamises to give a financial or other
advantage to induce or reward another individudinjoroperly perform certain functions or activitiéscluding any function of a public nature.
Bribery of foreign public officials also falls wiith the scope of the Bribery Act 2010. Under the megime, an individual found in violation of
the Bribery Act 2010, faces imprisonment of up @oygkars. In addition, the individual can be subjean unlimited fine, as can commercial
organizations for failure to prevent bribery.

Physician referral prohibitions

Under a federal law directed at "self-redet commonly known as the "Stark Law," there arehibitions, with certain exceptions, on
referrals for certain designated health servigesduding laboratory services, that are coveredhieyMedicare program by physicians who
personally, or through an immediate family membare a financial relationship with the entity toigrhthe referrals for designated health
services are made. The prohibition also extengigyonent for any testing referred in violation of tBtark Law. A person who engages in a
scheme to circumvent the Stark Law's referral goition may be fined up to $100,000 for each suchragement or scheme. In addition, any
person who presents or causes to be presenteniatalthe Medicare program in violation of the &thaw is subject to civil monetary
penalties of up to $15,000 per service, an assegswhep to three times the amount claimed andiplesexclusion from patrticipation in fede
healthcare programs. In addition, any person wieseqts or causes to be presented a claim to theéegbrogram in violation of the Stark
Law is subject to civil monetary penalties of ughtb,000 per service, an assessment of up to tinnes the amount claimed, and possible
exclusion from participation in federal or stataltie care programs. Bills submitted in violationtloé Stark Law may not be paid by Medicare,
and any person collecting any amounts with resigeahy such prohibited bill is obligated to refuswcth amounts. Many states have
comparable laws that are not limited to Medicaferrals. The Stark Law also prohibits state recefgtederal Medicaid matching funds for
prohibited referrals, but this provision of the iBthaw has not been implemented by regulationsddition, some courts have held that the
submission of claims to Medicaid that would be jibdkd as self-referrals under the Stark Law fordi¢are could implicate the False Claims
Act.

Corporate practice of medicine

Numerous states have enacted laws praipitisiness corporations, such as us, from pragtitiedicine and employing or engaging
physicians to practice medicine, generally refetoeds the prohibition against the corporate pcaatf medicine. These laws are designed to
prevent interference in the medical decisinaking process by anyone who is not a licensedigiays For example, California's Medical Bo
has indicated that determining what diagnosticstast appropriate for a particular condition arkihigiresponsibility for the ultimate overall
care of the patient, including providing treatmeptions available to the patient, would constithie unlicensed practice of medicine if
performed by an unlicensed person. Violation os¢éheorporate practice of medicine laws may reauthiil or criminal fines, as well as
sanctions imposed against us and/or the profeddimaigh licensure proceedings. Typically suchdase only applicable to entities that have
a physical presence in the state.
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Intellectual property

We rely on a combination of intellectuabperty rights, including trade secrets, copyrighsjemarks, customary contractual protections
and, to a lesser extent, patents, to protect aer technology and intellectual property. With redfe patents, we believe that the practice of
patenting individual genes, along with patentingldaand methods specific to individual genes, hgseided the progress of the genetic testing
industry beyond single gene tests and is antithktiicour core principle that patients should owd aontrol their own genomic information.
Over the past three years the U.S. Supreme Cosiicbiaed a series of unanimous (9-0) decisionisigdtirth limits on the patentability of
natural phenomena, natural laws, abstract ideashamdapplications—-.e. , Mayo Collaborative v. Prometheus Laboratories (2012) , or Mayo ,
Association for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics (2013) , or Myriad , andAlice Corporation v. CLS Bank (2014) , or Alice. As discussed
below, we believe th®ayo , Myriad andAlice decisions bring clarity to the limits to which patte may cover specific genes, mutations of suc
genes, or gene-specific technology for determiipgtient's genomic information.

Patents

Recent U.S. Supreme Court cases haveietattiat naturally occurring DNA sequences are na@thenomena which should not be
patentable. On June 13, 2013, the U.S. Supreme @ecidedViyriad , a case challenging the validity of patent clafmail by Myriad relating
to the cancer genes BRCA1 and BRCA2. Meiad Court held that genomic DNAs that have been isdl&iem, or have the same sequence
as, naturally occurring samples, such as the DN#stituting the BRCAL and BRCA2 genes or fragmelinéseof, are not eligible for patent
protection. Instead, thdyriad Court held that only those complementary DNAs (cBiN#hich have a sequence that differs from a néyura
occurring fragment of genomic DNA may be patergible. Because it will be applied by other couasll gene patents, the holdinghtyriad
also invalidates patent claims to other genes ané gariants. Prior thlyriad , on August 16, 2012, the U.S. Court of Appealstier Federal
Circuit had held that certain patent claims of Mgridirected to methods of comparing or analyzin@€BR and BRCA2 sequences to deterr
whether or not a person has a variant or mutatieruapatentable abstract processes, and Myriadadidppeal such ruling.

We do not currently have any patents oemaapplications directed to the sequences of Bpgenes or variants of such genes, nor have
we in-licensed such patents rights of any thirdypaiVe believe that correlations between speciéinegvariants and a person's susceptibility to
certain conditions or diseases are natural lawtsattganot patentable under the U.S. Supreme Calatision inMayo . TheMayo case involve:
patent claims directed to optimizing, on a patigpécific basis, the dosage of a certain drug bysomazg its metabolites in a patient. THayo
Court determined that patent claims directed aaligtn of natural correlations, such as the coticgicbetween drug metabolite levels in a
patient and that drug's optimal dosage for sucieipitare not eligible for patent protection. TMayo Court held that claims based on this type
of comparison between an observed fact and an stagheling of that fact's implications representrafits to patent a natural law and,
moreover, when the processes for making the cosgradre not themselves sufficiently inventive,rasito such processes are similarly pater
ineligible. On June 19, 2014, the U.S. Supreme GiberidedAlice, where it amplified itdMayo andMyriad decisions and clarified the
analytical framework for distinguishing betweenguds that claim laws of nature, natural phenomewkadstract ideas and those that claim
patent-eligible applications of such concepts. Adittw to theAlice Court, the analysis depends on whether a pateint diaected to a law of
nature, a natural phenomenon or an abstract idgaios additional elements, an "inventive concepiat "is 'sufficient to ensure that the pat
in practice amounts to significantly more than sepaupon the [ineligible concept] itself" (citifgayo ).
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We believe thatlayo , Myriad andAlice not only render as unpatentable genes, gene fragraad the detection of a person's sequent
a gene, but also have the same effect on gengsicaions of conventional technology to specifeng sequences. For example, we believe
that generic claims to primers or probes directespiecific gene sequences and uses of such pramdrgrobes in determining a person's
genetic information are not patentable. We do notently have any patents or patent applicatiorscted to such subject matter nor have we
in-licensed such patents rights of any third party.

Unlike patents directed to specific gemes,do rely upon, in part, patent protection to cotechnology that is not gene-specific and that
provides us with a potential competitive advantageve focus on making comprehensive genetic infoomdess expensive and more broadly
available to our clients. In this regard, we hame ssued U.S. patent, two pending U.S. utilityepaiaipplication, one PCT application and tl
pending U.S. provisional patent applications deddb various aspects of our laboratory, analytit lausiness practices. We intend to pursue
further patent protection where appropriate.

Trade secrets

In addition to seeking patent protectiondome of our laboratory, analytic and businesstjuas, we also rely on trade secrets, including
unpatented know-how, technology and other propydtdormation, to maintain and develop our comipegi position. We have developed
proprietary procedures for both the laboratory pssing of patient samples and the analysis ofabeting data to generate clinical reports.
example, we have automated aspects of our prociEssagrating information about known variants,ntléying variants in an individual's
sequence information, associating those variartts kmiown information about their potential effeotsdisease, and presenting that informe
for review by personnel responsible for its intetption and for the delivery of test reports togbians. We try to protect these trade secre
part, by taking reasonable steps to keep themaemtial. This includes entering into nondisclosane confidentiality agreements with parties
who have access to them, such as our employeeaseatath third parties. We also enter into inventimrpatent assignment agreements with
employees and consultants that obligate them igrass us any inventions developed in the coursteif work for us. However, we may not
enter into such agreements with all relevant psried these parties may not abide by the terrtieeofagreements. Despite measures taken t
protect our intellectual property, unauthorizedtigarmight copy or independently develop and conaiably exploit aspects of our technology
or obtain and use information that we regard apnetary.

Trademarks

We work hard to achieve a high level oflgyan our operations and to provide our clientshaa superior experience when interacting
with us. As a consequence, our brand is very inapbtb us, as it is a symbol of our reputation wpesentative of the goodwill we seek to
generate with our clients. As a consequence, we lmested significant resources in protectionwftoademarks. To date, we have filed for
trademark protection for INVITAE as well as our ¢ofgircle design) and INVITAE with the logo. Regations for INVITAE have been
obtained in 21 countries and are currently pendingore than 19 countries. Applications for ourddgircle design) have been obtained in
three countries and are currently pending in mioa@ 29 countries, and one application is pendingN¥ITAE with the logo.

Environmental matters

Our operations require the use of hazardwaterials (including biological materials) whialibgect us to a variety of federal, state and
local environmental and safety laws and regulati®umne of these regulations provide for strictiligh holding a party potentially liable
without regard to fault
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or negligence. We could be held liable for damagestfines as a result of our, or others', businpssations should contamination of the
environment or individual exposure to hazardoustuires occur. We cannot predict how changes is tewaew regulations will affect our
business, operations or the cost of compliance.

Raw materials and suppliers

We rely on a limited number of suppliens,io some cases, sole suppliers, including Agilesthnologies, Inc., lllumina, Inc., Integrated
DNA Technologies Incorporated, Qiagen N.V. and Rokloldings Ltd. for certain laboratory reagentswadl as sequencers and other
equipment and materials which we use in our laboyatperations. We rely on lllumina as the solepdigp of next generation sequencers and
associated reagents and as the sole provider otenaince and repair services for these sequer@ersaboratory operations could be
interrupted if we encounter delays or difficultiassecuring these reagents, sequencers or othgmeepnt or materials, and if we cannot obtain
an acceptable substitute. Any such interruptioddsignificantly affect our business, financial dition, results of operations and reputation.
We believe that there are only a few other manufacs that are currently capable of supplying awgising the equipment necessary for our
laboratory operations, including sequencers angwysassociated reagents. The use of equipmenatrials provided by these replacement
suppliers would require us to alter our laboratmpgrations. Transitioning to a new supplier wouddiiime consuming and expensive, may
result in interruptions in our laboratory operatipoould affect the performance specificationswflaboratory operations or could require that
we revalidate our tests. We cannot assure younbavould be able to secure alternative equipmeagents and other materials, or bring suct
equipment, reagents and materials on line andidatalthem without experiencing interruptions im workflow. If we encounter delays or
difficulties in securing, reconfiguring or revaltitag the equipment and reagents we require fotests, our business and reputation could be
adversely affected.

Customer and geographic concentrations

For the years ended December 31, 2014 @h8, 2he percentages of our revenue attributabdedoces in the United States were 67 and
42, respectively; the percentages of our reventib@able to sources in Canada were 19 and ospentively; the percentages of our revenue
attributable to sources in Israel were 7 and 4gheetively; and the percentages of our revenuibathible to countries excluding the United
States, Canada and Israel were 7 and 13, respgctive

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we hadbng-lived assets in the United States of $13il8an and $5.9 million, respectively, and
net long-lived assets in Chile of $1.8 million 212 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2@b4 2013, we did not have long-lived
assets outside of the United States and Chile.

As of December 31, 2014, all of our revehas been derived from sales of our assay of 2thésyéJnited Healthcare accounted for 15%
of our revenue for the year ended December 31,.2D4vha Pharmaceuticals Industries Ltd. accounted486 of our revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2013.

Our culture and employees

Growing and retaining a strong team idaaltto our longterm success. Our multidisciplinary team includiegrtformaticians, clinical an
medical geneticists, commercial and managed carere genetic counselors, scientists, softwarénergs, web developers, graphic designer
and lab automation specialists, as well as stafinadministrative and corporate teams. We prigseives on the quality and integrity of the
people we hire, and we strive to foster a motivgaind unique culture in which we hope they wilivlr
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Our people have widely varied skills angatalities, and our success hinges on our abiitsdply all of those skills and capabilities in
concert to achieve our mission. We relish individyaand we strive to make sure that in effortsteate a cohesive working environment, we
preserve diversity of views and approaches.

Our mission and relentless focus on owntd' needs drive attitudes and behaviors acressotmpany. To support our values, we
implement the following strategies:

. Attracting and Retaining Exceptional Employees We believe that versatile and experienced employmanagement and
directors provide significant advantages in thedigpevolving market in which we compete. Sincedption, we have devoted
and will continue to devote substantial effortdtolding a talented employee base and to attraetimgxperienced management
team with a track record in fast-growing organizas. We provide significant autonomy, much moretivauld typically be
given, to the individual and to leaders within trganization but hold each employee accountabtaugir a steady-state peer
review feedback systems in which every employewaduated by peers on a weekly basis. This systemides us with a large
amount of performance data on a consistent basistting point for developing and mentoring ennployees.

. Commitment to Experimentation and Date-Informed Decisions. We strive to make decisions informed by data, laoH for
counterintuitive information that might go agaitts¢ conventional wisdom in the industry to giveaususiness advantage. We
experiment with different commercial and technolbgpotheses across our business and make declisised on supporting
data. We intend to research and develop not oytaehnology processes but business strategy as wel

. Transparency. We strive to be transparent with our clients, lyges and shareholders. We believe the best ézaduppen
where information is broadly shared. We view aestdtheightened transparency within companies atidtive public as a
growing trend that will only accelerate in the figu

As of December 31, 2014, we had 161 empsythe significant majority of which are base&an Francisco or Palo Alto, California. Of
these employees, 77 were in research and develdph#¥were in commercial laboratory operationsy#e in sales and marketing and 28
were in general and administrative. None of ourlegges are represented by a labor union, and wsidenour employee relations to be good

General Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delawemn January 13, 2010 under the name Locus Dewelop Inc. and changed our name to
Invitae Corporation in 2012. Our principal execetdffices are located at 458 Brannan Street, Sancksco, California 94107, and our
telephone number is (415) 374-7782. Our websiteesmdds www.invitae.com. The information contaimeg or that can be accessed through,
our website is not part of this annual report omfr@0-K.

We make available free of charge on oursitelbur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterlyorepon Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports, as somaaonably practicable after we electronicaley/dir furnish such materials to the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Youabggin a free copy of these reports in the InuveRtdations section of our website,
www.invitae.com. All reports that we file with tt8&C may be read and copied at the SEC's Publiagétefe Room at 100 F Street, N.E.,
Washington, DC, 20549. Information about the openadf the Public Reference Room can be obtainecaltling the SEC at 1-800-SE@330.
All reports that we file are also available at wsgc.gov.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors.
Risks related to our business and strategy

We are an early-stage company with a history ofdes, we expect to incur significant losses for theeseeable future, and we may not be
able to achieve or sustain profitability.

We have incurred substantial losses sincénzeption. For the years ended December 31,,20¥3 and 2012, we had a net loss of
$47.5 million, $24.8 million and $8.6 million, resgtively. As of December 31, 2014, we had an actated deficit of $85.2 million. To date,
we have generated limited revenue, and we may ramleéeve revenue sufficient to offset our expeniseaddition, we expect to continue to
incur significant losses for the foreseeable futaral we expect these losses to increase as we docscaling our business and operations. Ot
prior losses and expected future losses have tad/iircontinue to have an adverse effect on oaclgtolders' equity and working capital. Our
failure to achieve and sustain profitability in fiiture would negatively affect our business, ficiahcondition, results of operations and cash
flows, and could cause the market price of our comstock to decline.

We began operations in January 2010, andave only a limited operating history upon whi@uycan evaluate our business and
prospects. We commercially launched our assay &fgghes in late November 2013. Our limited comna¢tustory makes it difficult to
evaluate our current business and makes predictioost our future results, prospects or viabilithject to significant uncertainty. Our
prospects must be considered in light of the résid difficulties frequently encountered by compariietheir early stage of development,
particularly companies in new and rapidly evolvingrkets such as ours. These risks include an exgpbuid unpredictable business model an
the management of growth. To address these rigksnust, among other things, increase our custoass, implement and successfully
execute our business and marketing strategy, agtmexpand, automate and upgrade our laboragrynology and data systems, obtain
coverage and reimbursement by healthcare payohsesubledicare and private health insurers, proragéd test turnaround times with
accurate results at a low price, provide supemstamer service, respond to competitive developsand attract, retain and motivate qualifiec
personnel. We cannot assure you that we will beessful in addressing these risks, and the faitud® so could have a material adverse e
on our business, prospects, financial conditionrasdlts of operations.

We will need to scale our infrastructure in advanoé demand for our tests, and our failure to genéeasufficient demand for our tests wot
have a negative impact on our business and our i#pilo attain profitability.

Our success will depend in large part onatnility to extend our market position, to provitigstomers with high quality test reports
quickly and at a lower price than our competitars] to achieve sufficient test volume to realizeneenies of scale. In order to execute our
business model, we intend to invest heavily in ptdesignificantly scale our infrastructure, inciog our testing capacity and information
systems, expand our customer service, billing gstems processes and enhance our internal quatityance program. We will also need to
hire and retain sufficient numbers of skilled pewrsel, including geneticists, biostatisticians, ified laboratory scientists and other scientific
and technical personnel to process and interpregenetic tests. We expect that much of this gromithbe in advance of demand for our te:
Our current and future expense levels are to & laxgent fixed and are largely based on our investrplans and our estimates of future
revenue. Because the timing and amount of reveiome dur tests is difficult to forecast, when revemoes not meet our expectations we may
not be able to adjust our spending promptly or cedaur spending to levels commensurate with owsrreg. Even if we are able to successt
scale our infrastructure and operations, we caasstire you that demand for our tests will increddevels consistent with the growth of our
infrastructure. If we fail to generate demand comsueate with this growth or if we fall
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to scale our infrastructure sufficiently in advaméelemand to successfully meet such demand, ainéss, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we are not able to generate substantial demaridaor tests, our commercial success will be negelyvaffected

Our business model assumes that we wildde to generate significant test volume, and wg nta succeed in driving clinical adoption
our test to achieve sufficient volumes. Inasmuctetailed genetic data from broad-based testinglpauch as our tests have only recently
become available at relatively affordable prichs, pace and degree of clinical acceptance of iliy aff such testing is uncertain. Specifical
it is uncertain how much genetic data will be ated@s necessary or useful, as well as how dethisgdlata should be, particularly since
medical practitioners may have become accustomgdrietic testing that is specific to one or a femeags. Given the substantial amount of
additional information available from a broad-basesting panel such as ours, there may be disiaus the reliability of such information
when compared with more limited and focused geriesits. To generate demand for our tests, we e@trto continue to make physicians
aware of the benefits of our tests, including thiegy the breadth of our testing options, and theefits of having additional genetic data
available from which to make treatment decisiorecdlise broad-based testing panels are relativelyinmay be more difficult or take more
time for us to expand clinical adoption of our gsisayond a relatively small number of early adogptér addition, physicians in other areas of
medicine may not adopt genetic testing for heregliisease as readily as it has been adopted @ditery cancer and our efforts to sell our
tests to physicians outside of oncology may nadumessful. A lack of or delay in clinical accemmmf broad-based panels such as our tests
would negatively impact sales and market acceptahoar tests and limit our revenue growth and po& profitability. In addition, as we
make physicians aware of our plans to release iss@aya with more genes, physicians may decide rarter our current assay, opting instead
to wait until the new assay is available. Genedgtihg is expensive and many potential customeyshaaensitive to pricing. In addition,
potential customers may not adopt our tests if adgreimbursement is not available, or if we areafle to maintain low prices in the future
relative to our competitors. If we are not ablgyémerate demand for our tests at sufficient volumnd, it takes significantly more time to
generate this demand than we anticipate, our bssipeospects, financial condition and resultspafrations could be materially harmed.

If third -party payors, including managed care organizatiomsivate health insurers and government health pdo not provide coverage
and adequate reimbursement for our tests, our comera success could be negatively affected.

Our ability to increase the number of liliatests and our revenue will depend on our sscaelsieving broad reimbursement for our test:
from third-party payors. Physicians may not ordartests unless thirdarty payors, such as managed care organizatidaatg@health insure
and government healthcare programs, such as Medicatt Medicaid, cover and provide adequate reinebugst for a substantial portion of
price of our tests. Reimbursement by a payor maedeé on a number of factors, including a payortsrdeination that a test is appropriate,
medically necessary, and cost-effective.

Since each payor makes its own decisidon aghether to establish a policy or enter into atact to cover our tests, as well as the amour
it will reimburse for a test, seeking these appl®isa time-consuming and costly process. In &dithe determination by a payor to cover
and the amount it will reimburse for our tests WKEly be made on an indication by indication Isadio date, we have obtained policy-level
reimbursement approval or contractual reimburserftergome indications for our test from a small tn@mof commercial third-party payors,
and have not obtained coverage from Medicare orstatg Medicaid program. Further, we believe tstdldishing adequate
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reimbursement from Medicare is an important fagtagaining adoption from healthcare providers. @arms for reimbursement from
commercial payors may be denied upon submissiahywenmust appeal the claims. The appeals procéissasconsuming and expensive, and
may not result in payment. In cases where thenetig contracted rate for reimbursement, thergpigally a greater co-insurance or co-
payment requirement from the patient which mayltésdurther delay or decreased likelihood of ealion.

We expect to continue to focus substantisburces on increasing adoption of, and coveradeeambursement for, our current tests and
any future tests we may develop. We believe it taltg several years to achieve coverage and adecprattacted reimbursement with a
majority of third-party payors. However, we canpogdict whether, under what circumstances, or @tywhyment levels payors will reimburse
for our tests. If we fail to establish and maintainad adoption of, and coverage and reimbursefoenbur tests, our ability to generate
revenue could be harmed and our future prospedt®anbusiness could suffer.

Our success will depend on our ability to use ragidhanging genetic data to interpret test resudiscurately and consistently, and our
failure to do so would have an adverse effect o operating results and business, harm our reputatiand could result in substantic
liabilities that exceed our resources.

Our success depends on our ability to pl@veliable, high-quality tests that incorporatgiddy evolving information about the role of
genes and gene variants in disease and clinicglyant outcomes associated with those variantsr&rincluding if our tests fail to detect
genomic variants with high accuracy, or mistakesiuding if we fail to or incompletely or incorrégcidentify the significance of gene variar
could have a significant adverse impact on ourrmss. Hundreds of genes can be implicated in s@oedérs, and overlapping networks of
genes and symptoms can be implicated in multiptelitions. As a result, a substantial amount of judgt is required in order to interpret
testing results for an individual patient and teelep an appropriate patient report. We classifyavds in accordance with published guidel
as benign, likely benign, variants of uncertaimgigance, likely pathogenic or pathogenic, andsthguidelines are subject to change. In
addition, it is our practice to offer support toypltians and geneticists ordering our tests araovmidh genes or panels to order as well as
interpretation of genetic variants. We also relycbnicians to interpret what we report and to inpmrate specific information about an
individual patient into the physician's treatmeetidion.

The marketing, sale and use of our getiesits could subject us to liability for errorsmmisunderstandings of, or inappropriate reliance
information we provide to physicians or genetigistsd lead to claims against us if someone weallége that our test failed to perform as it
was designed, if we failed to correctly interptet test results, or if the ordering physician wermisinterpret test results or improperly rely or
them when making a clinical decision. A producbiligy or professional liability claim could resut substantial damages and be costly and
time-consuming for us to defend. Although we mamtebility insurance, including for errors and @msions, we cannot assure you that our
insurance would fully protect us from the finandiapact of defending against these types of clamsny judgments, fines or settlement costs
arising out of any such claims. Any liability claimcluding an errors and omissions liability claionought against us, with or without merit,
could increase our insurance rates or preventams §ecuring insurance coverage in the future. Aattidly, any liability lawsuit could cause
injury to our reputation or cause us to suspenekssafl our tests. The occurrence of any of thesetew®uld have an adverse effect on our
business, reputation and results of operations.
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We face intense competition, which is likely toeémisify further as existing competitors devote adulital resources to, and new participants
enter, the market. If we cannot compete successfulfe may be unable to increase our revenue or agkiand sustain profitability.

With the development of next generatioruseging, the clinical genetics market is becomirggéasingly competitive, and we expect this
competition to intensify in the future. We face qmetition from a variety of sources, including:

. dozens of relatively specialized competitors foduse inherited clinical genetics and gene sequenasiuch as Myriad
Genetics, Inc., or Myriad, Ambry Genetics, Inc. @&eheDx, Inc., a subsidiary of Bio-Reference Latwias, Inc.;

. a few large, established general testing congzanith large market share and significant chapoeler, such as Laboratory
Corporation of America Holdings and Quest Diagrassthcorporated;

. a large number of clinical laboratories in an acaideor healthcare provider setting that performichl genetic testing on behi
of their affiliated institutions and often sell anthrket more broadly; and

. a large number of new entrants into the markegé&retic information ranging from informatics andbsis pipeline developers
to focused, integrated providers of genetic toals services for health and wellness.

Hospitals, academic medical centers andteradly physician practice groups and individuaygibians may also seek to perform at their
own facilities the type of genetic testing we woattierwise perform for them. In this regard, coméid development of equipment, reagents,
and other materials as well as databases andiatation services may enable broader direct ppéimn in genetic testing and analysis.

Participants in closely related marketshsa prenatal testing and clinical trial or compandiagnostic testing could converge on offer
that are competitive with the type of tests we qert. Instances where potential competitors arenatignith key suppliers or are themselves
suppliers could provide such potential competitith significant advantages.

In addition, the biotechnology and gengtgting fields are intensely competitive both inrte of service and price, and continue to
undergo significant consolidation, permitting largénical laboratory service providers to increasst efficiencies and service levels, resulting
in more intense competition.

We believe the principal competitive fastar our market are:

. price and quality of tests;

. test turnaround time of testing results;

. coverage and reimbursement arrangements with gairty- payors;
. breadth and depth of content;

. convenience of testing;

. brand recognition of test provider;

. additional value-added services and informatcss;

. accessibility of results;

. client service;
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. quality of website content; and
. reliability.

Many of our competitors and potential cotiipes have longer operating histories, larger aor bases, greater brand recognition and
market penetration, higher margins on their tesstbstantially greater financial, technological asskarch and development resources and
selling and marketing capabilities, and more exgreré dealing with thirgharty payors. As a result, they may be able toaegdpnore quickly t
changes in customer requirements, devote greaeurees to the development, promotion and sallesirf tests than we do, or sell their tests a
prices designed to win significant levels of marsledre. We may not be able to compete effectivgdyrest these organizations. Increased
competition and cost-saving initiatives on the pdrgovernmental entities and other third-partyqrayare likely to result in pricing pressures,
which could harm our sales, profitability or alyilib gain market share. In addition, competitory tne acquired by, receive investments from
or enter into other commercial relationships witger, well-established and well-financed compaagesase of next generation sequencing for
clinical diagnosis and preventative care increaSestain of our competitors may be able to seceseilputs from vendors on more favorable
terms, devote greater resources to marketing amdqtional campaigns, adopt more aggressive prigoligies and devote substantially more
resources to website and systems development tharamw In addition, companies or governments thiatrol access to genetic testing througt
umbrella contracts or regional preferences coutdnate our competitors or prevent us from perforngagain services. If we are unable to
compete successfully against current and futurepetitors, we may be unable to increase market aacee and sales of our tests, which cc
prevent us from increasing our revenue or achiepiodtability and could cause our stock price &xlkhe.

Our industry is subject to rapidly changing techragly and new and increasing amounts of scientifictaaelated to genes and genetic
variants and their role in disease. Our failure thevelop tests to keep pace with these changes aoakk us obsolete.

In recent years, there have been numemenaes in methods used to analyze very large ammofigenomic information and the role of
genetics and gene variants in disease and treathmapies. Our industry has and will continuegaharacterized by rapid technological
change, increasingly larger amounts of data, fregonew testing service introductions and evolvimguistry standards, all of which could make
our tests obsolete. Our future success will algedd on our ability to keep pace with the evolviregds of our customers on a timely and cos
effective basis and to pursue new market oppoiesihat develop as a result of technological amehsific advances. Our tests could become
obsolete unless we continually update our offertog®flect new scientific knowledge about genes ganetic variations and their role in
diseases and treatment therapies.

We have limited experience in marketing and selliagr tests, and our success will depend in partaur ability to generate sales using a
relatively small internal sales team and throughtainative marketing strategies.

We have limited experience marketing adlihgeour tests, which we began selling in late 200Ve may not be able to market or sell our
current tests and any future tests we may devdfeptively enough to drive demand sufficient to pag our planned growth. We currently <
our tests in the United States through a relatigetall internal sales force and outside the Untdes with the assistance of distributors.
Historically, our sales efforts have been focusach@rily on hereditary cancer and our efforts tth @er tests to physicians outside of oncology
may not be successful, or may be difficult to docassfully without significant additional sellingdamarketing efforts and expense. As part of
our strategy to reduce the cost of genetic testimgwill need to maintain our selling and marketegpenses at levels that are lower than man
of our competitors through the use of focused
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sales efforts. Our future sales will depend indgpgrt on our ability to develop and substantiefpand awareness of our company and our
through alternative strategies including throughoadion of key opinion leaders, through social ma@iated and online outreach, education
and marketing efforts, and through focused chapagher strategies designed to drive demand fotemis. We have limited experience
implementing these types of alternative marketiifigres. We may not be able to drive sufficient llsvef revenue using these sales and
marketing methods and strategies necessary to guppgplanned growth, and our failure to do solddimit our revenue and potential
profitability.

Outside the United States we use and inteiedntinue to use distributors to assist witlesalogistics, education, and customer support.
Identifying, qualifying, and engaging distributarith local industry experience and knowledge wéliecessary to effectively market and sell
our tests outside the United States. We may nsubeessful in finding, attracting and retainingitiddal distributors, or we may not be able to
enter into additional distribution arrangementdawrorable terms. Sales practices utilized by ostriiutors that are locally acceptable may no
comply with sales practices standards required udde. laws that apply to us, which could creatditawhal compliance risk. If our sales and
marketing efforts are not successful outside thitddrStates, we may not achieve significant maakeeptance for our tests outside the Unitec
States, which could materially and adversely impactbusiness operations.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers or, in sernsases, sole suppliers, for some of our laboratoistruments and materials, and we m
not be able to find replacements or immediatelyrisition to alternative suppliers.

We rely on a limited number of suppliens,io some cases, sole suppliers, including Agilesthnologies, Inc., lllumina, Inc., Integrated
DNA Technologies Incorporated, Qiagen N.V., andRoEloldings Ltd. for certain laboratory substaneesd in the chemical reactions
incorporated into our processes, which we refastoeagents, as well as sequencers and other esptipmd materials which we use in our
laboratory operations. We do not have any shoribrmgy-term agreements with our suppliers, and appbers could cease supplying these
materials and equipment at any time, or fail tovjite us with sufficient quantities of materialsmaterials that meet our specifications. Our
laboratory operations could be interrupted if weamter delays or difficulties in securing thesagents, sequencers or other equipment or
materials, and if we cannot obtain an acceptalidstgute. Any such interruption could significandlffect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and reputation. We rely timina as the sole supplier of next generation segers and associated reagents and as the
sole provider of maintenance and repair servicethfgse sequencers. Any disruption in lllumina'srafions could impact our supply chain i
laboratory operations as well as our ability todwet our tests, and it could take a substantialuarnof time to integrate replacement
equipment into our laboratory operations.

We believe that there are only a few othanufacturers that are currently capable of supglgind servicing the equipment necessary fol
our laboratory operations, including sequencersvamius associated reagents. The use of equiponenéterials provided by these
replacement suppliers would require us to altedaboratory operations. Transitioning to a new sigppvould be time consuming and
expensive, may result in interruptions in our latory operations, could affect the performance ifipations of our laboratory operations or
could require that we revalidate our tests. We oaiaasure you that we will be able to secure atéra equipment, reagents and other
materials, and bring such equipment, reagents aidrials on line and revalidate them without exgeging interruptions in our workflow. In
the case of an alternative supplier for lllumin&, @annot assure you that replacement sequenceessodiated reagents will be available or
will meet our quality control and performance regoients for our laboratory operations. If we ent¢eudelays or difficulties in
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securing, reconfiguring or revalidating the equipitr@nd reagents we require for our tests, our legsirfinancial condition, results of
operations and reputation could be adversely aftect

If our laboratory in San Francisco becomes inopefabdue to an earthquake or for any other reason, wil be unable to perform our tes!
and our business will be harmed.

We perform all of our tests at our laboratiea San Francisco, California. Our laboratory dimel equipment we use to perform our tests
would be costly to replace and could require sutiisthlead time to replace and qualify for use. @ilooratory may be harmed or rendered
inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, inmududarthquakes, flooding, fire and power outagédsch may render it difficult or
impossible for us to perform our tests for somequeof time. The inability to perform our teststbe backlog that could develop if our
laboratory is inoperable for even a short periotlm& may result in the loss of customers or haumreputation. Although we maintain
insurance for damage to our property and the dignupf our business, this insurance may not bécseifit to cover all of our potential losses
and may not continue to be available to us on aabépterms, if at all.

We currently have a second laboratory distad in Santiago, Chile, however this laborateag not been used for the performance of oL
tests in significant volume. The use of such latmgeas a back-up facility for our laboratory op@ras in San Francisco would require
substantial lead time, including to obtain CLIA tifggation, as well as to secure the necessarypegent, labor and other resources. In additior
a number of third-party payors, including Medicate,not reimburse for tests performed outside efuhited States.

Security breaches, loss of data and other disrupSa@ould compromise sensitive information relateddur business or prevent us fro
accessing critical information and expose us tobiity, which could adversely affect our businessdaour reputation.

In the ordinary course of our businessawe our third-party billing and collections providmllect and store sensitive data, including
legally protected health information, personallgritfiable information, intellectual property antbprietary business information owned or
controlled by ourselves or our customers, payard,ather parties. We manage and maintain our agtjiits and data utilizing a combination
of on-site systems, managed data center systeihg|@d-based data center systems. We also comatarsensitive patient data through our
Invitae Family History Tool. These applications ateda encompass a wide variety of business-critiéaimation including research and
development information, commercial informationddmusiness and financial information. We face aloemof risks relative to protecting this
critical information, including loss of access rigkappropriate disclosure, inappropriate modifmatand the risk of our being unable to
adequately monitor and modify our controls over anitical information.

The secure processing, storage, maintereamtéransmission of this critical information artal to our operations and business strategy,
and we devote significant resources to protectutdy snformation. Although we take measures to mtatensitive information from
unauthorized access or disclosure, our informagchnology and infrastructure, and that of ourddpiarty billing and collections provider, m
be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or viruseseadhed due to employee error, malfeasance, or digreiptions. Any such breach or
interruption could compromise our networks anditfiermation stored there could be accessed by toaued parties, publicly disclosed, Ic
or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or otherddinformation could result in legal claims opbpeedings, liability under federal or state It
that protect the privacy of personal informatiam;ts as the Health Insurance Portability and Accalitity Act of 1996, or HIPAA, the Health
Information Technology for Economic and Clinicaldtle Act, or HITECH, and regulatory penalties. Altighh we have implemented security
measures and a formal, dedicated enterprise sppuoigjram to prevent unauthorized access to pati@tat, our Invitae Family History Tool is
currently
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accessible through our online portal and throughnoobile applications, and there is no guaranteeaveprotect our online portal or our
mobile applications from breach. Unauthorized agcless or dissemination could also disrupt ouragens (including our ability to conduct
our analyses, provide test results, bill payorpaiients, process claims and appeals, provide mgstassistance, conduct research and
development activities, collect, process, and preepampany financial information, provide infornmatiabout our tests and other patient and
physician education and outreach efforts throughnabsite, and manage the administrative aspeasrdiusiness) and damage our repute
any of which could adversely affect our business.

Penalties for failure to comply with a regment of HIPAA and HITECH vary significantly, amaclude civil monetary penalties of up to
$1.5 million per calendar year for each provisiéttPAA that is violated. A person who knowingly tains or discloses individually
identifiable health information in violation of HEA may face a criminal penalty of up to $50,000 apdto one-year imprisonment. The
criminal penalties increase if the wrongful condineblves false pretenses or the intent to selhgfer, or use identifiable health information
commercial advantage, personal gain, or malici@imh

In addition, the interpretation and appiima of consumer, health-related, and data praiedaws in the United States, Europe and
elsewhere are often uncertain, contradictory, arftli. It is possible that these laws may be imtered and applied in a manner that is
inconsistent with our practices. If so, this corddult in governmernitnposed fines or orders requiring that we changepoactices, which cou
adversely affect our business. In addition, theseapy regulations may differ from country to cogntand may vary based on whether testing
is performed in the United States or in the localrdry. Complying with these various laws couldsmus to incur substantial costs or require
us to change our business practices and complimocedures in a manner adverse to our business.

We may not be able to manage our future growth effeely, which could make it difficult to executaupbusiness strategy.

Our expected future growth could creat&a@irson our organizational, administrative andragienal infrastructure, including laboratory
operations, quality control, customer service, ratirlg and sales, and management. We may not becablaintain the quality of or expected
turnaround times for our tests, or satisfy custodenand as it grows. Our ability to manage our ginqwvoperly will require us to continue to
improve our operational, financial and managementrols, as well as our reporting systems and phaess. We plan to implement new
enterprise software systems in a number of ardasteilg a broad range of business processes aatidoal areas. The time and resources
required to implement these new systems is unceraid failure to complete these activities imaely and efficient manner could adversely
affect our operations. In addition, we plan to lrehief medical officer, as well as add additiog@heticists, biostatisticians, certified
laboratory scientists and other scientific and mécdd personnel. If we are unable to manage ountjr@ffectively, it may be difficult for us to
execute our business strategy and our businesd bediarmed. Future growth in our business cowld idake it difficult for us to maintain our
corporate culture.

The loss of any member of our senior managementtezould adversely affect our business.

Our success depends in large part uposkitle, experience and performance of members pEgacutive management team and othe
key leadership positions. The efforts of these geswill be critical to us as we continue to depedmir technologies and test processes and
focus on scaling our business. If we were to lasear more key executives, we may experience diffe&s in competing effectively,
developing our technologies and implementing owiress strategy. All of our executives and emplsyae at-will, which means that either
we or the executive or employee may terminate gmiployment at any time. We do not carry key mauiiance for any of our executives or
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employees. In addition, we do not have a long-tetantion agreement or long-term equity incentimgslace with our chief executive officer.

We rely on highly skilled personnel in a broad agr@f disciplines and, if we are unable to hire, & or motivate these individuals, or
maintain our corporate culture, we may not be alitemaintain the quality of our services or grow efitively.

Our performance, including our research @exklopment programs and laboratory operationgela depend on our continuing ability to
identify, hire, develop, motivate, and retain highkilled personnel for all areas of our organi@atiincluding scientists, biostatisticians and
technicians. Competition in our industry for quialif employees is intense, and we may not be alad#rict or retain qualified personnel in the
future, including scientists, biostatisticians @adhnicians, due to the competition for qualifiesigpnnel among life science businesses as we
as universities and public and private researdititions, particularly in the San Francisco Baye#rIn addition, our compensation
arrangements, such as our equity award programsnotaalways be successful in attracting new enggsyand retaining and motivating our
existing employees. If we are not able to attract @tain the necessary personnel to accomplishuginess objectives, we may experience
constraints that could adversely affect our abtlitygcale our business, support our research arelaggement efforts and our clinical laboratory.
We believe that our corporate culture fosters iratiow, creativity and teamwork. However, as ouaoigation grows, we may find it
increasingly difficult to maintain the beneficiapects of our corporate culture. This could negitiimpact our ability to retain and attract
employees and our future success.

Development of new tests is a complex process,vaaanay be unable to commercialize new tests omelly basis, or at all

We cannot assure you that we will be abléavelop and commercialize new tests on a tima$ysb Before we can commercialize any
tests, we will need to expend significant fundsider to:

. conduct research and development;
. further develop and scale our laboratory proegsand
. further develop and scale our infrastructurbaable to analyze increasingly larger and morerderamounts of data.

Our testing service development processlires risk, and development efforts may fail fomypaeasons, including:

. failure of any test to perform as expected,;
. lack of validation or reference data; or
. failure to demonstrate utility of a test.

As we develop tests, we will have to malgaificant investments in development, marketing aelling resources. In addition,
competitors may develop and commercialize compeéats faster than we are able to do so.

International expansion of our business exposestadusiness, regulatory, political, operationalnfincial, and economic risks associat
with doing business outside of the United States.

We currently have a laboratory in Chile amstribution arrangements in several countried, @ business strategy contemplates
significant international expansion. We plan toegiimto additional distribution relationships toncct physician outreach activities and to
develop and expand payor
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relationships outside of the United States. Doingifess internationally involves a number of risksluding:

. multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regiaias such as privacy regulations, tax laws, exaond import restrictions,
employment laws, regulatory requirements, and agoeernmental approvals, permits and licenses;

. failure by us or our distributors to obtain regalgtapprovals for the use of our tests in variomusntries;

. complexities and difficulties in obtaining protextiand enforcing our intellectual property;

. difficulties in staffing and managing foreignerptions;

. complexities associated with managing multidggr reimbursement regimes, government payorsatent self-pay systems;
. logistics and regulations associated with slmgdilood samples, including infrastructure condisi@nd transportation delays;

. limits on our ability to penetrate internatiomaérkets if we do not to conduct our tests locally;

. financial risks, such as longer payment cydiéf§iculty collecting accounts receivable, the ingpaf local and regional financial

conditions on demand and payment for our testsgapdsure to foreign currency exchange rate flditing,;

. natural disasters, political and economic instihilncluding wars, terrorism, and political unrestitbreak of disease, boycotts,
curtailment of trade and other business restristiamd

. regulatory and compliance risks that relate to ma&img accurate information and control over atig that may fall within the
purview of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices ActFCPA, its books and records provisions, oriitis-lribery provisions.

Any of these factors could significantlyrifmeour future international expansion and operatiamd, consequently, our revenue and results
of operations.

In addition, applicable export or imponviaand regulations such as prohibitions on the exgdlood imposed by countries outside of
United States, or international privacy or datdrietions that are different or more stringent ttlanse of the United States, may require tha
build additional laboratories or engage in joinhttges or other business partnerships in ordeffén our tests internationally in the future. A
such restrictions would impair our ability to offeur tests in such countries and could have anraewdfect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our inability to raise additional capital on acceglle terms in the future may limit our ability toedvelop and commercialize new tests and
expand our operations.

We expect capital expenditures and opegagipenses to increase over the next several gsave expand our infrastructure, commercia
operations and research and development activithes proceeds from our initial public offering wilbt be sufficient to fully fund our business
and growth strategy. We may seek to raise additicagzital through equity offerings, debt financingsllaborations or licensing arrangements.
Additional funding may not be available to us ooegatable terms, or at all. If we raise funds bwiisg equity securities, dilution to our
stockholders would result. Any equity securitiesuisd also may provide for rights, preferences wil@ges senior to those of holders of our
common stock. The terms of debt securities issudmbiowings, if available, could impose signifitaestrictions on our operations. The
incurrence of additional indebtedness or the issaiaf certain equity securities could result ir@ased fixed payment obligations and could
also
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result in restrictive covenants, such as limitagion our ability to incur additional debt or isadalitional equity, limitations on our ability to
acquire or license intellectual property rightsg ather operating restrictions that could adveraéfgct our ability to conduct our business. In
addition, the issuance of additional equity semsiby us, or the possibility of such issuance, eayse the market price of our common stock
to decline. In the event that we enter into colfations or licensing arrangements to raise capitalimay be required to accept unfavorable
terms. These agreements may require that we rédimau license to a third party on unfavorable tewour rights to tests we otherwise would
seek to develop or commercialize ourselves, orveseertain opportunities for future potential agaments when we might be able to achiev:
more favorable terms. If we are not able to seadditional funding when needed, we may have toydedauce the scope of or eliminate one
or more research and development programs or geltid marketing initiatives. In addition, we may&ao work with a partner on one or m
aspects of our tests or market development prograrish could lower the economic value of thoséstes programs to our company.

We may acquire businesses or assets, form jointwess or make investments in other companies ottgalogies that could harm our
operating results, dilute our stockholders' owneiphor cause us to incur debt or significant expens

As part of our business strategy, we magypelacquisitions of complementary businessessat®sas well as technology licensing
arrangements. We also may pursue strategic allathed leverage our core technology and industpgeg&nce to expand our offerings or
distribution, or make investments in other compsnfes an organization, we have limited experienith vespect to acquisitions as well as the
formation of strategic alliances and joint ventulésie make any acquisitions in the future, we maybe able to integrate these acquisitions
successfully into our existing business, and wddcassume unknown or contingent liabilities. Anyufie acquisitions by us also could resul
significant write-offs or the incurrence of debtiazontingent liabilities, any of which could harmrmperating results. Integration of an
acquired company or business also may require neamaigt resources that otherwise would be availalerigoing development of our
existing business. We may not identify or compthtse transactions in a timely manner, on a cdettife basis, or at all, and we may not
realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisjttenhnology license, strategic alliance, jointtuea or investment.

To finance any acquisitions or investmewis may choose to raise additional funds. If weediinds by issuing equity securities, dilution
to our stockholders could result. Any equity setesiissued also may provide for rights, prefersrareprivileges senior to those of holders of
our common stock. If we raise funds by issuing delourities, these debt securities would havesjgireferences and privileges senior to ti
of holders of our common stock. The terms of debtsties issued or borrowings could impose sigaift restrictions on our operations. If we
raise funds through collaborations and licensimgragements, we might be required to relinquishiamt rights to our technologies or
products, or grant licenses on terms that areawatrfible to us. Once we become a public compariyeiprice of our common stock is low or
volatile, we may not be able to acquire other camgmfor stock. Alternatively, it may be necesdaryus to raise additional funds for these
activities through public or private financings. ditonal funds may not be available on terms thatfavorable to us, or at all.

We depend on our information technology systemsg amy failure of these systems could harm our biess.

We depend on information technology anddemmunications systems for significant elementsunfoperations, including our laboratory
information management system, our bioinformatitalytical software systems, our database of inftionaelating to genetic variations and
their role in disease process and drug metabotismglinical report optimization systems, our cusés-facing web-based software, our
customer reporting, and our family history and askessment tools. We have installed,
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and expect to expand, a number of enterprise sataystems that affect a broad range of businesepses and functional areas, including fo
example, systems handling human resources, filatmidrols and reporting, customer relationship agggment, regulatory compliance, and
other infrastructure operations. In addition, wieivd to extend the capabilities of both our preatwe and detective security controls by
augmenting the monitoring and alerting functiohg, metwork design, and the automatic countermeagertions of our technical systems.
These information technology and telecommunicat&ystems support a variety of functions, includetgpratory operations, test validation,
sample tracking, quality control, customer sengapport, billing and reimbursement, research angldpment activities, scientific and
medical curation, and general administrative ati¢igi In addition, our third-party billing and oeditions provider depends upon technology an
telecommunications systems provided by outside @end

Information technology and telecommunicagisystems are vulnerable to damage from a vasfetgurces, including telecommunicatic
or network failures, malicious human acts and ratdisasters. Moreover, despite network securitylzack-up measures, some of our servers
are potentially vulnerable to physical or electoobieak-ins, computer viruses, and similar disugfiroblems. Despite the precautionary
measures we have taken to prevent unanticipatdalgons that could affect our information technol@gyl telecommunications systems,
failures or significant downtime of our informatiéechnology or telecommunications systems or thissel by our thirgearty service providel
could prevent us from conducting tests, preparimd@oviding reports to physicians, billing paygrspcessing reimbursement appeals,
handling physician or patient inquiries, conductiagearch and development activities, and manabamgdministrative aspects of our busin
Any disruption or loss of information technologytetfecommunications systems on which critical atpetour operations depend could have
an adverse effect on our business.

Ethical, legal and social concerns related to theauof genetic information could reduce demand farrdests.

Genetic testing has raised ethical, legrad] social issues regarding privacy and the apjatepuses of the resulting information.
Governmental authorities could, for social or otherposes, limit or regulate the use of genetiorimfation or genetic testing or prohibit testing
for genetic predisposition to certain conditionartigularly for those that have no known cure. &nly, these concerns may lead patients to
refuse to use, or clinicians to be reluctant teeorgenomic tests even if permissible. These alner@thical, legal and social concerns may
market acceptance of our tests or reduce the pattemarkets for our tests, either of which couldédan adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, or results of operations.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or otherroper activities, including noncompliance with re¢atory standards and
requirements, which could cause significant liahliififor us and harm our reputation.

We are exposed to the risk of employeedi@uother misconduct, including intentional fadarto comply with government regulations or
similar regulations of comparable foreign regulgtauthorities, to provide accurate informationtie EDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities, to comply with federal and state Hezdte fraud and abuse laws and regulations anthsilanwvs and regulations established and
enforced by comparable foreign regulatory authesijtand to report financial information or dataumately or disclose unauthorized activities
to us. We have a code of conduct and ethics fodwactors, officers and employees, but it is Haiags possible to identify and deter emplo
misconduct, and the precautions we take to detetpeevent this activity may not be effective imtrolling risks or losses or in protecting us
from governmental investigations or other actionkwsuits stemming from a failure to be in comptia with such laws or regulations. If any
such actions are instituted against us, and weatrsuccessful in defending ourselves or assedimgights, those actions could have a
significant impact on our business and resultspafrations, including the imposition of significdimtes or other sanctions.
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Risks related to government regulation

If the FDA regulates our tests as medical deviceg could incur substantial costs and our busineisancial condition, and results o
operations could be adversely affected.

We provide our tests as laboratory-deveddpsts, or LDTs. The Centers for Medicare and EkdiServices, or CMS, and certain state
agencies regulate the performance of LDTs (as aatitbby the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amerahts of 1988, or CLIA, and state
law, respectively).

Historically, the U.S. Food and Drug Adnsination, or FDA, has exercised enforcement digmretith respect to most LDTs and has not
required laboratories that furnish LDTs to compigtvthe agency's requirements for medical deviees (establishment registration, device
listing, quality systems regulations, premarkeaicdce or premarket approval, and post-market algitin recent years, however, the FDA
has stated it intends to end its policy of generdbrcement discretion and regulate certain LDTmedical devices. To this end, on October 3
2014, the FDA issued two draft guidance documemstled "Framework for Regulatory Oversight of bastory Developed Tests (LDTs)"
and "FDA Notification and Medical Device Reportifag Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTs)", respectiyéhat set forth a proposed risk-
based regulatory framework that would apply varyewels of FDA oversight to LDTs. The FDA has iralied that it does not intend to mod
its policy of enforcement discretion until the drgfiidance documents are finalized. It is uncledhia time when, or if, the draft guidance
documents will be finalized, and even then, the negulatory requirements are proposed to be phisseshsistent with the schedule set forth
in the guidance (in as little as 12 months afterdhaft guidance is finalized for certain high-pitio LDTs). Nevertheless, the FDA may decide
to regulate certain LDTs on a case-by-case basisyatime.

Legislative proposals addressing the FId&&rsight of LDTs have been introduced in previGoesigresses, and we expect that new
legislative proposals will be introduced from tinmetime. The likelihood that Congress will passtsiegislation and the extent to which such
legislation may affect the FDA's plans to regulzetain LDTs as medical devices is difficult to gt at this time.

If the FDA ultimately regulates certain LBas medical devices, whether via final guidanoe] fegulation, or as instructed by Congress
our tests may be subject to certain additional letgry requirements. Complying with the FDA's reguients for medical devices can be
expensive, timesonsuming, and subject us to significant or ungmdied delays. Insofar as we may be required taiolpremarket clearance
approval to perform or continue performing an LOVE cannot assure you that we will be able to ol#ach authorization. Even if we obtain
regulatory clearance or approval where requirech swthorization may not be for the intended usaswe believe are commercially attractive
or are critical to the commercial success of ositsteAs a result, the application of the FDA's maldevice requirements to our tests could
materially and adversely affect our business, fimgrcondition, and results of operations.

Failure to comply with applicable FDA regidry requirements may trigger a range of enforcgraetions by the FDA including warning
letters, civil monetary penalties, injunctionspainal prosecution, recall or seizure, operatingriefons, partial suspension or total shutdow
operations, and denial of or challenges to apptinatfor clearance or approval, as well as sigaiftadverse publicity.

In addition, in November 2013, the FDA isddinal guidance regarding the distribution ofdurots labeled for research use only. Certain
of the reagents and other products we use in sts &e labeled as research use only productsieftour suppliers may cease selling
research use only products to us and any failuobtain an acceptable substitute could signifigaatld adversely affect our business, financia
condition and results of operations.
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If we fail to comply with federal, state and foreigaboratory licensing requirements, we could lothe ability to perform our tests ¢
experience disruptions to our business.

We are subject to CLIA, a federal law tregjulates clinical laboratories that perform tegtim specimens derived from humans for the
purpose of providing information for the diagnogisgvention, or treatment of disease. CLIA regaolaiestablish specific standards with
respect to personnel qualifications, facility adistiration, proficiency testing, quality control, ity assurance, and inspections. CLIA
certification is also required in order for us dligible to bill state and federal healthcaregpams, as well as many private thpdrty payors
for our tests. We have a current CLIA certificatecbnduct our tests at our laboratory in San FeaaciTo renew this certificate, we are subjec
to survey and inspection every two years. Moreo@&tA inspectors may make random inspections ofadmical reference laboratory.

We are also required to maintain a licdnseonduct testing in California. California lanst&blish standards for day-to-day operation of
our clinical reference laboratory in San Franciseoluding the training and skills required of pmreel and quality control. We also maintain
licenses to conduct testing in Florida, Marylanen®sylvania and Rhode Island. Our clinical refeeclaboratories are required to be licensed
on a test-specific basis by New York State as drobstate laboratory and our products, as LDTsstrbbe approved by the New York State
Department of Health, or NYDOH, before they aré@ened on specimens from New York. Once approveriywould also be subject to
periodic inspection by the NYDOH and required tondastrate ongoing compliance with NYDOH regulatiansl standards. Because our
laboratories are not licensed by New York, we ameently prohibited from testing samples from Newrk. Other states may adopt similar
licensure requirements in the future, which mayneus to modify, delay or stop our operationstich jurisdictions. We may also be subject
to regulation in foreign jurisdictions as we seelexpand international utilization of our testssach jurisdictions adopt new licensure
requirements, which may require review of our t@stsrder to offer them or may have other limitassuch as restrictions on the transport of
human blood necessary for us to perform our téstisnhay limit our ability to make our tests avaléabutside of the United States. Complying
with licensure requirements in new jurisdictionsynb& expensive, time-consuming, and subject ugtoficant and unanticipated delays.

Failure to comply with applicable clinidaboratory licensure requirements may result iareye of enforcement actions, including license
suspension, limitation, or revocation, directechpdé action, onsite monitoring, civil monetary p#ies, criminal sanctions, and cancellation of
the laboratory's approval to receive Medicare ardlighid payment for its services, as well as sigaift adverse publicity. Any sanction
imposed under CLIA, its implementing regulationsstate or foreign laws or regulations governirigichl laboratory licensure, or our failure
to renew our CLIA certificate, a state or foreiggehse, or accreditation, could have a materiakesbveffect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Even if weenalle to bring our laboratory back into complignee could incur significant expenses and
potentially lose revenue in doing so.

The College of American Pathologists, orfFCMaintains a clinical laboratory accreditatioogram. Designed to go well beyond
regulatory compliance, CAP asserts that the prodrelps laboratories achieve the highest standdrelgsogllence to positively impact patient
care. While not required to operate a CLIA-certiflaboratory, many private insurers require CAPeditation as a condition to contracting
with clinical laboratories to cover their tests.dddition, some countries outside the United Staggsire CAP accreditation as a condition to
permitting clinical laboratories to test sampldsetafrom their citizens. In November 2014, we ab¢ai CAP accreditation for our San
Francisco laboratory. Failure to maintain CAP aditation could have a material adverse effect enstlles of our tests and the results of our
operations.
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Complying with numerous statutes and regulationgfaéning to our business is an expensive and timesuming process, and any failure
to comply could result in substantial penalties.

Our operations are subject to other extentgderal, state, local and foreign laws and regpns, all of which are subject to change. Thes
laws and regulations currently include, among ather

. HIPAA, which established comprehensive federalddiacis with respect to the privacy and securityroterted health
information and requirements for the use of cerstémdardized electronic transactions;

. amendments to HIPAA under HITECH, which stremgtland expand HIPAA privacy and security compliamagiirements,
increase penalties for violators, extend enforcdraathority to state attorneys general, and impegairements for breach
notification;

. the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohitktsowingly and willfully offering, paying, solicitig, or receiving
remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly onaatly, in cash or in kind, in return for or to ¢k such person to refer an
individual, or to purchase, lease, order, arragedr recommend purchasing, leasing or ordering,good, facility, item or
service that is reimbursable, in whole or in pantjer a federal healthcare program;

. the federal Stark physician self-referral law, whprohibits a physician from making a referral ¢ertain designated health
services covered by the Medicare program, incluthbgratory and pathology services, if the physi@aan immediate family
member has a financial relationship with the engityviding the designated health services, andipitstithat entity from billing
or presenting a claim for the designated healthices furnished pursuant to the prohibited refeuraless an exception applies;

. the federal false claims laws, which impose ligpitin any person or entity that, among other thikgswingly presents, or
causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent ¢taigayment to the federal government;

. the federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which lpitiits, among other things, the offering or trangferemuneration to a
Medicare or state healthcare program beneficiattyefperson knows or should know it is likely tfluence the beneficiary's
selection of a particular provider, practitionersapplier of services reimbursable by Medicara state healthcare program,
unless an exception applies;

. the HIPAA fraud and abuse provisions, which creatent federal criminal statutes that prohibit, amotiger things, defrauding
healthcare programs, willfully obstructing a crimlimvestigation of a healthcare offense and fgilsif or concealing a material
fact or making any materially false statementsannection with the payment for healthcare bendfigss or services;

. other federal and state fraud and abuse laves, @si anti-kickback laws, prohibitions on self-redé fee-splitting restrictions,
insurance fraud laws, anti-markup laws, prohibiiam the provision of tests at no or discounted wsduce physician or
patient adoption, and false claims acts, which egnd to services reimbursable by any third-ppatyor, including private
insurers;

. the prohibition on reassignment of Medicareroiiwhich, subject to certain exceptions, precliubdeseassignment of Medicare
claims to any other party;

. state laws that prohibit other specified pradicsuch as billing physicians for testing thaytheder; waiving coinsurance,

copayments, deductibles, and other amounts owegutignts; billing a state Medicaid program at &gthat is higher than what
is charged to one or more other payors; and
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. similar foreign laws and regulations that apply$oin the countries in which we operate or may afgein the future.

We have adopted policies and proceduregmed to comply with these laws and regulationghordinary course of our business, we
conduct internal reviews of our compliance withsiliéaws. Our compliance is also subject to govermaheeview. The growth of our business
and our expansion outside of the United Statesinm@agase the potential of violating these lawswrioternal policies and procedures. The
of our being found in violation of these or othawk and regulations is further increased by thetfet many have not been fully interpreted by
the regulatory authorities or the courts, and theivisions are open to a variety of interpretatiohny action brought against us for violatior
these or other laws or regulations, even if we sssftlly defend against it, could cause us to istymificant legal expenses and divert our
management's attention from the operation of osimass. If our operations are found to be in viotabf any of these laws and regulations,
may be subject to any applicable penalty associatédthe violation, including administrative, didnd criminal penalties, damages, fines,
individual imprisonment, exclusion from participatiin Federal healthcare programs, refunding ofnemts received by us, and curtailment ol
cessation of our operations. Any of the foregoiogsequences could seriously harm our businessuarfthancial results.

We could be adversely affected by violations of B@&PA and other worldwide anti-bribery laws.

We are also subject to the FCPA, which flmitdicompanies and their intermediaries from mgkiayments in violation of law to ndn:S.
government officials for the purpose of obtainingetaining business or securing any other impregeantage. Our reliance on independent
distributors to sell our tests internationally demsia high degree of vigilance in maintaining ocoligy against participation in corrupt activity,
because these distributors could be deemed torbagents, and we could be held responsible for #ations. Other U.S. companies in the
medical device and pharmaceutical fields have faceainal penalties under the FCPA for allowingittegents to deviate from appropriate
practices in doing business with these individudle. are also subject to similar anti-bribery lawstie jurisdictions in which we operate,
including the United Kingdom's Bribery Act of 20Mhich also prohibits commercial bribery and makescrime for companies to fail to
prevent bribery. These laws are complex and fachieg in nature, and, as a result, we cannot agsur¢hat we would not be required in the
future to alter one or more of our practices torbeompliance with these laws or any changes inghaws or the interpretation thereof. Any
violations of these laws, or allegations of suatiations, could disrupt our operations, involvengigant management distraction, involve
significant costs and expenses, including lega,faad could result in a material adverse effeawarbusiness, prospects, financial condition,
or results of operations. We could also incur seyemalties, including criminal and civil penalfidssgorgement, and other remedial measure

Healthcare policy changes, including recently enadtlegislation reforming the U.S. healthcare systemay have a material adverse efft
on our financial condition, results of operationsral cash flows.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection arfable Care Act, as amended by the Health CagdeEalucation Reconciliation Act,
collectively referred to as the Affordable Care Agtas enacted in the United States, which maderbauof substantial changes in the way
healthcare is financed by both governmental andateiinsurers. Among other things, the AffordabéeeCAct:

. requires each medical device manufacturer togpsgles tax equal to 2.3% of the price for whisthsmanufacturer sells its
medical devices, and began to apply to sales ablaxmedical devices after December 31, 2012.Ubdear at this time when,
or if, the provision of our LDTs will trigger theedical device tax if the FDA ends its policy of gesl enforcement discretion
and regulates certain LDTs as medical devices.pbssible, however, that this tax will apply tongoor all of our tests or tests
which are in development.
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. mandates a reduction in payments for clinical latmmy services paid under the Medicare Clinicaldrabory Fee Schedule of
1.75% for the years 2011 through 2015. In additeoomulti-factor productivity adjustment is madetie fee schedule payment
amount.

. establishes an Independent Payment Advisorydtmareduce the per capita rate of growth in Medicgending. The

Independent Payment Advisory Board has broad disoré propose policies, which may have a negatiygact on payment
rates for our tests beginning in 2016.

The Medicare Physician Fee Schedule ratedidgnostic tests are updated annually undecuhent statutory formula. For the past
several years, the application of the statutorynfda would have resulted in substantial paymentctdns to all items and services reimburse
under the Physician Fee Schedule if Congress lilad ta intervene. In the past, Congress has paaseiim legislation to prevent the
decreases, with the most current legislation pestigothe payment reductions through March 31, 201Gongress fails to pass legislation to
prevent application of the sustainable growth patgment reductions beginning April 1, 2015, orday future deadline, the resulting decrease
in payment could materially adversely impact owereie for services reimbursed under the MedicaysiBian Fee Scheduleg. , physician
interpretation of molecular testing.

Many of the Current Procedure TerminolayyCPT, procedure codes that we use to bill ous t@sre revised by the American Medical
Association, effective January 1, 2013. Moreoves, AMA recently released new codes to report gen@®guencing procedures, and in
November 2014, CMS published a final determinatiaat sets the price for these codes for purposealehdar year 2015 via the «filling
methodology, where Medicare contractors estahlisldiction-specific payment amounts for thesestegfsom which national limits may be set
under Medicare for 2016. We do not yet know howtests may fit under these new codes, but if weegaired to report our tests under these
codes, we cannot assure you that Medicare or itsacors will set adequate reimbursement ratethise new codes.

In April 2014, Congress passed the Pratgchiccess to Medicare Act of 2014, or PAMA, whidkluded substantial changes to the we
which clinical laboratory services will be paid wmdedicare. Under PAMA, clinical laboratories meegport to Medicare private payor rates
beginning in 2016 and every three years therefdtarlinical diagnostic laboratory tests that aoct advanced diagnostic laboratory tests and
every year for advanced diagnostic laboratory tégtsadvanced diagnostic laboratory test is a cdihdiagnostic laboratory test covered under
Medicare that is offered and furnished only byrayk laboratory and not sold for use by a laboyatdher than the original developing
laboratory (or a successor owner) and meets ottedbllowing criteria: (1) the test is an analysfanultiple biomarkers of DNA, RNA, or
proteins combined with a unique algorithm to yialdingle patient-specific result; (2) the testi&aped or approved by the FDA, or (3) the test
meets other similar criteria established by the&acy of Health and Human Services (no criterigelaeen established by the Secretary as of
October 2014).

We do not believe that our tests meet thieeat definition of advanced diagnostic laboratsts, but in the event that our tests are
determined by CMS to meet these criteria or netega developed by CMS, we would be required toreprivate payor data for those tests
annually. Otherwise, we will be required to regmitvate payor rates for our tests on an every theses basis. Laboratories that fail to report
the required payment information may be subjesitostantial civil money penalties.

For tests furnished on or after Januad0l,7, Medicare payments for clinical diagnosticlabory tests will be paid based upon these
reported private payor rates. For clinical diagiwdsioratory tests that are assigned a new orntanotislly revised code, initial payment rates
clinical diagnostic laboratory tests that are ridtemced diagnostic laboratory tests will be assignethe cross-walk or gap-fill methodology,
as under prior law. Initial payment rates for nelwanced diagnostic laboratory tests will be basethe actual list charge for the laboratory
test. The impact of
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the new payment system on rates for our testaydimad) any current or future clinical diagnosticdadtory tests or advanced diagnostic
laboratory tests we develop, is not clear at ihigt

We cannot predict whether future healthdait&atives will be implemented at the federalstate level, or how any future legislation or
regulation may affect us. For instance, the paymeshiictions imposed by the Affordable Care Act tiedexpansion of the federal and state
governments' role in the U.S. healthcare industryell as changes to the reimbursement amountshygidyors for our tests and future tes
our medical procedure volumes may reduce our grafid have a materially adverse effect on our legsirfinancial condition, results of
operations, and cash flows. Moreover, Congrespr@msed on several occasions to impose a 20%uraimse on patients for clinical
laboratory tests reimbursed under the clinical tatmry fee schedule, which would increase ourrgliand collecting costs and decrease our
revenue.

If we use hazardous materials in a manner that cassnjury, we could be liable for resulting damag:

Our activities currently require the usénazardous chemicals and biological material. Weoteliminate the risk of accidental
contamination or injury to employees or third pestfrom the use, storage, handling, or dispostidexfe materials. In the event of
contamination or injury, we could be held liable &my resulting damages, and any liability couldezsd our resources or any applicable
insurance coverage we may have. Additionally, veesabject on an ongoing basis to federal, state|aal laws and regulations governing
use, storage, handling and disposal of these raltemd specified waste products. The cost of camgt with these laws and regulations may
become significant, and our failure to comply megult in substantial fines or other consequencesgeither could negatively affect our
operating results.

Risks related to our intellectual property

Litigation or other proceedings or thir-party claims of intellectual property infringemerndr misappropriation have and may continue to
require us to spend significant time and money, acwlld in the future prevent us from selling ourdts or impact our stock price.

Our commercial success will depend in parbur avoiding infringement of patents and praprigrights of third parties, including for
example the intellectual property rights of comjmesi. Our activities may be subject to claims thatinfringe or otherwise violate patents
owned or controlled by third parties. Numerous W& foreign patents and pending patent applicatoist in the genetic testing market and
are owned by third parties. We cannot assure yatuathr operations do not, or will not in the futurdringe existing or future patents. We may
be unaware of patents that a third party, includorgexample a competitor in the genetic testingk®g might assert are infringed by our
business. There may also be patent applicationsitlissued as patents, could be asserted agasngdthird parties making claims against us fol
infringement or misappropriation of their intelleat property rights may seek and obtain injunctivether equitable relief, which could
effectively block our ability to perform our testurther, if a patent infringement suit were brouageainst us, we could be forced to stop or
delay our development or sales of any tests orr @tttévities that are the subject of such suit.ddsk of these claims, regardless of merit, coul
cause us to incur substantial expenses and bestastibl diversion of our employee resources. énabvent of a successful claim of
infringement against us by a third party, we mayeh (1) pay substantial damages, including trdbimages and attorneys' fees if we are
found to have willfully infringed patents; (2) obtaone or more licenses, which may not be availableommercially reasonable terms (if at
all); (3) pay royalties; and (4) redesign any infling tests or other activities, which may be ingilole or require substantial time and monetan
expenditure.

On November 26, 2013, in response to ig&ment allegations by Myriad we sued Myriad in Mwethern District of California for
declaratory judgment that certain of its U.S. peseme invalid and
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not infringed by our tests. This case was constdiifor pre-trial proceedings with actions for inffrement by Myriad together with certain of
its licensors, the Myriad Plaintiffs, against sther companies. See "ltem 3—Legal proceedings."Miwéad Plaintiffs counterclaimed against
us, alleging that our tests infringe those patantsalleging that we are willfully infringing thopatents. On January 23, 2015, the Myriad
Plaintiffs stipulated to the dismissal with prejeeliof all of their claims and granted us a covenanto sue for all of the patents they had
asserted against us, and on January 26, 2015¢theissued an order dismissing the case with gieguthereby ending the litigation.

As we continue to commercialize our testtheir current or an updated form, launch différemd expanded tests, and enter new markets
other competitors might claim that our tests irdaror misappropriate their intellectual properghts as part of business strategies designed |
impede our successful commercialization and emtiy mew markets. If such a suit were brought, rdigas of merit, we could incur substantial
costs and diversion of the attention of our managgrand technical personnel in defending oursedgadnst such claims. Any adverse ruling
or perception of an adverse ruling in defendingselves could have a material adverse impact orcaslr position and stock price.
Furthermore, parties making claims against us reak and thereby potentially obtain injunctive drestrelief, which could block our ability
commercialize our tests, and could result in tharavof substantial damages against us. In the efensuccessful claim of infringement or
misappropriation against us, we may be requirgthfodamages and obtain one or more licenses frischghrties, or be prohibited from
commercializing certain tests, all of which coulive a material adverse impact on our cash posticibusiness and financial condition.

If licenses to third-party intellectual perty rights are or become required for us to eagagur business, we may be unable to obtain
them at a reasonable cost, if at all. Even if diggnses are available, we could incur substantats related to royalty payments for licenses
obtained from third parties, which could negativaffect our gross margins. Moreover, we could entaudelays in the introduction of tests
while we attempt to develop alternatives. Deferfsang lawsuit or failure to obtain any of theseelises on favorable terms could prevent us
from commercializing tests, which could materiaf§ect our ability to grow and thus adversely affegr business and financial condition.

Developments in patent law could have a negativ@att on our business

We believe that naturally occurring DNA segces should not be patentable, and we do nantlythave any patents or patent
applications directed to such sequences nor haviesieensed such patents rights of any third pdrithis regard, a few key cases involving
diagnostic method claims and "gene patents" hasently been decided by the U.S. Supreme Court. @rcM20, 2012, the U.S. Supreme
Court issued a decision Mayo Collaborative v. Prometheus Laboratories, or Mayo , a case involving patent claims directed to opting on ¢
patient-specific basis the dosage of a certain Gyugeasuring its metabolites in a patientMayo , the U.S. Supreme Court determined that
patent claims directed at detection of naturaledations, such as the correlation between drughméta levels in a patient and that drug's
optimal dosage for such patient, are not eligiblepiatent protection. THdayo Court held that claims based on this type of coisparbetwee
an observed fact and an understanding of thasfmeplications represent attempts to patent a ablaw and, moreover, when the processe
making the comparison are not themselves suffilgiémtentive, claims to such processes are sinyilpdtent-ineligible. On June 13, 2013, the
U.S. Supreme Court decidédsociation for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics, or Myriad , a case brought by multiple plaintiffs
challenging the validity of certain patent claimecby Myriad relating to the breast cancer susb#ipgf genes BRCA1 and BRCAZ2. In
Myriad , the U.S. Supreme Court held that genomic DNAthh®e been isolated from, or have the same sequEnaaturally occurring
samples, such as the DNA constituting the BRCA1BREA2 genes or fragments thereof, are not eligitmgpatent protection. Instead, the
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Myriad Court held that only those complementary DNAs,DNAs, which have a sequence that differs from anadlly occurring fragment of
genomic DNA may be patent eligible. Because it balapplied by other courts to all gene patentshtiiding inMyriad also invalidates patent
claims to other genes and gene variants. On Jun2019, the U.S. Supreme Court decidéide Corporation v. CLS Bank (2014), or Alice,
where it amplified itdMayo andMyriad decisions and clarified the analytical frameworkdestinguishing between patents that claim laws of
nature, natural phenomena and abstract ideas asd that claim patent-eligible applications of sachcepts. According to thdice Court, the
analysis depends on whether a patent claim dirdotadaw of nature, a natural phenomenon or atradisdea contains additional elements
"inventive concept,” that "is 'sufficient to enstinat the patent in practice amounts to signifigamtore than a patent upon the [ineligible
concept] itself" (citingMayo ).

Although we view thiayo, Myriad andAlice cases as aligned with our belief that naturallyjuoéog DNA sequences should not be
patentable, it is possible that subsequent detatioims by the U.S. Supreme Court or other federaits could limit, alter or potentially
overrule the holdings of such cases. Moreover, fiiame to time the U.S. Supreme Court, other fedeoatts, the United States Congress ol
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, maygédhe standards of patentability, and any suahgds could run contrary to, or
otherwise be inconsistent with, our belief thatunally occurring DNA sequences should not be pataet

We cannot fully predict what impact the USsipreme Court's decisionshtayo, Myriad andAlice may have on the ability of various th
parties, including competitors with substantiabtgses, to obtain or enforce patents relating ttegegenomic discoveries or genetic testing
services currently or in the future. Thiayo, Myriad andAlice decisions are relatively new, and the precise aostof patent eligibility with
respect to claims to laws of nature, natural phesraror abstract ideas are not yet fully settledraay take many years to develop, including
through further interpretation in the courts. Thare many patents claiming testing methods basesihafar or related correlations that issued
beforeMayo, and although some or many of these patents mawhé&d under the standard set forthMiayo , until successfully challenged,
these patents may be entitled to a presumptiomladity and enforceability in litigation, and ceiniahird parties could allege that we infringe,
or request that we obtain a license to, these matérhether based on patents issued prior to erftyo , we could have to defend ourselves
against claims of patent infringement, or chooslictmse rights, if available, under patents claignéuch methods. Moreover, although the
Supreme Court has heldlityriad that isolated genomic DNA is not patent-eligibléjeat matter, certain third parties could allegat th
activities that we may undertake infringe othessks of gene-related patent claims, and we cowle teedefend ourselves against these claim
by asserting non-infringement or invalidity posits or pay to obtain a license to these claimaninof the foregoing or in other situations
involving thirdparty intellectual property rights, if we are unsessful in defending against claims of patentmgfement, we could be forcec
pay damages or be subjected to an injunction thatdwrevent us from utilizing the patented subjeatter in question if we are unable to
obtain a license on reasonable terms. Such outcomgd materially affect our ability to offer owgstts and have a material adverse impact on
our business. Even if we are able to obtain a $iear successfully defend against claims of patérihgement, the cost and distraction
associated with the defense or settlement of tbles®s could have a material adverse impact orbaamess.

With respect to our own patent protecti@eent patent reform legislation could increaseutieertainties and costs surrounding the
prosecution of any patent applications and thereefoent or defense of any patents that issue. Pre®ber 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith
America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, wagngd into law. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a nunmdfesignificant changes to U.S.
patent law. These include provisions that affeetwlay patent applications are prosecuted, redefiloe art, may affect patent litigation and
switch the U.S. patent system from a "first-to-int/esystem to a "first-to-file" system. Under arsti-to-file" system, assuming the other
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requirements for patentability are met, the finstantor to file a patent application generally v# entitled to the patent on an invention
regardless of whether another inventor had madattemtion earlier. The USPTO has developed newlatigns and procedures to govern
administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and manytef substantive changes to patent law associatbdive Leahy-Smith Act, including in
particular the first-to-file provisions, becameesffive on March 16, 2013. Among other changesd@#tent laws are features that limit where
a patentee may file a patent infringement suitthatiprovide opportunities for third parties to kérage any issued patent in the USPTO. The
Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increaseuheertainties and costs surrounding the prosetuefiour patent applications and
enforcement or defense of any patents that is$ius, which could harm our business and financm@hdition. In addition, further patent reform
legislation may pass in the future that could lEaddditional uncertainties and increased cost®snding the prosecution, enforcement and
defense of patent applications and any patents ayeaitain.

Our inability to effectively protect our proprietgrtechnologies, including the confidentiality of odrade secrets, could harm our competiti
position.

We currently rely upon trade secret pratecand copyright, as well as non-disclosure agm#mand invention assignment agreements
with our employees, consultants and third-paraesl to a limited extent patent protection, to prbr confidential and proprietary
information. Although our competitors have utilizaxd are expected to continue utilizing similar Imoels and have aggregated and are
expected to continue to aggregate similar databafsgsnetic testing information, our success walpdnd upon our ability to develop
proprietary methods and databases and to defenddwantages afforded to us by such methods antatkasa relative to our competitors. If we
do not protect our intellectual property adequatetympetitors may be able to use our methods atadbdses and thereby erode any compe
advantages we may have.

We will be able to protect our proprietaights from unauthorized use by third parties dolyhe extent that our proprietary technologies
are covered by valid and enforceable patents oeféeetively maintained as trade secrets. In thgard, we have applied, and we intend to
continue applying, for patents covering such aspeftbur technologies as we deem appropriate. Heweve expect that potential patent
coverage we may obtain will not be sufficient teyent substantial competition. In this regard, wkelve it is probable that others will
independently develop similar or alternative tedbg®s or design around technologies for which vas mbtain patent protection. In addition,
any patent applications we file may be challengatiraay not result in issued patents or may be id&tdd or narrowed in scope after they are
issued. Questions as to inventorship or ownerskip atso arise. Any finding that our patents or agapions are unenforceable could harm our
ability to prevent others from practicing the rethtechnology, and a finding that others have itorship or ownership rights to our patents
applications could require us to obtain certaitsgo practice related technologies, which maybeoavailable on favorable terms, if at all. If
we initiate lawsuits to protect or enforce our pédeor litigate against third party claims, whighuld be expensive, and, if we lose, we may
lose some of our intellectual property rights. Rarmore, these lawsuits may divert the attentioousfmanagement and technical personnel.

We expect to rely primarily upon trade s¢€iand proprietary know-how protection for ourfaential and proprietary information, and
we have taken security measures to protect thigrimdtion. These measures, however, may not praddquate protection for our trade
secrets, know-how, or other confidential informatidmong other things, we seek to protect our tisatrets and confidential information by
entering into confidentiality agreements with enygles and consultants. There can be no assurari@theonfidentiality agreements that we
have with our employees and consultants will previtkaningful protection for our trade secrets andidential information or will provide
adequate remedies in the event of unauthorizedudisclosure of such

51




Table of Contents

information. Accordingly, there also can be no aasce that our trade secrets will not otherwiseolrecknown or be independently developed
by competitors. Enforcing a claim that a partygl#ly disclosed or misappropriated a trade se@etoe difficult, expensive, and time-
consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. litiaddtrade secrets may be independently develdyyeathers in a manner that could
prevent legal recourse by us. If any of our conftde or proprietary information, such as our tragerets, were to be disclosed or
misappropriated, or if any such information waseipendently developed by a competitor, our competitiosition could be harmed.

We may not be able to enforce our intellectual peoty rights throughout the world.

The laws of some foreign countries do motext proprietary rights to the same extent adatvs of the United States, and many
companies have encountered significant challengestablishing and enforcing their proprietary tigbutside of the United States. These
challenges can be caused by the absence of rudeseaimods for the establishment and enforcemeinteifectual property rights outside of t
United States. In addition, the legal systems afesgountries, particularly developing countriespdbfavor the enforcement of patents and
other intellectual property protection, especidifigse relating to healthcare. This could makeffiadilt for us to stop the infringement of our
patents, if obtained, or the misappropriation af athher intellectual property rights. For exampigny foreign countries have compulsory
licensing laws under which a patent owner musttgia@nses to third parties. In addition, many doies limit the enforceability of patents
against third parties, including government ageoiegovernment contractors. In these countriggngmay provide limited or no benefit.
Patent protection must ultimately be sought onuntrg-by-country basis, which is an expensive amegiconsuming process with uncertain
outcomes. Accordingly, we may choose not to seédnpgrotection in certain countries, and we wit have the benefit of patent protection ir
such countries. Proceedings to enforce our paitgmisrin foreign jurisdictions could result in stdostial costs and divert our efforts and
attention from other aspects of our business. Atingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual pesty rights in such countries may be
inadequate. In addition, changes in the law andlldgcisions by courts in the United States aneéidor countries may affect our ability to
obtain adequate protection for our technology &edenforcement of intellectual property.

Third parties may assert that our employees or agients have wrongfully used or disclosed confidettinformation or misappropriated
trade secrets.

We employ individuals who were previoushgpoyed at universities or genetic testing, diagicaw other healthcare companies,
including our competitors or potential competitokthough we try to ensure that our employees antbualtants do not use the proprietary
information or know-how of others in their work fos, we may be subject to claims that we or ourleyegs or consultants have inadvertently
or otherwise used or disclosed intellectual propéntcluding trade secrets or other proprietarpinfation, of a former employer or other third
parties. Further, we may be subject to ownerstdgpudes in the future arising, for example, fromflioting obligations of consultants or others
who are involved in developing our intellectual peaty. Litigation may be necessary to defend agéiese claims. If we fail in defending any
such claims, in addition to paying monetary damagesmay lose valuable intellectual property rightpersonnel. Even if we are successf
defending against such claims, litigation couldites substantial costs and be a distraction toagament and other employees.
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Risks related to being a public company

We will incur increased costs and demands on maragat as a result of compliance with laws and regtidas applicable to public
companies, which could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we will incur signdiat legal, accounting and other expenses that dvaatiincur as a private company, including
costs associated with public company reportingirequents. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act d2,0r the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well
as rules implemented by the SEC and the New YarkkSExchange, or NYSE, impose a number of requirgsnen public companies,
including with respect to corporate governancetwas. The SEC and other regulators have contitmedopt new rules and regulations and
make additional changes to existing regulationsréaguire our compliance. In July 2010, the DoddrkrWall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was enaciliétere are significant corporate governance anduixe-compensation-related provisions
in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to aduutitional rules and regulations in these areas.ntanagement and other personnel will
need to devote a substantial amount of time tcetbempliance and disclosure obligations. If thespiirements divert the attention of our
management and personnel from other aspects dfusimess concerns, they could have a material selwdfect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, ¢heses and regulations applicable to public congmawill substantially increase our legal,
accounting and financial compliance costs, reqihia¢ we hire additional personnel and make sonieiées more time-consuming and costly.
We also expect that it will be more expensive fotaiobtain director and officer liability insurandNe cannot predict or estimate the amount
or timing of additional costs we may incur to cognplith these requirements.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effeatiinternal control over financial reporting, invests may lose confidence in the accura
and completeness of our reported financial infornia and the market price of our common stock mayegatively affected.

As a public company, we will be requiredriaintain internal control over financial reportiagd to report any material weaknesses in
internal control. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-O®Reyrequires that we evaluate and determine tfez@feness of our internal control over
financial reporting and, beginning with our anntegdort for the year ending December 31, 2015, peei management report on our internal
control over financial reporting. If we have a ntateweakness in our internal control over finahcéporting, we may not detect errors on a
timely basis and our financial statements may bterizdly misstated. We are in the process of coimgithe system and processing
documentation necessary to perform the evaluagéeaed to comply with Section 404 of the SarbandsyOXct. We may not be able to
complete our evaluation, testing and any requiesdediation in a timely fashion.

During the evaluation and testing procésge identify one or more material weaknessesuninoternal controls, our management will be
unable to conclude that our internal control owearficial reporting is effective. Moreover, when are no longer an emerging growth comp
our independent registered public accounting firithlve required to issue an attestation reporttaneffectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting. Even if our management conekithat our internal control over financial repagtis effective, our independent registered
public accounting firm may conclude that thererasgerial weaknesses with respect to our internatrots or the level at which our internal
controls are documented, designed, implementeevizwed.

If we are unable to conclude that our imécontrol over financial reporting is effectivar,when we are no longer an emerging growth
company, if our auditors were to express an advausgon on the effectiveness of our internal cohtrver financial reporting because we had
one or more material weaknesses, investors costldonfidence in the accuracy and completenessrdimancial disclosures, which could
cause the price of our common stock to declinerial control deficiencies could also result in thstatement of our financial results in the
future.
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We are an emerging growth company and may eleatdmply with reduced public company reporting regeiments applicable to emerging
growth companies, which could make our common stéegs attractive to investor

We are an emerging growth company, as ddfimder the Securities Act of 1933, or the Saesridct. We will remain an emerging
growth company for up to five years, although if cevenue exceeds $1 billion in any fiscal yeaobethat time, we would cease to be an
emerging growth company as of the end of that figear. In addition, if the market value of our aowwn stock that is held by non-affiliates
exceeds $700 million as of the last business dayup&econd fiscal quarter of any fiscal year beetbe end of that five-year period, we would
cease to be an emerging growth company as of DemeB®ibof that year. As an emerging growth compamymay choose to take advantag
exemptions from various reporting requirements igpple to certain other public companies, includiog being required to comply with the
auditor attestation requirements of Section 40thefSarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced financial staterardtfinancialrelated disclosures, reduc
disclosure obligations regarding executive compigmsan our periodic reports and proxy statemeats] exemptions from the requirement of
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive pensation and obtaining stockholder approval ofgoigen parachute payments not
previously approved by our stockholders. We capnedict whether investors will find our common $tdess attractive if we choose to rely
any of these exemptions. If investors find our canmtock less attractive as a result of any chdiwesduce future disclosure we may make,
there may be a less active trading market for outrnon stock and our stock price may be more velatil

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile, and you may notdige to sell shares of our common stock at or abdlve price you paid.

Prior to our initial public offering in Falary 2015, there was no public market for our camrstock, and an active and liquid public
market for our stock may not develop or be susthitreaddition, the trading price of our commoncgtés likely to be highly volatile and could
be subject to wide fluctuations in response toowegifactors, some of which are beyond our conftiioése factors include:

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults;
. competition from existing tests or new tests thayramerge;
. announcements by us or our competitors of sigmifieaquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint vees, collaborations, or

capital commitments;

. failure to meet or exceed financial estimates jgmjections of the investment community or thatprovide to the public;
. issuance of new or updated research or repgrseturities analysts or changed recommendationsufostock;

. our focus on long term goals over short ternultes

. the timing of our investments in the growth of dusiness;

. actual or anticipated changes in regulatory sight of our business;

. additions or departures of key management or qgteesonnel;

. disputes or other developments related to ourl@ttelal property or other proprietary rights, irdihg litigation;

. changes in reimbursement by current or potentiabrsa and
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. general economic and market conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general] the market for stock of life sciences compamggarticular, has experienced extreme price
volume fluctuations that have often been unrelatedisproportionate to the operating performancthose companies. Broad market and
industry factors may seriously affect the markétgof our common stock, regardless of our actpakating performance. In addition, in the
past, following periods of volatility in the overaharket and the market price of a particular conyfmsecurities, securities class action
litigation has often been instituted against themmpanies. This litigation, if instituted against gould result in substantial costs and a
diversion of our management's attention and regsurc

If securities or industry analysts issue an adverggnion regarding our stock or do not publish remeh or reports about our company, ol
stock price and trading volume could declir

The trading market for our common stocKk dépend in part on the research and reports thatyeresearch analysts publish about us anc
our business. We do not control these analystseocontent and opinions included in their rep@escurities analysts may elect not to provide
research coverage of our company and such lagksefirch coverage may adversely affect the marlost of our common stock. The price of
our common stock could also decline if one or neyeity research analysts downgrade our common stoidsue other unfavorable
commentary or cease publishing reports about asiobusiness. If one or more equity research atsatgase coverage of our company, we
could lose visibility in the market, which in tucould cause our stock price to decline.

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders kebcause our stock price to decline.

If our existing stockholders sell, or inglie an intention to sell, substantial amounts ofoommon stock in the public market after the
lock-up and other legal restrictions on resaleltegufrom our recent initial public offering, thteading price of our common stock could
decline. On February 28, 2015, 31,813,353 sharesmimon stock were outstanding. Of these shar@82,500 are freely tradable, without
restriction, in the public market. Each of our dicrs and officers and substantially all of ourasthtockholders has entered into a lock-up
agreement with the underwriters of our initial palffering that restricts their ability to sell ttensfer their shares. The lock-up agreements
will expire in August 2015. The underwriters, howevmay, in their sole discretion, waive the coctinal lock-up prior to the expiration of the
lock-up agreements. After the lock-up agreemengsrexbased on shares outstanding as of Februa3028, up to an additional 24,510,853
shares of common stock will be eligible for salehia public market, of which 7,384,156 shares a&td hy directors, executive officers and
other affiliates and will be subject to volume lations under Rule 144 under the Securities Ad,\arious vesting agreements. In addition,
2,012,565 shares of common stock that are sulgemitstanding options as of February 28, 2015keilome eligible for sale in the public
market to the extent permitted by the provisionsasfous vesting agreements, the lock-up agreenasmtskules 144 and 701 under the
Securities Act. We have filed a registration staatron Form S under the Securities Act covering all of the skasf common stock subject
options outstanding and reserved for issuance ungestock plans. That registration statement becetffective immediately upon filing, and
shares covered by that registration statementligible for sale in the public markets, subjecRole 144 limitations applicable to affiliates &
any lock-up agreements described above. If thedti@ahl shares are sold, or if it is perceived thay will be sold, in the public market, the
trading price of our common stock could decline.

Insiders will exercise significant control over owwompany and will be able to influence corporate ttegs.

As of February 28, 2015, directors, exautfficers, 5% or greater stockholders and thi§iliades beneficially owned, in the aggregate,
64% of our outstanding capital stock. As a reshtise stockholders will be able to exercise sigaift influence over all matters submitted to
our stockholders
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for approval, including the election of directorslaapproval of significant corporate transacti@ush as a merger or sale of our company or i
assets. This concentration of ownership may haweftect of delaying or preventing a third partgnfr acquiring control of our company and
could adversely affect the market price of our camratock.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands and certain other tax attributes may be lindte

As of December 31, 2014, our total grodemled tax assets were $29.9 million. Due to ook laf earnings history and uncertainties
surrounding our ability to generate future taxabtme, the net deferred tax assets have beendifiigt by a valuation allowance. The
deferred tax assets were primarily comprised offaldand state tax net operating losses and talit caryforwards. Furthermore, under
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 198&naended, or the Internal Revenue Code, if a catipa undergoes an "ownership
change," the corporation's ability to use its pnange net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLd,@her pre-change tax attributes (such as
research tax credits) to offset its future taxabt®me may be limited. In general, an "ownershignge" occurs if there is a cumulative change
in our ownership by "5% shareholders" that excé&gpercentage points over a rolling three-yeargge®©ur existing NOLs and tax credit
carryovers may be subject to limitations arisirapfrprevious ownership changes, and if we undergooomore ownership changes in
connection with future transactions in our stoak; ability to utilize NOLs and tax credit carryogesould be further limited by Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code. As a result, if we @atrtaxable income, our ability to use our pre-gjeanet operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards to offset U.S. federal taxable incamay be subject to limitations, which could potaltyi result in increased future tax liability
to us. The annual limitation may result in the exgon of certain net operating loss and tax crealityforwards before their utilization. In
addition, at the state level, there may be perehdsrg which the use of NOLs is suspended or ottsenlimited, which could accelerate or
permanently increase state taxes owed.

We have never paid dividends on our capital stocklave do not anticipate paying dividends in thedgeeable future.

We have never paid dividends on any ofaaynital stock and currently intend to retain aryirfe earnings to fund the growth of our
business. In addition, we may enter into credieagrents or other borrowing arrangements in thaduthat will restrict our ability to declare
pay cash dividends on our common stock. Any detgaition to pay dividends in the future will be at tiscretion of our board of directors ¢
will depend on our financial condition, operatirgults, capital requirements, general businessitiongland other factors that our board of
directors may deem relevant. As a result, capfipteciation, if any, of our common stock will be thole source of gain for the foreseeable
future.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevarchange in control and may
affect the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions in our restated certificaterafdrporation and our amended and restated bylawsaee the effect of delaying or preventing a
change of control or changes in our managementré&tated certificate of incorporation and ameratedi restated bylaws include provisions
that:

. authorize our board of directors to issue, withfouther action by the stockholders, up to 20,000,80ares of undesignated
preferred stock;

. require that any action to be taken by our stodkdal be effected at a duly called annual or spewégting and not by written
consent;
. specify that special meetings of our stockhadzm be called only by our board of directors,ahairman of the board, or our

chief executive officer;
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. establish an advance notice procedure for stockh@ldprovals to be brought before an annual meefiogr stockholders,
including proposed nominations of persons for @@ecto our board of directors;

. establish that our board of directors is dividetw ithree classes, Class |, Class Il and Claswith each class serving staggered
terms;

. provide that our directors may be removed onlycause;

. provide that vacancies on our board of directoay, except as otherwise required by law, bedfilaly by a majority of

directors then in office, even if less than a quarand

. require a super-majority of votes to amend ceréithe above-mentioned provisions as well as torahmur bylaws generally.

In addition, we are subject to the provisiof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corpamdtaw regulating corporate takeovers.
Section 203 generally prohibits us from engaging business combination with an interested stoddraubject to certain exceptions.

Our certificate of incorporation designates the Cdwf Chancery of the State of Delaware as the satel exclusive forum for certain types
of actions and proceedings that may be initiatedday stockholders, which could limit our stockhold® ability to obtain a favorable judicia
forum for disputes with us or our directors, office or other employee:

Our certificate of incorporation providésit, unless we consent in writing to the seleatiban alternative forum, the Court of Chancer
the State of Delaware shall be the sole and ex@udsrum for:

. any derivative action or proceeding brought onlmelralf;

. any action asserting a claim of breach of a fidycthuty owed by any of our directors, officers,obther employees to us or our
stockholders;

. any action asserting a claim arising pursuaratntp provision of the Delaware General Corporatiaw; or

. any action asserting a claim against us govebyetie internal affairs doctrine.

Any person or entity purchasing or otheendgquiring any interest in shares of our capttatisshall be deemed to have notice of and
consented to the provisions of our certificatengirporation described above. This choice of foprovision may limit a stockholder's ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it findavorable for disputes with us or our directordijcefrs or other employees, which may
discourage such lawsuits against us and our diaifficers, and other employees. Alternativelyg, court were to find these provisions of our
certificate of incorporation inapplicable to, oramforceable in respect of, one or more of the $igeldiypes of actions or proceedings, we may
incur additional costs associated with resolvinghsmatters in other jurisdictions, which could adedy affect our business, financial condit
or results of operations.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
ITEM 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters and laboratpeyaiions are located in San Francisco, Califomiere we lease and occupy 7,795 square
of space. The lease for our headquarters expir@sigust 2017, with a fivgrear extension at our option. Additionally, we s#sle 8,852 squs
feet of
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laboratory and office space in a nearby buildindarran agreement that expires in February 2017le&e 12,286 square feet of office spa
another location in San Francisco under an agreethanexpires in April 2017. We also lease 8,348ase feet of office space in Palo Alto,
California pursuant to an agreement that expiréganch 2020. We also lease additional facilitie®mkland, California and Santiago, Chile.

We believe that our facilities are adeqdateour current needs and that additional spadebeiavailable on commercially reasonable
terms if required.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings.

We were not a party to any material legatpedings on the date of this report. We may ftiome to time become involved in legal
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of begsn

On November 25, 2013, the University of tUResearch Foundation, the Trustees of the UntyasPennsylvania, HSC Research and
Development Limited Partnership, Endorecherche,dnd Myriad (referred to collectively as the MytiRlaintiffs) filed a complaint in the
U.S. District Court in the District of Utah (refed to as the Utah Action), alleging that certaimoif genetic testing services infringe certain
claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 7,753,441; 6,951,72250,497; 6,033,857, 6,051,379; 7,470,510, 7,622,268 7,838,237 (referred to collectively
as the Myriad Patents). On November 26, 2013, led & complaint for declaratory judgment in the \D&trict Court in the Northern District
of California (referred to as the California Actjpasserting that the Myriad Patents are invalidiwe do not infringe them, and the Myriad
Plaintiffs counterclaimed alleging that we infrinthe Myriad Patents. Although the Utah Action wasrdssed, on February 19, 2014, the
Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation grantétae Myriad Plaintiffs' motion to consolidate foregirial proceedings all actions concerning the
Myriad Patents (referred to as the MDL Proceedingith the MDL Proceedings taking place in the Bistof Utah. On January 23, 2015, the
Myriad Plaintiffs stipulated to the dismissal wjghejudice of all of their claims in the Californfaction and granted us a covenant not to sue fc
all of the patents they had asserted against dspadanuary 26, 2015, the court issued an ordemigising the California Action with prejudice
thereby ending our involvement in the MDL Proceegdin

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosure.
Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 5. Market For Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters And Issuer Purchases CEquity Securities.

Our common stock has been publicly tradethe New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "RVSince February 12, 2015. Prior
that time, there was no public market for our comratock. As a result, we have not set forth quigrteformation with respect to the high and
low prices for our common stock for the two mostenat fiscal years.

On March 26, 2015, the closing price for common stock as reported on the New York StoakhBrge was $17.45 per share.

As of February 28, 2015, there were 112Idtolders of record of our common stock. The actwahber of stockholders is greater than
this number of record holders and includes stoakrsl who are beneficial owners but whose sharesedden street name by brokers and o
nominees.

Dividend policy

We have never declared or paid any casdetids on our capital stock. We currently intendetiain any future earnings and do not ex
to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Aetermination to pay dividends in the future Wl at the discretion of our board of director:
and will depend on our financial condition, opargtresults, capital requirements, general busioesditions and other factors that our boai
directors may deem relevant.

Stock performance graph

The stock performance graph required byiG&e201(e) of Regulation S-K has been omitteduscommon stock was not publicly traded
during any portion of the period described in SEcR01(e).

Use of proceeds

On February 18, 2015, we completed anaingtiblic offering, or IPO, of our common stock.dannection with the IPO, we issued and
sold 7,302,500 shares of common stock at a pritieetpublic of $16.00 per share. As a result ofiB@, we received approximately
$116.8 million in gross proceeds, and $105.8 miliio net proceeds after deducting underwriting alists and commissions of $8.2 million
and offering expenses of approximately $2.8 milj@yable by us. None of the expenses associatbdhvetiPO were paid to directors,
officers, persons owning 10% or more of any cldssuo equity securities, or to their associategpasur affiliates. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
acted as the sole book-running manager and Cowge€ampany, LLC and Leerink Partners LLC acted amenagers for the offering.

We registered the shares under the Sezuidict of 1933 on a Registration Statement on F&vin(Registration No. 333-201433), which
was filed with the SEC on January 9, 2015 and dedlaffective on February 11, 2015, and on a Regish Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-202040), which was filed @bFuary 11, 2015 and was immediately effective.

The IPO closed on February 18, 2015. Tleriolg terminated after all of the shares of comratatk were sold.

There has been no material change in tmengld use of proceeds from our IPO as describedrifinal prospectus filed with the SEC on
February 12, 2015 pursuant to Rule 424(b).
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Recent sales of unregistered securities

During the year ended December 31, 201450iek an aggregate of 60 million shares of Seriesrivertible preferred stock at a per share
price of $2.00, for aggregate gross proceeds o $diflion to a total of 38 accredited investors.(1)

During the year ended December 31, 2014ssweed 181,407 shares of common stock to ouresffjdirectors and employees upon the
exercise of options to purchase shares of comnumk sinder our 2010 Stock Plan for aggregate coreide of approximately $208,000 at |
share exercise prices ranging from $0.30 to $282.(

We believe that each transaction was exdropt the registration requirements of the Seasithct in reliance on the following
exemptions:

(1) These transactions were deemed &xbmpt from registration under the Securities Aateliance upon Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act as transactions by an issuer natliitvg any public offering. The recipients of thecsrities in each of these transactions
represented their intentions to acquire the seearior investment only and not with a view to or $ale in connection with any
distribution thereof, and appropriate legends vpaeed upon the stock certificates issued in th@sesactions. All recipients had
adequate information about us or had adequate sdabesugh their relationships with us, to inforraatabout us.

(2) These transactions were deemed #xbmpt from registration under the Securities Aateliance upon Rule 701 promulga
under Section 3(b) of the Securities Act pursuarianefit plans and contracts relating to compémsats provided under Rule 701. 1
recipients of the securities in each of these #@retisns represented their intentions to acquirestiwarrities for investment only and not
with a view to or for sale in connection with angtdbution thereof, and appropriate legends wéaeeul upon the stock certificates
issued in these transactions. All recipients haahadte information about us or had adequate adtesagh their relationships with us,
to information about us.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data.

The information set forth below should bad together with "ltem 7. Management's DiscusaimhAnalysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" and our financial statemantsrelated notes included elsewhere in this teppbe selected consolidated balance shee
data at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the seleztsdlidated statements of operations data fdr efithe years ended December 31, 201+
2013 and 2012 have been derived from our auditedatmated financial statements that are includseveéhere in this report. The selected
consolidated balance sheet data at December 32, I2lbeen derived from our audited consolidatezhfiial data not included in this report.
Historical results are not necessarily indicati¥eesults to be expected in any future period.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands except share and pe
share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz

Revenue $ 1,60¢ $ 14¢€ $ —
Costs and operating expens

Cost of revenue(1 5,62¢ 667 —

Research and development 22,06: 16,03¢ 5,551

Selling and marketing(Z 8,66¢ 2,431 —

General and administrative( 12,60( 5,76¢ 3,00¢
Total costs and operating expense: 48,95¢ 24,90: 8,561
Loss from operation (47,357 (24,757 (8,56))
Other income (expense), r (79 (26) 2
Interest expens (61) (59) (43)
Net loss $ (47,49) $ (24,83H) $ (8,607
Net loss attributable to common stockholder: $ (47,49) $ (24,989 $ (9,019
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldrs|dasic

and diluted(2 $ (56.19 $ (36.1H) $ (14.19
Shares used in computing net loss per common shase;

and dilutec 846,02 691,73: 635,70!

Q) Includes employee sto-based compensation as follov

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Cost of revenu $ 10z $ 11 $ —
Research and developme 382 16E 46
Selling and marketin 21€ 42 —
General and administrati\ 271 42 19
Total stocl-based compensatic $ 971 $ 26C $ 65
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(2)  See Notes 2 and 10 to our audited consolidateddinbstatement included elsewhere in this regorah explanation of
the calculations of our basic and diluted net jomsshare attributable to common stockholc

As of December 31
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Dat:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 107,020 $ 43,07C $ 21,80:
Working capital 102,02( 41,575 21,04
Total asset 128,77¢ 53,10 25,97
Capital lease obligatior 3,53¢ 2,001 1,21t
Convertible preferred stoc 202,30! 86,57+ 36,75t
Accumulated defici (85,180) (37,689 (12,850
Total stockholders' defic (83,57¢) (37,280 (12,759
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ITEM 7. Management's Discussion And Analysis OFinancial Condition And Results Of Operations.

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements
and the related notes included in Item 8 of this report. Historic results are not necessarily indicative of future results.

Business overview

Our mission is to bring comprehensive geriaformation into mainstream medical practicenprove the quality of healthcare for
billions of people. Our goal is to aggregate mdshe world's genetic tests into a single servidth wWigher quality, faster turnaround time and
lower price than many single gene tests today.®yegating large numbers of currently availableegiertests into a single service, we can
achieve great economies of scale that allow ust@nly provide primary single gene or multi-geasts but also to generate and store
additional genetic information on behalf of theigiat for future use. We refer to the service of aging genetic information over the course of
disease or the lifetime of a patient as "genomeagament.” In addition, as more individuals gairessco their genetic information, we
believe that sharing genetic information will prd@ian economic opportunity for patients and usattigipate in advancing the understanding
and treatment of disease.

From our inception through December 31, 20le raised an aggregate of $207.0 million in Bdiinancing, established the infrastructure
necessary to launch our service and were primérdysed on the research and development of oualiagsay. We launched our first
commercial offering in late November 2013, an asda316 genes comprising 85 different genetic dlsos and 17 targeted panels, and begar
selling and marketing our panels with a focusedrefin hereditary cancers, including breast, calod pancreatic cancer. We charge $1,500
per sample in most cases, which allows our cliemteceive test results on any or all genes inegifip indication or multi-gene panel. We also
currently offer a free re-requisition of additiorttgta within the same indication when ordered wi80 days of the date of service. In addition,
clients may obtain test results on genes thatraoghier indications or panels, or genes withingte indication or panel more than 90 days
after the date of initial service, for an additibfeee. Importantly, we are providing turnaroundeimf less than three weeks for the substantial
majority of our tests. Since our initial launch, heeve marketed additional panels based on the aasay of 216 genes.

We have experienced rapid growth in repeniods. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 20 2012 our revenue was
$1.6 million, $0.1 million and $0, respectively.rRbe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and@812curred a net loss of $47.5 million,
$24.8 million and $8.6 million, respectively. AsDécember 31, 2014, we had an accumulated defigi8®.2 million. We also increased our
number of employees to 161 at December 31, 2014 &4 on January 1, 2013. Our sales force grewrte people in the fourth quarter of 2(
from six people in the first quarter of 2014.

Since our commercial launch, we have dedigenore than 3,800 billable tests as of Decembg2@14. Sales of our tests have grown
significantly in 2014 from over 200 billable tegtsthe first quarter of 2014 to over 1,800 billabdsts in the fourth quarter of 2014, which we
believe is evidence that our value propositiorntisaative to our clients. As the market for outddile tests develops, we expect that compet
will release offerings with broader content thatlisically relevant to particular patients. We shexpect our rate of growth in delivered billa
tests to slow in periods leading up to commerabdases of our expanding platform, including thegokin 2015 leading up to the first planned
expansion of our current assay of 216 genes. Wiaatst that the U.S. market for hereditary cancststes greater than $650 million per year
and thus represents a key growth opportunity foFusm inception through December 31, 2014, appnakely 26% of billable tests have been
paid. On a historical basis through December 31428pproximately 37% of the billable tests we perfed have
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been billable to institutions and patients, andrémainder have been billable to third-party paybtany of the gene tests on our assay are tes
for which private insurers reimburse. However, lhiseawe do not have reimbursement policies or coistrgith very many private insurers,
claims for reimbursement from them may be deniezhigubmission, and we must appeal the claims. Ppeads process is time consuming
and expensive, and may not result in payment. Huga are successful achieving reimbursement, wg lneapaid at lower rates than if we
were under contract with the third-party payor. Wlitgere is not a contracted rate for reimbursentkate is typically a greater co-insurance o
co-payment requirement from the patient which nesult in further delay or decreased likelihood afection.

We intend to continue to invest aggresyiuelour business and to incur additional expemdguas a public company. As a result of these
and other factors, we expect to incur operatingdsdor the foreseeable future and may need te agditional capital in order to fund our
operations. If we are unable to achieve our revgmaeth objectives and successfully manage ourscost may not be able to achieve
profitability.

We believe that the keys to our future gfowill be to steadily increase the amount of genedntent we offer, consistently improve the
client experience, drive physician and patieniagtion of our website for ordering and deliveryresults, increase the number of partners
working with us to add value for our clients anasistently drive down the price per gene for genatialysis and interpretation.

Factors affecting our performance
Ability to lower the costs associated with perfongiour tests

Reducing the costs associated with perfognoiur genetic tests is both a near-term focusaastcategic objective of ours. Over the long
term we will need to reduce the cost of raw mateiig improving the output efficiency of our assayd laboratory processes, modifying our
platform-agnostic assay and laboratory processaseanaterials and technologies that provide egugteater quality at lower cost, improving
how we manage our inventory and negotiating favertdrms for our materials purchases. We also thterdesign and implement hardware
and software tools that will reduce personnel émsboth laboratory and clinical operations by #&sing personnel efficiency and thus
lowering labor costs per test.

Ability to expand our genetic contel

As we reduce our costs, we intend to coetito expand our test menus by steadily releasiddienal genetic content for the same or
lower prices per test, ultimately leading to affainte whole genome services. The breadth and fleyibf our offering will be a critical factor
in our ability to address new markets for genedstihg services. Both of these will be criticabtar ability to continue to grow the volume of
billable tests we deliver.

Number of billable test:

The growth in our genetic testing busiriegged to the number of tests for which we bilfdhparty payors, institutions or patients, which
we refer to as billable tests. We bill for our sees following delivery of the billable test repaigrived from testing samples and interpreting
the results. We incur the expenses associatedavight in the period in which the test is processgdrdless of when payment is received with
respect to that test. We believe the number ddilidl tests in any period is an important indicafdhe growth in our business.
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Success obtaining reimburseme

Our ability to increase the number of liliatests and our revenue will depend on our sscaelsieving broad reimbursement coverage
our tests from thirgsarty payors. Reimbursement may depend on a nuaflfactors, including a payor's determination thag¢st is appropria
medically necessary and cost-effective. Becausie gaygor makes its own decision as to whether tabéish a policy or enter into a contract to
reimburse for our testing services, seeking thppeoaals is a time-consuming and costly procesadftition, physicians may decide not to
order our tests if the cost of the test is not ceddy insurance. Because we require an orderiggighn to requisition a test, our revenue
growth also depends on our ability to successfulbmote the adoption of our testing services anmhes our base of ordering physicians. We
believe that establishing coverage from third-pagyors, including the Center for Medicare and Maiti Services, or CMS, is an important
factor in gaining adoption by ordering physiciavwe have received approval as a Medicare provideictwallows us to bill for our services to
Medicare patients. Further we have entered intalvarsement contracts with Blue Shield of Califoraia SelectHealth. If we are not able to
obtain and maintain adequate reimbursement frord-fharty payors for our testing services and expghedase of physicians ordering our
tests, we may not be able to effectively increasenumber of billable tests or our revenue.

Investment in our business and timing of expen:

We plan to continue to invest significaritiyour genetic testing, genome management andngemetwork business. We deploy state-of-
the-art and costly technologies in our genetidrigstervices, and we intend to significantly saale infrastructure, including our testing
capacity and information systems. We also expettdor software development costs as we seek tbduautomate our laboratory processes
and genetic interpretation and report sign-out @doces, conduct ongoing research and developmtwitias, scale our customer service
capabilities and expand the functionality of outbaite. As part of our growth, we also plan to kdelitional personnel, including software
engineers, sales and marketing personnel, resaattbevelopment personnel, medical specialiststduigticians and geneticists. In addition,
we expect to incur additional expenses as a resolperating as a public company. The expensesiete imay vary significantly by quarter
depending, for example, on when large equipmenthasges are made or significant hiring takes plaee,as we focus on building out differ
aspects of our business.

How we recognize revent

Our historical revenue has been recognideen cash is received. We do not expect to recegignificant amounts of revenue on an
accrual basis for some period of time. Until weiael and maintain a predictable pattern of coltettt a consistent payment amount from a
large number of payors, we will continue to recagrthe substantial majority of our revenue wheih ¢aseceived. Additionally, as we
commercialize new test offerings, we will need ¢hiave a predictable pattern of collection at asistent payment amount for each payor for
each new product offering prior to being able twogmize the related test revenue on an accrua.ddscause the timing and amount of cash
payments received from payors is difficult to potdive expect that our revenue will fluctuate sfigaintly in any given quarter.

For the year ended December 31, 2014 ah#d,20nounts billed for tests delivered totaled $6iion and $0.3 million, respectively. As
of December 31, 2014, we had recognized revenéa .&fmillion related to amounts billed for testéivkred during the year ended
December 31, 2014 and $0.1 million related to artobitled for tests delivered during the year enBedember 31, 2013. It is difficult to
predict future revenue from previously delivered bopaid tests. Accordingly, we cannot provide asgurance as to when, if ever, or to what
extent any of these amounts will be collected. Beeave are in the early stages of commercializingests, we have had limited payment anc
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collection history. Notwithstanding our effortsdbtain payment for these tests, payors may denglaims, in whole or in part, and we may
never receive revenue from any previously delivénedunpaid tests. Revenue from these tests, ifraay not be equal to the billed amount
due to a number of factors, including differenaessimbursement rates, the amounts of patient goapats, the existence of secondary payor:
and claims denials.

We incur and recognize expenses for testise period in which the test is conducted andgeize revenue for tests in the period in wt
our revenue recognition criteria are met. Accorflingny revenue that we receive in respect of pnesly delivered but unpaid tests will
favorably impact our liquidity and results of optimas in future periods.

Financial overview
Revenue

We generate revenue from the sale of ais t@hich provide the analysis and associateddregation of the sequencing of parts of the
genome. Clients are billed upon delivery of tesutts to the physician. As we do not have suffickestory of collection and are not yet able to
determine a predictable pattern of collection, weaently recognize revenue when cash is received.aDility to increase our revenue will
depend on our ability to increase our market patietn, obtain contracted reimbursement coveraga tiord-party payors and increase the |
at which we are paid for tests performed.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue reflects the aggregatesdostirred in delivering test results to physiciand includes expenses for materials and
supplies, personnel costs, equipment and infrastreexpenses associated with testing and allocatexdhead including rent, equipment
depreciation and utilities. Costs associated wittigzming our test are recorded as the patient'gkais processed regardless of whether and
when revenue is recognized with respect to thatAssa result, our cost of revenue as percentbgevenue may vary significantly from peri
to period because we generally do not recognizema in the period in which costs are incurred.affgect cost of revenue to generally
increase in line with the increase in the numbdesfs we perform. However, we expect that the pestest will decrease over time due to the
efficiencies we may gain as test volume increards@m automation and other cost reductions.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses are classifiedthmee categories: research and development, saltidgnarketing, and general and
administrative. For each category, the largest @mapt is personnel costs, which include salariepl@yee benefit costs, bonuses,
commissions, as applicable, and stock-based corapien&xpense.

Research and devel opment

Research and development expenses repisstatincurred to develop our technology and &itasts, including costs associated with
efforts to expand the number of genes we can eteainaur tests. These costs consist of persorusts claboratory supplies and equipment
expenses, consulting costs and allocated overimeadting rent, information technology, equipmenpréeiation and utilities.

We expense all research and developmetd gothe periods in which they are incurred. Wpest our research and development
expenses will substantially increase in absolutdoin future periods as we continue to investeisearch and development activities relatt
developing additional tests. We expect that inrtéxet 12 months the substantial increase in researdldevelopment
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expenses will be for the continued developmentsamport of our assay of 216 genes and other ndimgeservices and programs under
development.

Salling and marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consiseodgnnel costs, client service expenses, diredtetiag expenses, educational and promotione
expenses, market research and analysis, and &liboserhead including rent, information technolaglipment depreciation and utilities. We
expect our selling and marketing expenses to sotislig increase over the next 12 months, primadiliven by the cost of hiring additional
account executives and business development pesisassociated with efforts to further penetratedbmmestic market.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses inctx@eutive, finance and accounting, legal and hurasources functions. These expenses
include personnel-related costs, audit and lega¢esges, consulting costs, and allocated overhehdling rent, information technology,
equipment depreciation and utilities. We expectgrmeral and administrative expenses will increasee scale our operations. We also e
to incur additional general and administrative exg@s as a result of our initial public offering aprating as a public company, including
expenses related to compliance with the rules agdlations of the SEC and the New York Stock Exgleaadditional insurance expenses,
investor relations activities and other administragind professional services.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net primarily cstssbf the net exchange gain/loss on foreign cayréransactions related to the operations of
our subsidiary in Chile.

Interest expens:

Interest expense is attributable to ouaditing obligation under our capital lease agreesientonnection with the purchase of laboratory
equipment.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

Management's discussion and analysis ofinancial condition and results of operationsasdd on our consolidated financial statement
which have been prepared in accordance with U.Sergdly accepted accounting principles, or U.S. ®AAhe preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and asosifhat affect the reported amounts of assatdiahilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effiteancial statements, as well as the reporteedmes generated and expenses incurred durir
reporting periods. Our estimates are based onistarital experience and on various other factoas tve believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the bfmsisnaking judgments about the carrying value akts and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results m&grdifom these estimates under different assumgtiorconditions and any such differences
may be material. We believe that the accountingcigal discussed below are critical to understandimghistorical and future performance, as
these policies relate to the more significant ameaslving management's judgments and estimates.

Revenue recognitiol

We generate revenue from delivery of tepbrts generated from our assay of 216 genes. Revusmecognized when persuasive evidenc
of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurresborices have been rendered; the fee is fixedterm@able; and collectability is reasonably
assured. The assessment
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of the fixed or determinable nature of the feesgbd for testing performed and the collectabilitytmse fees require significant judgment by
management. When evaluating these criteria, weidenghether we have sufficient history to reliabstimate a payor's payment pattern. We
review the number of tests paid against the nurabessts billed and the payor's outstanding baldoceanpaid tests to determine whether
payments are being made at a consistently higrepgage of tests billed and at appropriate amounéndhe amount billed. To date, we have
not been able to demonstrate a predictable patferallectability, and therefore recognize revemieen payment is received following deliv

of the report.

Deferred tax asset

We use the liability method of accounting ihcome taxes. Under this method, deferred tagtasand liabilities are determined based on
the differences between the financial reporting thredtax bases of assets and liabilities and agsured using the enacted tax rates and laws
that will be in effect when the differences are@ntpd to reverse. We assess the likelihood thaethdting deferred tax assets will be realized
A valuation allowance is provided when it is makely than not that some portion or all of a dedertax asset will not be realized.

As of December 31, 2014, our total grodemled tax assets were $29.9 million. Due to ook laf earnings history and uncertainties
surrounding our ability to generate future taxabtme, the net deferred tax assets have beendifigt by a valuation allowance. The
deferred tax assets were primarily comprised offaldand state tax net operating losses and talit caryforwards. Utilization of the net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards magudgect to an annual limitation due to historicafudure ownership percentage change rules
provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,samdilar state provisions. The annual limitation nmagult in the expiration of certain net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards befbegr utilization.

Stocl-based compensation

Stock-based compensation expense is mahatithe date of grant, based on the estimateddhie of the award and recognized as an
expense over the employee's requisite servicegena straight-line basis. We estimate the grate thir value, and the resulting stock-basec
compensation expense, using the Black-Scholesrepticing model.

We account for stock-based compensatiangements with non-employees using a fair valuecggh. The fair value of these options is
measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing ehcgflecting the same assumptions as applied f@me options in each of the reported
periods, other than the expected life, which isiaed to be the remaining contractual life of théap The compensation expenses of these
arrangements are subject to remeasurement oveesitieg terms as earned.

We recorded stock-based compensation erperisl.0 million, $0.3 million and $65,000 for thears ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012. As of December 31, 2014, we had $5.3omitf unrecognized stock-based compensation expers$ of estimated forfeitures,
which we expect to recognize over a weighted-avepgiod of 3.4 years.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model riegi the use of highly subjective assumptions whlietermine the fair value of stock-based
awards. These assumptions include:

Expected term—The expected term represents the period that $iaskd awards are expected to be outstanding. @fethis simplified
method to determine the expected term, which isdas the mid-point between the vesting date aaetid of the contractual term.

Expected volatility —Since we were privately held up to our initial palffering in February 2015 and did not have émagling history
for our common stock, the expected volatility wasmated based
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on the average volatility for comparable publicigded life sciences, including molecular diagnesttompanies over a period equal to the
expected term of the stock option grants. Wherctialg comparable publicly traded life sciences|uding molecular diagnostics, companies
on which we based our expected stock price vdigtilve selected companies with comparable chaiatitarto us, including enterprise value,
risk profiles, position within the industry, andttvhistorical share price information sufficientteet the expected life of the stock-based
awards. The historical volatility data was computsihg the daily closing prices for the selectechpanies' shares during the equivalent perio
of the calculated expected term of the stock-baseatds. We will continue to apply this processlumsufficient amount of historical
information regarding the volatility of our own stoprice becomes available.

Risk-free interest rate —The risk-free interest rate is based on the Ur8a3ury zero coupon issues in effect at the tingrandt for periods
corresponding with the expected term of an option.

Dividend yield —We have never paid dividends on our common stodkhae no plans to pay dividends on our commorkstbiwerefore
we used an expected dividend yield of zero.

In addition to the Blac&choles assumptions, we estimate our forfeitueelvased on an analysis of our actual forfeiturelsvéith continue
to evaluate the adequacy of the forfeiture ratethas actual forfeiture experience, analysis ofleyge turnover behavior, and other factors.
The impact from any forfeiture rate adjustment widoé recognized in full in the period of adjustmand if the actual number of future
forfeitures differs from our estimates, we mightrbgquired to record adjustments to stock-based eosgtion in future periods.

Historically, for all periods prior to oinitial public offering, the fair values of the giea of common stock underlying our share-based
awards were estimated on each grant date by oud lobairectors. In order to determine the fairueabf our common stock underlying option
grants, our board of directors considered, amohgrahings, contemporaneous valuations of our comshack prepared by an independent
third-party valuation firm in accordance with theéidance provided by the American Institute of Gierti Public Accountants Practice Guide,
Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation . Given the absence of a public trading markebfarcommon
stock, our board of directors exercised reasornjadigment and considered a number of objective abgkstive factors to determine the best
estimate of the fair value of our common stockluding our stage of development; progress of oseaech and development efforts; our
operating and financial performance, including lewels of available capital resources; the righteferences and privileges of our convertible
preferred stock relative to those of our commoulsteales of our convertible preferred stock in glflangth transactions; the valuation of
publicly traded companies in our industry, as wslrecently completed mergers and acquisitiongef pompanies; equity market conditions
affecting comparable public companies; and the tdakarketability of our common stock.

In determining a fair value for our comnsinck, we estimated the enterprise value of ouinkess using the market approach or option
pricing back-solve method. The estimated enterpradge is then allocated to the common stock usiegOption Pricing Method, or OPM, and
the Probability Weighted Expected Return Method?@ERM, or the hybrid method. The hybrid methodl@ojpthe PWERM utilizing the
probability of two public offering exit scenariostiva low and high value, and the OPM was utilizethe remaining private scenario.

For valuations after the completion of mitial public offering, our board of directors @emines the fair value of each share of underl
common stock based on the closing price of our comstock as reported on the date of grant.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 2013

Year Ended
December 31, Dollar %
2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands)
Revenue $ 1,60 $ 148 $  1,45¢ 984%
Operating expense
Cost of revenu 5,62¢ 667 4,957 74%%
Research and developm 22,06: 16,03¢ 6,02 38%
Selling and marketin 8,66¢ 2,431 6,23¢ 257%
General and administratiy 12,60( 5,76¢ 6,83¢ 11%%
Total operating expens: 48,95¢ 24,90: 24,05t 97%
Loss from operation (47,357 (24,75) (22,559 91%
Other expense, n (79 (26) (53 204%
Interest expens (61) (59 (2) 3%
Net loss $ (47,497 $ (24,83) $ (22,659 91%

Revenue

Revenue increased $1.5 million, or 984%heyear ended December 31, 2014 compared t@the period in 2013. The increase is due
to an increase in the adoption of our test, whesuited in an increase in cash collections durDit#2 Revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2013 resulted from an early acceggamowe offered beginning in the first quarter 01.3.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue increased $5.0 million748%, in the year ended December 31, 2014 comparbte same period in 2013. This increase
was primarily due to a $3.2 million increase intsasf reagents, laboratory materials and test &fibd costs and a $1.5 million increase in
personnel costs related to the increase in heaticbbe number of billed test results delivered &asred to over 3,600 for the year ended

December 31, 2014 from over 200 for the same peani@d13.

Research and devel opment

Research and development expenses incré&sgdnillion, or 38%, for the year ended DecenBier2014 compared to the same period i
2013. The increase was primarily driven by a $4illian increase in personnel costs related to tieegase in headcount, a $1.4 million incr
in allocated facilities-related expenses due tcetigansion of our operations into two additionabiions and a $0.5 million increase in costs o

laboratory materials and laboratory equipment nesiabce.

Selling and marketing

Selling and marketing expenses increase?i iféllion, or 257%, for the year ended December2814 compared to the same period in
2013. The increase was due to a $3.7 million irszeéa personnel costs and travel related expensetdhe increase in headcount, a
$1.0 million increase in conferences, marketingvaies and trade show-related expenses, a $0l&mihcrease in consulting fees incurred in
connection with various marketing and brandinguvititis, and a $0.6 million increase related toraoréase in allocated technology and

facilities related expenses as the result of ofic@expansion.
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General and administrative

General and administrative expenses inerk86.8 million, or 119%, for the year ended Decen®i, 2014 compared to the same period
in 2013. The increase was due to a $2.5 millioneiase in legal costs incurred primarily relatethtoMyriad litigation matter, a $2.1 million
increase in personnel costs resulting from an as@én headcount, a $1.0 million increase in peddesl services to support our increasing
infrastructure as we expanded our operations aggbped to become a public company and a $1.0 miltiorease related to an increase in
allocated technology and facilities related expsrasethe result of our office expansion.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 20itP

Year Ended
December 31 Dollar %
2013 2012 Change Change
(In thousands)
Revenue $ 14¢ $ — $ 14¢ i
Operating expense
Cost of revenu 667 — 667 *
Research and developm 16,03¢ 5,551 10,48: 18<%
Selling and marketin 2,431 — 2,431 *
General and administrati\ 5,76¢ 3,00¢ 2,76( 92%
Total operating expens 24,90: 8,561 16,34( 191%
Loss from operation (24,757) (8,567 (16,197 18<%
Other income (expense), r (26) 2 (28 *
Interest expens (59 (43 (16) 37%
Net loss $ (24,839 $ (8,602 $ (16,236 18<%
* Not meaningfu

Revenue

Revenue was $0.1 million in 2013 comparefiG in 2012 as we had an early access progranchveterted in the first quarter of 2013,
we launched our first commercial offering in latevémber 2013.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue was $0.7 million in 2018pared to $0 in 2012. We incurred costs for ovér @illable test results that we delivered
during the year ended December 31, 2013. We dithegin commercial operations until the first quade2013 when we had an early access
program and the first commercial launch of our psg216 genes was in late November 2013.

Research and devel opment

Research and development expenses incrga8esl million, or 189%, in 2013 compared to 2012e increase was primarily driven by a
$5.1 million increase in personnel related costs tduthe increase in headcount, a $3.0 millionease in laboratory materials, a $1.1 million
increase in allocated facility related costs assalt of our expansion into two offices startingMarch 2013, a $0.7 million increase in
depreciation expense due to the increase in latngratjuipment, and a $0.3 million increase in @gsionsulting costs incurred for temporary
lab engineering consultants hired to assist witinarease in our research activities. Further, aredact extensive validation assays to confirm
the analytical validity of our genetic testing pémin and we sometimes conduct our own clinical igsitb further demonstrate the utility of
already known genetic tests in order to promoteadeo application and market adoption by the clinicanmunity.
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Selling and marketing

Selling and marketing expenses were $2ldomifor 2013 compared to $0 for 2012. We did hegin commercial operations until we
launched our early access program in the firsttguaf 2013. The increase was due to a $2.1 milhienease in personnel costs and travel
related expenses due to the increase in head@@6t2 million increase in consulting fees incun@dssist with our marketing and branding
activities related to the launch of our first tagtl a $0.1 million increase in allocated facilitiekated costs as the result of our expansion of
operations into two locations in 2013.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses inece82.8 million, or 92%, in 2013 compared to 2002 increase was related to a $1.3 million
increase in legal and accounting professional sesvilue to the growth in our operations, a $0.8anilncrease in allocated facilities related
costs as the result of our expansion of operafittostwo locations in 2013, and a $0.7 million iease in personnel-related expenses resulting
from an increase in headcount.

Liquidity and capital resources
Liquidity and capital expenditure

We have incurred net losses since our iimepFor the years ended December 31, 2014, 26d2812, we had a net loss of
$47.5 million, $24.8 million and $8.6 million, resgtively, and we expect to incur additional lossethe foreseeable future. As of
December 31, 2014, we had an accumulated defigi86f2 million. To date, we have generated onlytéchrevenue, and we may never
achieve revenue sufficient to offset our expenses.

Since inception, our operations have beanted primarily by net proceeds of $202.3 millfosm sales of our convertible preferred
stock through December 31, 2014. In addition, weelentered into various capital lease agreementfaggregate financing amount of
$6.6 million from inception through December 311200 obtain laboratory equipment. The terms ofddygital leases are typically three years
with interest rates ranging from 3.5%-18.9%. Thasés are secured by the underlying equipment. Bgoémber 31, 2014 and 2013, we had
$107.0 million and $43.1 million of cash and caghiealents, respectively.

In our initial public offering, which we owpleted on February 12, 2015, we sold 7,302,506esha common stock at $16.00 per share
and received approximately $105.8 million in neigaeds, after deducting underwriting discounts@mdmissions, and offering expenses
payable by us. This includes the exercise in fultie underwriters of their option to purchase @@%2,500 shares of common stock at the
same price to cover over-allotments.

Our primary uses of cash are to fund owrations as we continue to grow our business. Gastl to fund operating expenses is impacte
by the timing of when we pay expenses, as refleiciéldle change in our outstanding accounts payaideaccrued expenses.

We believe that our existing cash and eaglivalents as of December 31, 2014, along witm#igroceeds from our initial public
offering, will be sufficient to meet our anticipdteash requirements for at least the next 12 moktbwever, management may in the future
elect to finance operations by selling equity dotdsecurities. If we raise funds by issuing egsiygurities, dilution to stockholders may result.
Any equity securities issued may also provide fohts, preferences or privileges senior to thoseabdlers of our common stock. If we raise
funds by issuing debt securities, these debt seEsivould have rights, preferences and privileggsor to those of holders of our common
stock. The terms of debt securities or borrowinmslat impose significant restrictions on our operasi. If additional funding is required, there
can be no assurance that additional funds willMa@able to us on acceptable terms on a timelysh#sat all, or that we will generate sufficie
cash from operations
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to adequately fund our operating needs or sustaifitgbility. If we are unable to raise additiortapital or generate sufficient cash from
operations to adequately fund our operations, Weneed to curtail planned activities to reducetsoBoing so will likely have an unfavorable
effect on our ability to execute on our businesspl

The following table summarizes our caskwvfidor the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012612

Years Ended
December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Cash used in operating activiti $ (42,440 $ (23,030 $ (9,159

Cash used in investing activiti (6,716 (4,580 (82€)

Cash provided by financing activiti 113,11: 48,87¢ 28,80:

Cash flows from operating activities

For the year ended December 31, 2014, esesth in operating activities was $42.4 million. Tie¢ cash outflow from operations primarily
resulted from our net loss of $47.5 million offsgtnon-cash charges of $2.3 million for deprecraad amortization, and $1.0 million for
stock-based compensation. The change in net opgrassets of $1.7 million was primarily due to meréase in accounts payable and accruec
liabilities of $4.5 million due to the growth in phusiness, partially offset by an increase in pr@gxpenses of $1.9 million related to an
increase in prepaid equipment maintenance feesafhaare license fees of $0.5 million and an insee inventory of $1.4 million, and an
increase in other assets of $0.4 million primardiated to security deposits on our new officedsas

For the year ended December 31, 2013, esesth in operating activities of $23.0 million prinfaresulted from our net loss of
$24.8 million offset by $0.9 million for depreciati and amortization and non-cash charges of $dl®mfor stock-based compensation. The
increase in net operating assets of $0.6 millios pramarily due to the $1.0 million increase in phles to suppliers and partially offset by the
increase in prepaid expenses of $0.4 million maielgted to the increase in tenant incentive ret#es due from the landlord of our new
office.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, esesth in operating activities of $9.2 million wagparily from our net loss of $8.6 million
offset by $0.3 million for depreciation and amaation and non-cash charges of $0.1 million for lstoased compensation. The change in the
net operating assets of $0.9 million was mainly dughe $0.9 million increase in other assets eelab the security deposit for our new Palo
Alto office.

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash used in investing activities is priiiyarelated to the acquisition of property and gument of $6.7 million, $4.5 million and
$0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2@0D43 and 2012, respectively. In addition, amouetd as restricted cash increased by
$30,000, $60,000, and $60,000 for the years endeember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities foe tyear ended December 31, 2014 of $113.1 millias primarily from $115.7 million in net
proceeds from the issuance of convertible prefestedk, partially offset by payments of $1.4 miflion our capital lease obligations and
payments of $1.5 million related to our initial pictoffering.

73




Table of Contents

In 2013, we generated $48.9 million fromaficing activities primarily resulting from $49.8llfon in net proceeds from issuance of
convertible preferred stock. These cash inflowsewgrtially offset by payments of $1.0 million oar@apital lease obligations.

In 2012, we generated $28.8 million fromaficing activities primarily resulting from $29.4llion in net proceeds from issuance of
convertible preferred stock. These cash inflowsewgrtially offset by payments of $0.6 million oar@apital lease obligations.

Contractual obligations
The following table summarizes our contmatbbligations, including interest, as of Decem®®r2014 (in thousands):

Payments due by perioc
Less than 1to3 3to5 More than

Contractual obligations: 1 year years years 5 years Total

Operating lease $ 2,63t $ 399 $ 156 $ 19¢ $ 8,39

Capital lease 1,57 2,092 7C — 3,73¢
Total $ 420¢ $ 6,091 $ 1,63: $ 19¢ $ 12,13(

In March 2015, we leased additional spacgan Francisco and Oakland, California. The leaspse in April and June 2017 and
aggregate future minimum lease payments for thexsties are approximately $2.4 million.

Off-balance sheet arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balanaeshrrangements and do not have any holdingsriabla interest entities..
Recent accounting pronouncements

On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accountingriflards Board, or FASB, issued Accounting Stargldigbate, or ASU, 2014-0Rgvenue
from Contracts with Customers (ASU 2014-09), which requires an entity to recogrtze amount of revenue to which it expects tortiitled
for the transfer of promised goods or serviceaugiamers. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existingereie recognition guidance in
U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The new stethdall become effective for us on January 1, 2(E&rly application is not permitted.
The standard permits the use of either the retatisygeor cumulative effect transition method. We awvaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09
will have on our consolidated financial statemeartd related disclosures. We have not yet selectemhsition method nor have we determinec
the effect of the standard on our ongoing finan@abrting.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No.£2Qa5 (Subtopic 205-40)—Presentation of Financiat&hents-Going Concern: Disclosu
of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Conie as a Going Concern ("ASU 2014-15") which presiduidance about management's
responsibility to evaluate whether or not thersubstantial doubt about our ability to continuaaging concern and to provide related
footnote disclosure. ASU 2014-15 is effective fiscél years, and interim periods within those figears, beginning after December 15, 2016
Early application is permitted. The adoption obtktandard is not expected to have an impact onangolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative And Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risks in the @mgicourse of our business. These risks primagiigte to interest rates. We had capital lease
obligations of $3.5 million and $2.0 million asDécember 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, resplyctivieich result from various capital
lease agreements to obtain our lab equipment. We&sh and cash equivalents of $107.0 million a81%million as of December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013, respectively, which cows$isank deposits and money market funds. Suchdstdrearing instruments carry a degree
of risk; however, we have not been exposed todnare anticipate being exposed to, material riglestd changes in interest rates. A
hypothetical 10% change in interest rates duringadrihe periods presented would not have had amahtmpact on our financial statements.

We face foreign exchange risk as a regudntering into transactions denominated in curieother than U.S. dollars (Chilean peso).
Due to the uncertain timing of expected paymentsiieign currencies, we do not utilize any forwaxthange contracts. All foreign
transactions settle on the applicable spot exchbagis at the time such payments are made. An selweovement in foreign exchange rates
could have a material effect on payments madertdn suppliers and for license agreements. A thgiatal 10% change in foreign exchange
rates during any of the periods presented woulchawe had a material impact on our financial stetemn
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Invitae Corporation

We have audited the accompanying conselitibalance sheets of Invitae Corporation (the Caoypas of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
and the related consolidated statements of opasatind comprehensive loss, convertible prefermzksind stockholders' deficit, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeehBecember 31, 2014. These financial statemeatharesponsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an @futhe Company's internal control over finangigorting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company's internal contr@rdinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnéxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementgaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementened to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of lag
Corporation at December 31, 2014 and 2013, anddhsolidated results of its operations and its ¢asts for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity Wwit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
March 27, 2015
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31
2014 2013
(In thousands, except shar
and per share amounts)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 107,020 $ 43,07(
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,61¢ 73€
Total current asse 109,64 43,80¢
Property and equipment, r 15,67: 8,16¢
Restricted cas 15C 12C
Other asset 3,31 1,01
Total asset $ 128,77¢ $ 53,10!

Liabilities, convertible preferred stock, and stockolders' deficit
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 286: $ 49¢
Accrued liabilities 3,231 88¢€
Capital lease obligation, current porti 1,52¢ 84t
Total current liabilities 7,62 2,22¢
Capital lease obligation, net of current port 2,011 1,15¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 401 39z
Liabilities related to early exercise of stock opt 14 31
Total liabilities 10,04¢ 3,80¢

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 131,524 and
81,131,537 shares authorized, 141,131,524 and 8548 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2014Danedmber 31,
2013, respectively; aggregate liquidation valu&2®7,002 and
$87,002 as of December 31, 2014 and December 3B, 28spectivel 202,30! 86,57
Stockholders' deficit
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 160,131,524 ant338637 share
authorized, 944,581 and 732,670 shares issuedwdsthnding as ¢
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, resplc — —
Additional paic-in capital 1,60¢ 40¢

Accumulated defici (85,180) (37,689
Total stockholders' defic (83,57¢) (37,28()
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock, astdckholders' defic $ 128,77¢ $ 53,10¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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INVITAE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss

Year ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands, except share and pe
share amounts)

Revenue $ 1,60¢ $ 14¢€ $ —
Costs and operating expens

Cost of revenu 5,62¢ 667 —

Research and developm 22,06: 16,03¢ 5,551

Selling and marketin 8,66¢ 2,431 —

General and administrati\ 12,60( 5,764 3,00¢

Total costs and operating expen 48,95¢ 24,90 8,561

Loss from operation (47,357 (24,757 (8,56))
Other income (expense), r (79 (26) 2
Interest expens (61) (59 (43)
Net loss and comprehensive I¢ $ (47,49) $ (24,830) $ (8,607
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (47,49) $ (24,989 $ (9,019
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldrs|dasic

and dilutec $ (56.19 $ (36.1H) $ (14.19
Shares used in computing net loss per share a#blmito

common stockholders, basic and dilu 846,02° 691,73: 635,70!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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INVITAE CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred $tk and Stockholders' Deficit

Convertible

preferred stock Common stock Additional Total

paid-in Accumulated stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit deficit
(In thousands, except share and per share amount

Balance as of
January 1, 201 15,874,99 $ 7,362 613,64 $ — 3 9 % (4,249 $ (4,239
Issuance of
Series C
convertible
preferred stoc
for cash and
the conversiot
of convertible
notes at $0.9%
per share, net
of issuance
costs of $16: 31,112,75 29,39: — — — — —
Common stock
issued on
exercise of
stock options — — 20,86 — 8 — 8
Vesting of
common stocl
related to earl
exercise of
options — — 26,60¢ — 9 — 9
Stock-based
compensation
expense — — — — 65 65
Net loss — — — — — (8,607) (8,607)
Balance as of
December 31,
2012 46,987,74 36,75¢ 661,11¢ — 91 (22,85() (22,759
Issuance of
Series D
convertible
preferred stoc
for cash at
$1.25 per
share, net of
issuance cost:
of $67 8,000,001 9,93: — — — — —
Issuance of
Series E
convertible
preferred stoc
for cash at
$1.53 per
share, net of
issuance cost:
of $114 26,143,77 39,88¢ — — — — —
Common stock
issued on
exercise of
stock options — — 31,66¢ — 39 — 39
Vesting of
common stocl
related to earl
exercise of
options — — 39,88¢ — 18 — 18
Stock-based
compensation
expense — — — — 26C — 26C
Net loss — — — — — (24,839 (24,83%)
Balance as of
December 31,
2013 81,131,52 86,57« 732,67( — 40¢ (37,689 (37,28()
Issuance of
Series F
convertible
preferred stoc
for cash at
$2.00 per
share, net of
issuance cost:
of $4,268 60,000,00 115,73: — — — — —

Common stock
issued or




exercise of stock
options

Vesting of
common stocl
related to earl
exercise of
options

Stock-based
compensation
expense

Net loss

Balance as of
December 31,
2014

— — 168,86 — 20¢ — 20¢
= = 43,04 = 16 = 16
— — — — 971 — 971
- = = = = (47,49) (47,49)
141,13152 $ 202,30! 94458 $ — 3 1,60 $ (85,180 $ (83,576

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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INVITAE CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss $ (47,49) $ (24,839 $ (8,607
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,31t 92¢ 2717
Stoclk-based compensatic 971 26( 65
Loss on disposal of ass¢ 37 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (1,880 (363) (309)
Other asset (849) (4) (992)
Accounts payabl 2,072 22C 174
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 2,38¢ 767 227
Net cash used in operating activit (42,440  (23,030) (9,159
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm (6,68¢) (4,520 (76€)
Change in restricted ca (30) (60) (60)
Net cash used in investing activiti (6,716 (4,580 (82€)
Cash flows from financing activities
Capital lease principal paymet (1,376 (1,009 (609)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ni — — 2,00(
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exeofis
stock option: 20¢ 67 18
Payments for deferred offering co (1,45)) — —
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferrecksiwet of
issuance cosl 115,73: 49,81¢ 27,39¢
Net cash provided by financing activiti 113,11: 48,87¢ 28,80:
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 63,95 21,26¢ 18,82:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of peric 43,07( 21,80: 2,97¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric $ 107,022 $ 43,07( $ 21,80:
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paic $ 61 $ 56 $ 29

Supplemental cash flow information of nor-cash investing
and financing activities:

Equipment acquired through capital lea

Conversion of convertible notes and accrued inténés
Series C convertible preferred stc

Purchases of property and equipment in accountaipayand

$ 285 $ $
$ $ $
accrued liabilities. $ 32t % 43 $ 64
$ $ $

1,79¢ 1,53¢

2,01¢

Deferred offering costs included in accounts pagaild

accrued liabilities 45C

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetfirancial statements.
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INVITAE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2014
1. Organization and description of business

Invitae Corporation (the "Company") wasdrgorated in the state of Delaware on January @B02as Locus Development, Inc. and
changed its name to Invitae Corporation in 2012 Tlmpany utilizes an integrated portfolio of ladiory processes, software tools and
informatics capabilities to process DNA-containgamples, analyze information about patient-speggitetic variation and generate test
reports for physicians and their patients. The Camythas two laboratories: one in San Franciscafdaila and a second in Santiago, Chile.
The Company's first product is an assay of 216 gjémat can be used for multiple indications. Thst irgcludes multiple genes associated with
hereditary cancer, neurological disorders, cardioutar disorders and other hereditary conditiolm& Company operates in one segment.

Reverse Stock Spl

In January 2015, the Company's board efctlirs approved an amendment to the Company's &uemdl restated certificate of
incorporation to effect a reverse split of the Camys issued and outstanding common stock at a-@-fatio, which was effected on
February 9, 2015. The par value and authorizedeshzfrcommon stock and convertible preferred steete not adjusted as a result of the
reverse split. All issued and outstanding commoulstoptions to purchase common stock and per stmorints contained in the financial
statements have been retroactively adjusted teatetthe reverse stock split for all periods presénthe financial statements have also been
retroactively adjusted to reflect a proportiongluatiment to the conversion ratio for each serigsreferred stock that will be effected in
connection with the reverse stock split.

Initial Public Offering

On February 12, 2015, the Company complateihitial public offering ("IPO") through the gabf 7,302,500 shares of common stock at
$16.00 per share, which raised approximately $168l&n in proceeds, net of underwriting discouatel commissions and offering expenses
as detailed in Note 12 "Subsequent events."
2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Principles of consolidatior

The Company's consolidated financial stateisihave been prepared in conformity with accagmrinciples generally accepted in the
United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The condated financial statements include the accountseoCompany and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and traisag have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with U.S. GAAP requires management tkenastimates and assumptions that affec
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdislosure of contingent liabilities as of the dat¢he financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the regqgréiriod. The Company believes judgment is involvedetermining revenue recognition;
the recoverability of long-lived assets; the fatue of the Company's common stock; stock-basegeasation expense; and income tax
uncertainties. The Company bases these
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
December 31, 2014
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Corued)

estimates on historical and anticipated resuks\ds, and various other assumptions that the Coyrplieves are reasonable under the
circumstances, including assumptions as to futueats. Actual results could differ materially frahose estimates and assumptions.

Concentrations of credit risk and other risks andhcertainties

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to a concentration of credit rimksist of cash and cash equivalents. The
Company's cash and cash equivalents are held &ydial institutions in the United States and CHilech deposits may exceed federally
insured limits.

As of December 31, 2014, substantiallyohthe Company's revenue has been derived frors séliés assay of 216 genes. Significant
customers are those which represent 10% or mateed€ompany's total revenue for each year presemt¢ke statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. For each significant custoregenue as a percentage of total revenue arelaw$ol

December 31

Customers 2014 2013
Customer A * 44%
Customer E 15% —

* Less than 10% of total reven

Cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquidéstments with original maturities of three monthgess from the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarilgrabunts invested in money market accounts.

Restricted casl

Restricted cash consists of a money mag@bunt that serves as collateral for a credit agréement at one of the Company's financial
institutions.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are stated at egstdccumulated depreciation and amortization. d2é&dion is computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the asgenerally between three and seven years. Ledseffarovements are amortized using the
straight-line method over the shorter of the estdaiseful life of the asset or the term of thesdeamortization expense of assets acquired
through capital leases is included in depreciadiod amortization expense in the consolidated setesrof operations and comprehensive los:
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense@sed, and improvements and betterments areatiapil. When assets are retired or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulatecediggon are removed from the balance sheet apdesmulting gain or loss is reflected in
statements of operations and comprehensive Iab&iperiod realized.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Corued)

The useful lives of the property and equépirare as follows:

Furniture and fixture 7 years
Automobiles 7 years
Laboratory equipmer 5 years
Computer equipmer 3 years
Software 3 years
Leasehold improvemen Shorter of lease term or estimated useful

Internal-use software

The Company capitalizes third-party costaiired in the application development stage tigdesnd implement the software used in its
tests and Invitae Family History Tool mobile apption. Costs incurred in the application developnstsge of the software and mobile
application are capitalized and will be amortizedroan estimated useful life of three years omaidtt line basis.

During the years ended December 31, 2084813, the Company capitalized $550,000 and $280@spectively, of software
development costs. The $250,000 was recorded jpepipand equipment as construction-in-progress &ecember 31, 2013, as it had not
been completed and placed in service.

Deferred Offering Cost:

Deferred offering costs, which primarilynsist of direct incremental legal and accountiresfeelating to the IPO, are capitalized. The
deferred offering costs are offset against IPO @eds upon the closing of the offering. As of Decengi, 2014, the Company capitalized
$1.9 million of deferred offering costs in othesets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Long-lived assets

The Company reviews long-lived assetsrgeairment whenever events or changes in circumssaincicate that the carrying amount of
the assets may not be recoverable. An impairmestitorecognized when the total estimated futudésgounted cash flows expected to result
from the use of the asset and its eventual digpasitre less than its carrying amount. Impairmiémtny, would be assessed using discounted
cash flows or other appropriate measures of fdiretdal he Company has not recorded an impairmeahgpfiong-lived assets during any of the
periods presented.

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value accounting is applied for atlgfhcial assets and liabilities and non-financiakésand liabilities that are recognized or disados
at fair value in the financial statements on a néeg basis (at least annually).
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Corued)
Revenue recognitiol

Revenue is generated from the sale of thatgrovide analysis and associated interpretatfdhe sequencing of parts of the genome.
Revenue associated with subsequent re-requisiinices was de minimis for all periods presented.

Revenue is recognized when persuasive ve@ef an arrangement exists; delivery has occlworegrvices have been rendered; the fee i
fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasbly assured. The criterion for whether the fefixied or determinable and whether
collectability is reasonably assured are based amagement's judgments. When evaluating collecthiiti situations where contracted
reimbursement coverage does not exist, the Compamsiders whether the Company has sufficient higtoreliably estimate a payor's
individual payment patterns. The Company revievesrthmber of tests paid against the number of bélitsl and the payor's outstanding
balance for unpaid tests to determine whether paysrage being made at a consistently high percerabtests billed and at appropriate
amounts given the amount billed. The Company habeen able to demonstrate a predictable pattecoltefctability, and therefore recognizes
revenue when payment is received.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue reflects the aggregatesgostirred in delivering the genetic testing restdtphysicians and includes expenses for
personnel costs including stock-based compensatiaterials and supplies, equipment and infrastra@dpenses associated with testing and
allocated overhead including rent, equipment deatien and utilities. Costs associated with perfioigrthe Company's test are recorded as th
test is processed regardless of whether and whenue is recognized with respect to that test.

Research and developme

Research and development costs are chéoggzbrations as incurred. Research and developeostt include, but are not limited to,
payroll and personnel-related expenses, stock-bamagensation expense, reagents and laboratoryiesipgonsulting costs, and allocated
overhead including rent, information technologyjipgqent depreciation and utilities.

Income taxes

The Company uses the asset and liabilitshatkof accounting for income taxes. Under thishudt deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the differences between thadial reporting and the tax bases of assets ahtlities and are measured using the ene
tax rates and laws that will be in effect whendiféerences are expected to reverse. A valuatimwaince is provided when it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of a deferredasset will not be realized.

Stocl-based compensation

The Company measures its stock-based payamerds made to employees and directors basdueoestimated fair values of the awards
and recognizes the compensation expense overdhesite service period. The Company uses the B&ateles option-pricing model to
estimate the fair value of
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its stock-based awards. Stock-based compensatmansa is recognized using the straight-line metBtotk-based compensation expense is
based on the value of the portion of stock-basgthpat awards that is ultimately expected to vestséch, the Company's stock-based
compensation is reduced for the estimated forfestat the date of grant and revised, if necessasybsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates.

The Company accounts for compensation esgeglated to stock options granted to non-empkbopesed on the fair values estimated
using the Black-Scholes model. Stock options ghtdenon-employees are remeasured at each repddbeguntil the award is vested.

Foreign currency transactions

The Company uses the U.S. dollar as itstfanal currency for its subsidiary in Chile. Fapeicurrency assets and liabilities are
remeasured into U.S. dollars using the end of dezi@hange rates except for nonmonetary assetsaildies, which are remeasured using
historical exchange rates. Expenses are remeassigglan average exchange rate for the respeaivedy Gains or losses from foreign
currency transactions are included in other incéexgense), net, on the consolidated statementgeshtons and comprehensive loss. Foreigt
currency transaction gains and losses have notdigeificant to the consolidated financial statetadar all periods presented.

Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss is composed of two caorapts: net loss and other comprehensive loss. @tmeprehensive loss refers to gains and
losses that under U.S. GAAP are recorded as areetenfi stockholders' deficit, but are excluded froet loss. The Company did not record
any transactions within other comprehensive loghérperiods presented and, therefore, net loss@mgrehensive loss were the same for all
periods presented.

Net loss per share attributable to common stocklesk

Basic net loss per share attributable taroon stockholders is calculated by dividing neslatiributable to common stockholders by the
weightedaverage number of common shares outstanding dtivengeriod, without consideration of common stogliealents. Diluted net lo:
per share attributable to common stockholdersnspedged by dividing net loss attributable to comnstockholders by the weighted-average
number of common share equivalents outstandinthfoperiod determined using the treasury stock atetRotentially dilutive securities
consisting of convertible preferred stock and amito purchase common stock are considered torhenoo stock equivalents and were
excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss ghare attributable to common stockholders bectner effect would be antidilutive for all
periods presented. Common shares subject to regme@re excluded from the weighted-average sHawmeshe years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, 23,903, 54,407 and 58,36 &slsabject to repurchase, respectively, are exdlfrden basic loss per share calculation.
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Recent accounting pronouncemer

On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accountirigrlards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standalddate ("ASU") 2014-09Revenue
from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"), which requires an entity to recizgnthe amount of revenue to which it expects tefgled
for the transfer of promised goods or serviceaugiamers. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existingerele recognition guidance in
U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The new stethdall become effective for the Company on Janugrg017. Early application is not
permitted. The standard permits the use of eitierdtrospective or cumulative effect transitiortnd. The Company is evaluating the effect
that ASU 2014-09 will have on its consolidated final statements and related disclosures. The Coynipas not yet selected a transition
method nor has it determined the effect of thedstathon its ongoing financial reporting.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No.£2Q5 (Subtopic 205-40)—Presentation of Financiat&8hents—-Going Concern: Disclosu
of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Conie as a Going Concern ("ASU 2014-15") which presiduidance about management's
responsibility to evaluate whether there is suliitbhdoubt about the Company's ability to contimsea going concern and to provide related
footnote disclosure. ASU 2014-15 is effective fiscél years, and interim periods within those figesars, beginning after December 15, 2016
Early application is permitted. The adoption oktktandard is not expected to have an impact o€dngpany's consolidated financial
statements.

3. Balance sheet components
Property and equipment, ne
Property and equipment consisted of thieiehg (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013

Leasehold improvemen $ 1912 $ 1,52i
Laboratory equipmer 6,52¢ 3,56
Equipment under capital lea 3,73¢ 3,73¢
Computer equipmer 1,15¢ 12C
Software 831 18
Furniture and fixture 15¢ 21
Automobiles — 16
Constructiorin-progress 4,85: 41(
Total property and equipment, grc 19,17¢ 9,41¢
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (3,509 (1,250
Total property and equipment, r $ 15,67: $ 8,16«

Included in the construction-in-progress balancefa3ecember 31, 2014 was $2.9 million of capiéalde equipment that had not been placed
in service. Depreciation and amortization expenae $2.3 million, $0.9 million and $0.3 million ftre years ended December 31, 2014, 201.
and 2012, respectively.

87




Table of Contents

INVITAE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
December 31, 2014
3. Balance sheet components (Continued)
Accrued liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the follmg (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013
Accrued compensation and related expe $ 1,43¢ $ 27¢
Accrued professional servic 1,03( 201
Accrued costs for constructi-in-progress 32 16¢
Other 73€ 23¢
Total accrued liabilitie: $ 3,237 $ 88¢

4. Fair value measurements

Financial assets and liabilities are reedrdt fair value. The carrying amounts of certdithe Company's financial instruments, including
cash equivalents, and accounts payable, are vatusabt, which approximates fair value due to tekaort maturities. Fair value is defined as
the price that would be received to sell an assphi to transfer a liability (an exit price) in arderly transaction between market participant:
at the reporting date. The authoritative guidarstatdishes a three-level valuation hierarchy thiatrjpizes the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value based upon whetherispats are observable or unobservable. Observaplés reflect market data obtained from
independent sources, while unobservable inputeatefharket assumptions made by the reporting entity

The three-level hierarchy for the inputv&tuation techniques is briefly summarized asofof:
Level 1—Observable inputs such as quoted priceadjusted) for identical instruments in active méske

Level 2—Observable inputs such as quoted pricesifoitar instruments in active markets, quotedesitor identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active, or riddeved valuations whose significant inputs abservable.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the repgrentity's own assumptions.

The Company's financial instruments cormidy of Level 1 assets, which are highly liquidmeg market accounts. At December 31, 2
and 2013, the Company had $15.2 million and $33li®m respectively, in money market accounts thia included in cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash on the consolidsdthce sheets.

5. Commitments and contingencies
Convertible Notes

The Company entered into a Note Purchaseekgent dated May 22, 2012, as amended June 27 a2@ilJuly 26, 2012 with investors
and issued notes in the aggregate principal anmafuB®.0 million. The convertible notes had a mayudiate of November 1, 2012 and an
annual interest
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rate of 8.0%. In August 2012, the outstanding ppialc$2.0 million and accrued interest of $18,002evconverted into Series C convertible
preferred stock at the price paid by other purctsafee the Series C convertible preferred stock.

Operating leases

The Company has entered into various narcadable operating lease agreements for officdaatatory facilities located in California
with lease periods expiring between 2016 and 202May 2013, the Company entered into a lease aggrefor laboratory space in Santiago,
Chile with a lease term of two years with an autticrtavo-year renewal option. Some of the lease egents include scheduled rent increases
over the terms of the leases. Rent increases dimguhe impact of rent holidays and leasehold mapment allowances from landlords, were
recognized as deferred rent and are amortizedstraight-line basis over the term of the origirglde. The Company has provided security
deposits of $1.4 million and $1.0 million as of Bewer 31, 2014 and 2103, respectively, as colldiershe leases which is included in other
assets in the Company's balance sheets. Futuremminiease payments under non-cancellable operaiiisgs as of December 31, 2014 are a
follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31 Amounts
2015 $ 2,63
2016 2,67¢
2017 1,32¢
2018 77C
2019 79z
Thereaftel 19¢

Total minimum lease paymer $ 8,39¢

Rent expense was $1.4 million, $0.8 million and2$aillion for the years ended December 31, 2014328nd 2012, respectively.
Capital leases

The Company has entered into various ddpiise agreements to obtain lab equipment. Thynatiterm of the capital leases is typically
three years with interest rates ranging from 3.598-9%. The leases are secured by the underlyingeaarit. The portion of the future
payments designated as
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principal repayment was classified as a capitaldezbligation on the consolidated balance sheatarépayments under the capital lease as c
December 31, 2014 are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31 Amounts
2015 $ 1,57:
2016 1,215
2017 87t
2018 70
Total capital lease obligatiol 3,73¢
Less: amount representing inter (200
Present value of net minimum capital lease payn 3,53¢
Less: current portio (1,529
Total noncurrent capital lease obligatic $ 2,011

Interest expense related to capital leases wa9®8,1$59,000 and $25,000 for the years ended Deze&ih 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Property and equipment under capital leases$6.6 million and $3.7 million as of Decembgy 3014 and 2013, respectively, including
$2.9 million of capital lease equipment that hatibre®en placed in service as of December 31, 20tdurulated depreciation and
amortization, collectively, on these assets wa4g #iillion and $0.6 million as of December 31, 2@ 2013, respectively.

Guarantees and indemnifications

As permitted under Delaware law and in agance with the Company's bylaws, the Company imdiées its officers and directors for
certain events or occurrences while the officedicector is or was serving in such capacity. Th&imam amount of potential future
indemnification is unlimited; however, the Companyrently holds director and officer liability insunce. This insurance allows the transfer o
the risk associated with the Company's exposurevaydenable it to recover a portion of any futureoants paid. The Company believes the
fair value of these indemnification agreementsiisimal. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded abilities associated with these
indemnification agreements as of December 31, 202013.

Contingencies

On November 25, 2013, the University of tUResearch Foundation, the Trustees of the UntyessPennsylvania, HSC Research and
Development Limited Partnership, Endorecherche,dnd Myriad Genetics, Inc. (collectively, the Mgl Plaintiffs) filed a complaint in the
District of Utah (the Utah Action), alleging thatrtain of the Company's genetic testing servicEme certain claims of various U.S. Patents
(collectively, the Myriad Patents). On November 2613, the Company filed a complaint for declarajadgment in the Northern District of
California (the California Action), asserting thiae Myriad Patents are invalid and the Company do¢nfringe them, and the Myriad
Plaintiffs counterclaimed alleging that the Companfyinges the Myriad Patents. Although the Utaltid was dismissed, on February 19,
2014, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigatigranted the Myriad Plaintiffs' motion to consalid for pre-trial proceedings all actions
concerning the Myriad
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Patents (the MDL Proceedings), with the MDL Prodegsitaking place in the District of Utah. On Jawyu23, 2015, the Myriad Plaintiffs
stipulated to the dismissal with prejudice of dltlmeir claims and granted the Company a covenantasue for all of the patents they had
asserted against the Company. On January 26, 8 6purt issued an order dismissing the CalifoAution with prejudice, thereby ending
the litigation.

The Company may become party to variousrattaims and complaints arising in the ordinaryrse of business. Management does not
believe that any ultimate liability resulting frommy of these claims will have a material adver$ecebn its results of operations, financial
condition, or liquidity. However, management cangioe any assurance regarding the ultimate outcoftteese claims, and their resolution
could be material to operating results for anyipaldr period, depending upon the level of incometfie period.

6. Convertible preferred stock

Convertible preferred stock as of Decen®igr2014 and 2013 consists of the following (inuends, except share and per share data):

Proceeds
Shares Aggregate net of
Shares Original issued and liquidation issuance
authorized issue price outstanding amount costs
Series A 11,693,17 $ 0.44 11,693,17 $ 514t $ 5,10¢
Series B 4,181,81 0.5t 4,181,81! 2,30( 2,257
Series C 31,112,75 0.9t 31,112,75 29,557 29,39
Series C 8,000,001 1.2t 8,000,001 10,00( 9,93:
Series E 26,143,77 1.5: 26,143,77 40,00( 39,88¢
Series F 60,000,00 2.0C 60,000,00 120,00( 115,78
Balance at December 31,
2014 141,131,52 141,131,52 $ 207,00. $ 202,35!
Proceeds.
Shares Aggregate net of
Shares Original issued and liquidation issuance
authorized issue price outstanding amount costs
Series A 11,693,17 $ 0.44 11,693,17 $ 514t $ 5,10¢
Series B 4,181,811 0.5t 4,181,81 2,30( 2,25:
Series C 31,112,75 0.9t 31,112,75 29,557 29,39!
Series C 8,000,001 1.2t 8,000,001 10,00( 9,93t
Series E 26,143,79 1.5 26,143,77 40,00( 39,88¢
Balance at December 31, 2C 81,131,53 81,131,52 $ 87,00: $ 86,57
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The rights, preferences and privileges of the cdible preferred stock are as follows:
Dividends

The holders of the outstanding shares a&S®, Series C, Series D, Series E, and Ser@miertible preferred stock are entitled to
receive, when and if declared by the Board of Daes; a noreumulative cash dividend at the rate of $0.0440%8, $0.10, $0.1224, and $0.
per share per annum, respectively. Such dividerelpayable in preference to any dividends on comstock declared by the Board of
Directors. The holders of the outstanding shareSesfes A convertible preferred stock are entittececeive, when and if declared by the B
of Directors, the amount of any dividend paid oy ather shares of capital stock (including shafeSavies B, Series C, Series D, Series E an
Series F convertible preferred stock). Such divitseare payable in preference to any dividends amuoon stock and pari passu with any
dividends on Series B, Series C, Series D, Ser@sdESeries F convertible preferred stock, exdegitan amount equal on average to $0.089¢
per share of Series A convertible preferred stookld; if a dividend is declared by the Board ofdaiiors, be payable in preference to any
dividends on Series B, Series C, Series D, Ser@sdESeries F convertible preferred stock. No @inds have been declared to date.

Conversion rights

Each share of Series A, Series B, Serie®e@es D, Series E, and Series F convertible peefestock is, at the option of the holder,
convertible into the number of fully paid and n@sessable shares of common stock as determinegitiyng the original issue price
applicable to such convertible preferred stockheydonversion price in effect at that time. Thewassion price for each series of convertible
preferred stock shall initially be the originalugsprice of such series of preferred stock and bleahdjusted in accordance with conversion
provisions contained in the Company's Amended agstdaRed Certificate of Incorporation.

Each share of convertible preferred stoitkbe automatically converted into shares of commtock based on the then effective
conversion price (i) upon the affirmative electmfithe holders of at least a majority of the outdtag shares of the convertible preferred stoc}
or (i) immediately upon the closing of a firmly derwritten public offering filed under the Secwg#tiAct of 1933, as amended, covering the
offer and sale of common stock for the accounhef@ompany at a price of at least $12.00 per salgect to adjustment in the event of any
stock split) and in which the gross proceeds tocQbmpany are at least $30.0 million. In connectigth the completion of the initial public
offering on February 12, 2015, all shares of cotibkr preferred stock were converted into commalsbn a 1-for-6 basis.

Voting rights

Each holder is entitled to the number degcequal to the number of shares of common stdokwhich the shares of preferred stock ct
be converted.
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Liguidation rights

Upon liquidation, dissolution, or winding of the Company, the holders of the convertibkfgred stock shall be entitled to receive,
prior and in preference to any distribution of afiyhe assets or surplus funds of the Companyadtiders of shares of common stock, an
amount equal to the per share issue price of serbssof preferred stock ($0.44 per share for Sekieonvertible preferred stock, $0.55 per
share for Series B convertible preferred stockO%@er share for Series C convertible preferredkstdl.25 per share for Series D convertible
preferred stock, $1.53 per share for Series E atibleepreferred stock, and $2.00 per share foieSd¥ convertible preferred stock), plus all
declared and unpaid dividends on such shares mtidg instance of Series A convertible preferregdlstan additional amount equal on aver
to $0.0895 per share (the "liquidation preferencé'gvailable assets are insufficient to pay thiélfquidation preference, the available assets
will be distributed among the holders of the cotibér preferred stock, on a pari passu and prolvasis. After the payment of the liquidation
preference, all remaining assets available foritistion will be distributed ratably among the heild of the common stock.

Other

The convertible preferred stock is recordefhir value on the dates of issuance, net ofisse costs. The Company classifies the
convertible preferred stock outside of stockholdegsiity because the shares contain liquidatiotufea that are not solely within its control.
During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h8, the Company did not adjust the carrying v@hfethe convertible preferred stock to
the deemed redemption values of such shares siigp@d@ation event was not probable.

7. Stockholders' deficit
Common stock

The holders of each share of common stagk lone vote for each share of stock. The comnumkisblders are also entitled to receive
dividends whenever funds and assets are legalija@l@and when declared by the Board of Directeuhject to the prior rights of holders of
all series of convertible preferred stock outstagdi
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7. Stockholders' deficit (Continued)

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Coypad reserved shares of common stock, on ancasviferted basis, for issuance as
follows:

As of December 31

2014 2013

Conversion of Series A convertible preferred st 1,948,86! 1,948,86!
Conversion of Series B convertible preferred si 696,96¢ 696,96¢
Conversion of Series C convertible preferred si 5,185,45: 5,185,45!
Conversion of Series D convertible preferred st 1,333,33, 1,333,33;
Conversion of Series E convertible preferred s 4,357,28 4,357,28!
Conversion of Series F convertible preferred s 9,999,98' —
Options issued and outstandi 1,923,33. 1,173,01!
Options available for grant under stock option 276,80! 873,23.
Total 25,722,02 15,568,15

8. Stock incentive plan
2010 Stock incentive plan

In 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 lime®lan (the "2010 Plan"). The 2010 Plan proviiteghe granting of stockased awards 1
employees, directors, and consultants under tengipeovisions established by the Board of Directorsder the terms of the 2010 Plan,
options may be granted at an exercise price nstthes fair market value. For employees holdingariban 10% of the voting rights of all
classes of stock, the exercise prices for incerghaknonstatutory stock options must be at lea@¥daf fair market of the common stock on
grant date, as determined by the Board of Direcidne terms of options granted under the 2010 Rlay not exceed ten years.

Options granted generally vest over a pkoiofour years. Typically, the vesting scheduledptions granted to newly hired employees
provides that / 4 of the grant vests upon the first anniversary efémployee's date of hire, with the remainder efdiiares vesting monthly

thereafter at a rate &f 4sof the total shares subject to the option. All othetions typically vest in equal monthly installnte over the four-
year vesting schedul
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Activity under the 2010 Plan is set fortldw (in thousands, except share and per sharergmand years):

Weighted- Weighted-average

Shares Stock average remaining Aggregate
available options exercise contractual life intrinsic
for grant outstanding price (years) value

Balances at December 31,
2012 801,85( 752,96¢ 0.8¢ 9.61 $ 19¢
Additional options
authorizec 559,02 — —
Granted (506,14 506,14: 2.37
Cancellec 18,49¢ (18,499 1.61
Exercisec — (67,597 0.94
Balances at December 31,
2013 873,23. 1,173,01' $ 1.4C 9.0 $ 2,15t
Additional options
authorizec 333,33 — —
Repurchase of unvested
early exercise shart 1,95¢ — —
Granted (1,164,99) 1,164,991 6.21
Cancellec 233,27( (233,27() 2.07
Exercisec — (181,40 1.1t
Balances at December 31,
2014 276,80 192333 $ 4.37 8.9C $ 15,94¢
Options exercisable at
December 31, 201 401,15¢ $  1.4¢ 7.858 $ 4,481
Options vested and expecte
to vest at December 31,
2014 1,870,10. $ 4.3: 8.8¢ $ 15,58

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculasdhe difference between the exercise priceetittderlying stock options and the fair value of
the Company's common stock for stock options tlatvin-the-money.

The weighted-average fair value of optitmpurchase common stock granted was $4.68, $1@%@.80 per share in the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The fair value of options to purchase commstmck vested was $494,000, $204,000 and $34rD@iyears ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012.

The intrinsic value of options to purchasenmon stock exercised was $644,000, $60,000 anmd th@ years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

Early exercise of stock optior

The 2010 Plan allows for the granting ofi@ps that may be exercised before the options kastd. Shares issued as a result of early
exercise that have not vested are subject to repaecby the Company upon termination of the puerteasmployment or services, at the price
paid by the purchaser, and are not deemed to beddsr accounting purposes until those relatedesheest. The amounts received in exch
for these shares have been recorded as a liadilithe accompanying balance sheets and will bassified into common stock and additional
paid-in-capital as the shares vest. The Compaigyis to repurchase these shares generally ldpsesiter a one-year cliff then at a monthly
rate of'/ asthereafter.
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At December 31, 2014 and 2013, there w88 and 54,407 shares of common stock outstandiagectively, subject to the Compa
right of repurchase at prices ranging from $0.381®6 per share. At December 31, 2014 and 20&3Cthmpany recorded $14,000 and
$31,000, respectively, as liabilities associatetth whares issued with repurchase rights.

Stocl-based compensation

The Company uses the grant date fair valiis common stock to value both employee and employee options when granted. The
Company revalues non-employee options each regagueniod using the fair market value of the Compmogmmon stock as of the last day of
each reporting period.

In determining the fair value of the stdwksed awards, the Company uses the Black-Schdiesqpicing model and assumptions
discussed below. Each of these inputs is subjeatinkits determination generally requires signiftgadgment.

Expected term —The expected term represents the period that timep@ny's stock-based awards are expected to bauoditsy and is
determined using the simplified method (based emtidpoint between the vesting date and the etideoontractual term).

Expected volatility —Because the Company was privately held and dichae¢ any trading history for its common stock, éRpected
volatility was estimated based on the average Nityefor comparable publicly traded biopharmaceaticompanies over a period equal to the
expected term of the stock option grants. Wherctialg comparable publicly traded companies in alammdustry on which it has based its
expected stock price volatility, the Company se&ldaompanies with comparable characteristics todluding enterprise value, risk profiles,
position within the industry, and with historicdlese price information sufficient to meet the expddife of the stock-based awards. The
historical volatility data was computed using tleydclosing prices for the selected companies'moam stock during the equivalent period of
the calculated expected term of the stock-baseddsw@he Company will continue to apply this pracestil a sufficient amount of historical
information regarding the volatility of its own stoprice becomes available.

Risk-free interest rate —The risk-free interest rate is based on the Ur8a3ury zero coupon issues in effect at the tingrandt for periods
corresponding with the expected term of the option.

Dividend yield —The Company has never paid dividends on its comstack and has no plans to pay dividends on itsncomstock.
Therefore, the Company used an expected dividezld pf zero.
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The fair value of share-based paymentsition granted to employees and directors was agtinon the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing valuation model based orfélewing assumptions:

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Expected term (in year 6.0: 6.0: 6.0z

Expected volatility 83.8-86.6% 88.5-94.52% 88.6-89.1%
Risk-free interest rat 1.53-1.91% 0.99-1.97% 0.82-1.2t%

Dividend yield — — —

Stock-based compensation related to stptikms granted to noamployees is recognized as the stock options aneeaThe fair value
the stock options granted is calculated at eachrtieg date using the Black-Scholes option priaimgdel with the following assumptions:
expected life is equal to the remaining contracteiah of the award as of the measurement daterrgrigpm 9.37 years to 9.40 years as of
December 31, 2014, 9.25 years to 9.60 years agodbber 31, 2013, and 8.19 years to 10.00 yearsacember 31, 2012, respectively;
free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury Constatiriarate with a term similar to the expectea Idf the option at the measurement date;
expected dividend yield of 0%; and volatility of.8% as of December 31, 2014, 88.5% as of Decemhet(3.3 and 88.5% to 89.0% as of
December 31, 2012, respectively.

The following table summarizes stock-basaapensation expense related to stock optiondéoyears ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 included in the statements of operations antpcehensive loss as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Cost of revenu $ 102 $ 11 $ —
Research and developme 382 16E 46
Selling and marketin 21€ 42 —
General and administrati\ 271 42 19

Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 971 $ 26C $ 65

As of December 31, 2014, unrecognized cars@tion expense related to unvested options, rettwhated forfeitures, was $5.3 million,
which the Company expects to recognize on a stidilgh basis over a weighted-average period ofy@ars.
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9. Income taxes

The Company did not record a provision emdfit for income taxes during the years ended Bées 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012. The
components of loss before income taxes by U.Sfameign jurisdictions are as follows (in thousands)

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

United State: $ 46,32¢ $ 23,52 $ 8,60
Foreign 1,16¢ 1,31¢€ —
Total $ 47,49. $ 24,83t $ 8,60

The following table presents a reconcitiatof the tax expense computed at the statutosréddate and the Company's tax expense for
the periods presented:

Year ended December 31
2014 2013 2012

U.S. federal taxes at statutory r 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
State taxes (net of federal bene 0.7 0.¢ 5.€
Non-deductible expense (0.7) (0.4 (0.6)
Foreign tax differentia (0.9 (1.9 —
Change in valuation allowan: (33.2) (32.7) (39.9
Total 0.C% 0.C0% 0.C%

The tax effects of temporary differenced aarryforwards that give rise to significant ponts of the deferred tax assets are as follows (ir
thousands):

As of December 31

2014 2013
Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 28,02: $ 13,62
Tax credits 13 31
Accruals and othe 1,914 11&
Gross deferred tax ass: 29,94¢ 13,77(
Valuation allowanct (29,499 (13,417
Net deferred tax asse 451 357

Deferred tax liabilities
Property and equipme $ (451) $ (357)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (457) (357)
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —
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The Company has established a full valuadidtowance against its deferred tax assets dtheetancertainty surrounding realization of s
assets. The valuation allowance increased by $h8libn and $8.4 million during the years ended Braber 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hadperating loss carryforwards of approximately &7million and $41.3 million available
reduce future taxable income, if any, for Federa @alifornia state income tax purposes, respdgtiidone of these amounts represents
federal and state tax deductions from stock basetgpensation which will be recorded as an adjustrtteatiditional paid-in capital when they
reduce taxes payable. The U.S. federal and Caiitate net operating loss carryforwards will betgi expire in 2030.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hadperating loss carryforwards for foreign incorar purposes of $2.4 million which have
no expiration date.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hadarch and development credit carryforwards of@pprately $2.2 million and $2.0 millic
available to reduce its future tax liability, ifygrfor Federal and California state income tax psgs, respectively. The Federal credit
carryforwards begin to expire in 2030. Californiadit carryforwards have no expiration date. A©etember 31, 2014, the Company has
other tax credits of $18,000 that have no expiragieriod for the majority of the credits.

Utilization of the net operating loss cdoryvards and credits may be subject to an annomtdtion due to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Cotl&%86 and similar state provisions. The annuaittitton may result in the expiration of net
operating losses and credits before utilization. Séotion 382 study has been completed as of Deae®ih2014.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hadaagnized tax benefits of $5.7 million, none ofisthwould currently affect the Compan
effective tax rate if recognized due to the Commdegferred tax assets being fully offset by a atidun allowance. The Company has not
accrued interest and penalties related to the ogrezed tax benefits reflected in the financiatestaents for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012. Unrecognized tax benefiteatrexpected to change in the next 12 months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and erglaamount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follGwshousands):

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of pel $ 2,10 $ 61& $ 152
Gross increas—current period tax positior 1,87¢ 1,48 46€
Gross increas—prior period tax position 1,687 — —
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of per $ 5661 $ 2,10( $ 61¢

The Company's policy is to include penalé@d interest expense related to income taxes@asponent of tax expense. There was no
interest expense or penalties related to unrecedriex benefits recorded through December 31, 2014.

99




Table of Contents

INVITAE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
December 31, 2014
9. Income taxes (Continued)

The Company's major tax jurisdictions e Wnited States and California. All of the Compgartgix years will remain open for
examination by the Federal and state tax authsefitiethree and four years, respectively, fromdate of utilization of the net operating loss or
research and development credit. The Company dutdsane any tax audits pending.

10. Net loss per share attributable to common stotlolders

The following table presents the calculatid basic and diluted net loss per share attriflatto common stockholders for the years endec
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (in thousandspésbare and per share amounts):

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $ (47,49) $ (24,83) $ (8,602

Less: dividends on convertible preferre

stock — (157) (412)

Net loss attributable to commu

stockholder $ (47,497 $ (24,989 $ (9,019
Shares used in computing net loss per st

attributable to common stockholders,

basic and dilute: 846,02° 691,73: 635,70!
Net loss per share attributable to comr

stockholders, basic and dilut $ (56.19) $ (36.19) $ (14.19

The following outstanding shares of commstotk equivalents have been excluded from diluttdass per share attributable to common
stockholders for the years ended December 31, ZIB and 2012 because their inclusion would biecilntive:

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Shares of common stock subject to

outstanding option 1,923,33; 1,173,01! 752,96¢
Shares of common stock subject to

conversion from preferred sto 23,521,88 13,521,90 7,831,28
Shares of common stock subject to

unvested early exercise of

outstanding options subject to

repurchass 23,90: 54,40’ 58,36

Total shares of common stock

equivalents 25,469,12 14,749,32  8,642,61
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Revenue by country is determined basedemilling address of the customer. The followimgsents revenue by country for
December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

December 31

T 2014 2013

United State! $ 1,061 $ 62
Israel 10¢ 65
Canade 31C 2
Rest of worlc 11€ 19
Revenue $ 1,60¢ $ 14¢

Long-lived assets (net) by location are swuarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
United State: $ 13,85¢ $ 5,934
Chile 1,814 2,23(

Total long-lived assets, ne $ 15,67. $ 8,16¢

12. Subsequent events
Initial public offering

On February 12, 2015, the Company soldZ/3ID shares of common stock at $16.00 per shaagfpregate net proceeds of
$105.8 million after underwriting discounts and eoissions and offering expenses related to the TP includes the exercise in full by the
underwriters of their option to purchase up to 880,additional shares of common stock at the saime  cover over-allotments. Upon the
closing of the IPO, all shares of convertible prefd stock then outstanding converted into 23,54 shares of common stock.

2015 Stock Incentive Plan

In January 2015, the Company adopted th®& 3dock Incentive Plan, or the 2015 Plan, whioteb®e effective upon the closing of the
IPO. The 2015 Plan had 4,370,452 shares of comtack available for future issuance at the timet®kifectiveness, which included 120,452
shares under the 2010 Plan which were transfeoréuet2015 Plan upon effectiveness of the 2015. Hlaa 2015 Plan provides for automatic
annual increases in shares available for grantpheg on January 1, 2016 through January 1, 20R&ddition, shares subject to awards unde
the 2010 Plan that are forfeited or terminated hélladded to the 2015 Plan. The 2015 Plan provYatdhe grant of incentive stock options,
nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock awastigk units, stock appreciation rights and ofbens of equity compensation, all of which
may be granted to employees, including officergi-amployee directors and consultants. Additionahg, 2015 Plan provides for the grant of
cash-based awards.
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2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In January 2015, the Company adopted ti®& Hinployee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), wieclame effective upon the closing of
the IPO. A total of 325,000 shares of common strekreserved for issuance under the ESPP. Eligiblgoyees may purchase common stocl
at 85% of the lesser of the fair market value ofinton stock on the purchase date or last tradingpdegeding the offering date. The ESPP
provides for automatic annual increases in sharaadle for grant, beginning on January 1, 20xX6ugh January 1, 2025. The Company has
not determined the date on which the initial pusghperiod will commence under the ESPP.

New Lease!

In March 2015, the Company leased additispace in San Francisco and Oakland, Califorriie [Eases expire in April and June 2017
and aggregate future minimum lease payments feetfaxilities are approximately $2.4 million.

13. Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following table contains quarterly fireéal information for 2014 and 2013. The Compankelves that the following information
reflects all normal recurring adjustments necesfarg fair statement of the information for theipds presented. The operating results for an
guarter are not necessarily indicative of resutsafhy future period.

Three months endec
Dec 31, Sept 30, June 30, Mar 31, Dec31, Sept30, June 30, Mar 31,

(In thousands, except per share amount: 2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
Revenue $ 875$ 31C$ 301$ 11€$ 88% 54% 6 —
Loss from operation $(15,289)%$(12,539$(10,5160%$(9,019%$(8,115$(7,003)$(5,412)$(4,227)
Net loss $(15,305%(12,615%$(10,539%(9,039)%(8,131)%(7,049)%(5,427)$(4,23¢€)
Net loss attributable to commi

stockholder: $(15,305%(12,615%$(10,539%(9,039)%(8,131)%(7,049)%(5,471)$(4,337)

Net loss per share attributable
common stockholders, basic an
diluted $ (16.56% (14.29)% (12.80)$(12.00$(11.19$(10.1)$ (8.09)% (6.5))
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ITEM 9. Changes In And Disagreements With Accoutants On Accounting And Financial Disclosure.
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. Controls And Procedures.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain "disclosure controls and praced,” as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(deuthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, o
Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure thatriveftion required to be disclosed by us in repdrds we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and repuitbin the time periods specified in Securitiesl &xchange Commission rules and for
and that such information is accumulated and conicated to our management, including our principaogitive officer and principal financ
officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisioagarding required disclosure. In designing anduastimng our disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognized that disclosmteots and procedures, no matter how well conckavel operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the nfeiedf the disclosure controls and proceduresraie Our disclosure controls and procedures
have been designed to meet reasonable assurandarsis Additionally, in designing disclosure cofgrand procedures, our management
necessarily was required to apply its judgmentvelating the cost-benefit relationship of possitikclosure controls and procedures. The
design of any disclosure controls and procedurssialbased in part upon certain assumptions aheuikelihood of future events, and there
can be no assurance that any design will succeachieving its stated goals under all potentialfeitconditions.

Based on their evaluation as of the entth@fperiod covered by this Annual Report on ForrK10ur Chief Executive Officer (our
principal executive officer) and Chief Financialfioér (our principal financial officer) have conded that, as of such date, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at the rese assurance level.

Management's annual report on internal control overfinancial reporting

This annual report does not include a repbmanagement's assessment regarding internabtoner financial reporting or an attestat
report of our registered public accounting firm doe transition period established by rules ofSkeurities and Exchange Commission for
newly public companies.

ITEM 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers And Corpoate Governance.
Executive officers and directors

The following table sets forth, as of Mafc2015, certain information regarding our exeaitfficers and directors:

Name Age Position

Randal W. Scott, Ph.C 57 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Direc

Sean E. George, Ph.I 41 President, Chief Operating Officer, Director anc-Founder
Lisa Aldersor 44 Chief Commercial Office

Lee Bendekge 57 Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and Secke

Eric Aguiar, M.D.(1)(2)(3] 53 Director

Geoffrey S. Crouse(1)(2)(. 44 Director

Q) Member of our Compensation Committee
(2) Member of our Audit Committee

©)) Member of our Nominating and Corporate Governanocenittee
Executive officers

Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.  has served as our Chairman and Chief Exec@tffieer since August 2012 and as a director sir@E02 From
2000 through August 2012, Dr. Scott held a numlbgogitions at Genomic Health, Inc., a public-hg&homic information company which he
co-founded in 2000, most recently as the Chief Hitee Officer of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Geniorilealth, and as a director. Prior to
that, Dr. Scott served as Executive Chairman oBihard of Genomic Health, from January 2009 untiirth 2012 and Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer from August 2000 um@cember 2008. Dr. Scott was a founder of Incytgp@mtion, which at the time was a
genomic information company, and served in varimlss from 1991 through 2000, including Chairmaithef Board, President and Chief
Scientific Officer. Dr. Scott holds a B.S. in Chainy from Emporia State University and a Ph.D. iadBemistry from the University of
Kansas. We believe that Dr. Scott is qualifiedense on our board due to his years of experientiedrife sciences industry and his extensive
executive leadership and management experienagblic gompanies.

Sean E. George, Ph.D. is one of our co-founders and has served aPmsident and Chief Operating Officer since AuQ@t?2. He has
also served as a director since January 2010. itilinserved as our Chief Executive Officer fratanuary 2010 to August 2012. Prior to co-
founding Invitae, Dr. George served as Chief OpegaDfficer from 2007 to November 2009 at Navigenimc., a personalized medicine
company. Previously, he served as Senior Vice éeasiof Marketing and Senior Vice President, LitéeBce Business at Affymetrix, Inc., a
provider of life science and molecular diagnostizducts, as well as Vice President, Labeling antk&mn Business at Invitrogen Corporat
a provider of tools to the life sciences industiyring his tenure there from 2002 to 2007. Dr. @edrolds a B.S. in Microbiology and
Molecular Genetics from the University of Califoariios Angeles, an M.S. in Molecular and CellulanlBgy from the University of California
Santa Barbara, and a Ph.D. in Molecular Genetioa the University of California Santa Cruz. We beé that Dr. George is qualified to serve
on our board of directors due to his extensive ggpee in the life science industry, his broad kxatip experience with life science compa
and his educational background.
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Lisa Alderson has served as our Chief Commercial Officer sinqaeSeber 2012. Ms. Alderson is also a founding artd Tech Care
Now, an information technology and service compamgl has served on its board since January 20&lpigkiously was the Executive Vi
President of Plum District, an e-commerce compéow July 2011 to May 2012. From January 2010 twday 2011, Ms. Alderson was a
consultant, advisor and angel investor. Prior &,tehe served as Chief Executive Officer and Beasiof CrossLoop, Inc., a marketplace for
technical services, from April 2007 to January 20drftd as President of Cinema Circle, Inc., a siftsmn-based home entertainment comp:
from 2004 to 2006. Previously, she was part ofstlaet-up team at Genomic Health, Inc., from 2002@62, and a Manager of Strategic
Planning at The Walt Disney Company from 1997 t8AMs. Alderson holds a B.A. in Journalism anetnational Studies from Colorado
State University and an M.B.A. from Harvard Busm&ghool.

Lee Bendekgey has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Gar@ounsel since November 2013. Mr. Bendekgeydddhmer Gener:
Counsel of DNAnexus, Inc., a cloud-based genonmrinétics and data management company, where hedstom September 2011 to
October 2013. From March 2009 until September 28Ir1 Bendekgey pursued personal interests. Prithiag he was Chief Financial Officer
and General Counsel for Nuvelo, Inc., a biopharmtical company, from July 2004 to March 2009; aedskrved as General Counsel and
Chief Financial Officer for Incyte Corporation frob®98 to July 2004. Mr. Bendekgey holds a B.A.iiarfeh and Political Science from
Kalamazoo College and a J.D. from Stanford Law 8tho

Non-employee directors

Eric Aguiar, M.D. has been a member of our board of directoresBeptember 2010. He has been a partner in thergesapital firm
Thomas, McNerney & Partners since 2007. Prior iijg that firm, he was a Managing Director of He@lare Ventures, a healthcare focusec
venture capital firm, from 2001 to 2007. Dr. Agweas Chief Executive Officer and a director of Gemdnc., a biopharmaceutical company
focused on gene delivery and gene regulation, ft668 to 2000. Dr. Aguiar previously served as ador of Amarin Pharmaceuticals, a
publicly-held biopharmaceutical company, as welbaghe boards of numerous private companies inofucompanies in the life sciences
industry. He is a member of the Board of Overseéthe Tufts School of Medicine and a member of@oeincil on Foreign Relations. He
received an M.D. with honors from Harvard Medicah8ol and a B.A. in Arts and Sciences from Corbgliversity. Dr. Aguiar was also a
Luce Fellow and is a Chartered Financial Analyst bélieve that Dr. Aguiar is qualified to serveaur board of directors due to his extensive
experience with in the life science field, his exgece on various boards, and his management aaddial experience with life sciences
companies.

Geoffrey S Crouse has served on our board of directors since Mardi228ince September 2012 he has served as Chietitixe Officer
of Cord Blood Registry, a company focusing on sigpistem cells from umbilical cords. He previousiyved as Chief Operating Officer at
Immucor, Inc., a publicly traded in vitro diagnasticompany, from August 2009 to April 2011. FronTiAp011 through September 2012,

Mr. Crouse was a consultant. Prior to Immucor, dreed as Vice President of the life sciences basia¢ Millipore Corporation, a publicly
traded provider of technologies, tools and servioeshe life science industry, from 2006 to 20B%ior to joining Millipore, he worked at
Roche, a pharmaceuticals and diagnostics compamrenhe held various roles from 2003 to 2006. MouSe holds a B.A. in English and
Japanese from Boston College and an M.B.A. anddviastf Public Health from the University of Califiie Berkeley. We believe that

Mr. Crouse is qualified to serve on our board oédiors due to his extensive experience in thestifences industry and his management and
financial experience with life sciences companies.
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Board composition

Our amended and restated bylaws, providedhr board shall consist of such number of dineschs the board of directors may from time
to time determine. Our board of directors consi$t®ur directors. The authorized number of direstmay be changed by resolution of our
board of directors. Vacancies on our board carillee by resolution of our board of directors. Gamard of directors will be divided into three
classes, each serving staggered, three-year terms:

. Our Class | director will be Geoffrey S. Crows®l his term will expire at our 2016 annual meetihgtockholders;
. Our Class Il director will be Randal W. Scotdamis term will expire at our 2017 annual meetifigtockholders; and
. Our Class Il directors will be Eric Aguiar aegan E. George and their terms will expire at @1i8annual meeting of

stockholders.

As a result, only one class of director e elected at each annual meeting of stockhs]deith the other classes continuing for the
remainder of their respective terms.

Code of business conduct and ethics

We believe our corporate governance intist comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and thesuind regulations of the SEC adopted
thereunder. In addition, we believe our corporateegnance initiatives comply with the rules of tew York Stock Exchange, or NYSE. Our
board of directors will continue to evaluate ourpmyate governance principles and policies.

Our board of directors has adopted a cddbeisiness conduct and ethics that applies to ebohr directors, officers and employees. The
code addresses various topics, including:

. compliance with laws, rules and regulations;
. confidentiality;

. conflicts of interest;

. corporate opportunities;

. competition and fair dealing;

. payments or gifts from others;

. health and safety;

. insider trading;

. protection and proper use of company assets;
. record keeping; and

. giving and accepting gifts.

Our board of directors has adopted a cd@hics for senior financial officers applicabtedur Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer as well as other key managemenmleyees addressing ethical issues. The code aidassconduct and the code of ethics ar
each posted on our website www.invitae.com. Theaddusiness conduct and the code of ethics clgrberamended by the approval of a
majority of our board of directors. Any waiver toetcode of business conduct for an executive afficelirector or any waiver of the code of
ethics may only be granted by our board of directorour nominating and corporate governance cotaengnd must be timely disclosed as
required by applicable law. We have implementedstldtblower procedures that establish formal
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protocols for receiving and handling complaintsiiremployees. Any concerns regarding accountingiditiag matters reported under these
procedures will be communicated promptly to ouribecoimmittee. Stockholders may request a free admpur code of business conduct and
code of ethics by contacting Invitae CorporatiotteAtion: Chief Financial Officer, 458 Brannan &tteSan Francisco, California 94107.

To date, there have been no waivers unglecade of business conduct or code of ethics.Mémnd to disclose future amendments to
certain provisions of our code of business conducibde of ethics or waivers of such codes grattexkecutive officers and directors on our
website ahttp://www.invitae.com within four business days following the date oflsaenendment or waiver.

Director independence

Our board of directors determined that Bgmiiar and Geoffrey S. Crouse are "independeictirs” as defined under the rules of the
NYSE. There are no family relationships among angur directors or executive officers. The NYSEmis a phas-in period of up to one
year for an issuer listing its securities on theS¥EYin connection with its initial public offering brder meet the requirement that a majorit
the board of directors be comprised of independeattors. We intend to take advantage of this ptiaperiod.

Board leadership structure

Our board of directors is currently chaitgdRandal W. Scott. Our board believes that hagimgmbined chairman of the board and chie
executive officer is the most effective leadersdtijpcture for our company at this time. The boaslicbes that Dr. Scott is the director best
situated to identify strategic opportunities andu®the activities of the board due to his fullgicommitment to our business and his industry-
specific experience. The board also believes tirmtbmbined role of chairman and chief executifieaf promotes effective execution of
strategic imperatives and facilitates informatitowf between management and the board.

Role of the board in risk oversight

Our board of directors is responsible feerseeing the overall risk management processeatdmpany. The responsibility for managing
risk rests with executive management while the cdtess of our board of directors and our boardigaors as a whole participate in the
oversight process. Our board of directors' riskrsight process builds upon management's risk asee¢sand mitigation processes, which
include reviews of long-term strategic and operal@lanning, executive development and evaluatiegulatory and legal compliance, and
financial reporting and internal controls.

Board committees

We have established an audit committee pemrsation committee and nominating and corporatergance committee, each of which
operate under a charter that has been approvedriiyoard. Copies of each charter are posted oodiporate governance section of our
website at www.invitae.com. We believe that the position of these committees meets the criteriarfdependence under, and the functio
of these committees complies with the applicabigiirements of, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and theeotimules and regulations of the SEC anc
the NYSE. We intend to comply with future requirettseas they become applicable to us. Each comnfite¢he composition and
responsibilities described below.

Audit committee

Dr. Aguiar and Mr. Crouse serve on our aadimmittee. Dr. Aguiar is the chairperson of thignmittee. Our audit committee assists our
board of directors in fulfilling its legal and fidiary
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obligations in matters involving our accountingding, financial reporting, internal control arethl compliance functions, and is directly
responsible for the approval of the services paréat by our independent registered public accourtingand reviewing of their reports
regarding our accounting practices and systemstefrial accounting control. Our audit committe® algersees the audit efforts of our
independent registered public accounting firm @k@$ actions as it deems necessary to satisfi/titsglsuch firm is independent of
management. Our audit committee is also respon&ibi@onitoring the integrity of our consolidatéddncial statements and our compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements as theytedia financial statements or accounting matters.tidard of directors has determined that
each of Dr. Aguiar and Mr. Crouse is an audit cotteaifinancial expert, as defined by the rules prigiaited by the SEC, and each of the
members of our audit committee has the requisit@nitial sophistication as defined under the apipléceules and regulations of NYSE. Under
NYSE rules, our audit committee must have three bem However, the NYSE permits a pt-in period of up to one year for an issuer
registering securities in an initial public offegito meet this requirement. We intend to take athgaof such phase-in period.

Compensation committee

Dr. Aguiar and Mr. Crouse serve on our cengation committee. Mr. Crouse is the chairpergdhi® committee. Our compensation
committee assists our board of directors in medtsgesponsibilities with regard to oversight atedermination of executive compensation
assesses whether our compensation structure ssdbippropriate incentives for officers and emge#sy Our compensation committee
reviews and makes recommendations to our boardextdrs with respect to our major compensatiomglgolicies and programs. In addition,
our compensation committee reviews and makes re@wdations for approval by the independent memidessraboard of directors regarding
the compensation for our executive officers, esghbk and modifies the terms and conditions of egmpént of our executive officers and
administers our stock option plans.

Nominating and corporate governance committ

Dr. Aguiar and Mr. Crouse serve on our naating and corporate governance committee. Dr. #&gsithe chairperson of this committee.
Our nominating and corporate governance commisteéesiponsible for making recommendations to ourcbofdirectors regarding candidates
for directorships and the size and compositiorheftioard of directors. In addition, our nominatamgl corporate governance committee is
responsible for overseeing our corporate governgaowelines, and reporting and making recommendatio the board of directors concerr
corporate governance matters.

Director compensation

Employee directors do not receive any camspton for service as a member of our board afctlirs. While we reimburse our non-
employee directors for their reasonable out-of-gbciosts and travel expenses in connection with étiendance at board and committee
meetings, we do not have a standard compensatl@my por our non-employee directors, other than Krouse, who currently is paid $20,000
annually and eligible to receive an annual optiangto purchase 2,500 shares of common stock. kHenwere intend to review and consider
future proposals regarding non-employee directanmensation now that we have completed our initiddlis offering.

108




Table of Contents

The following table shows certain infornasitiwith respect to the compensation of our Bamployee directors who served during the fi
year ended December 31, 20

Fees earned o Option
Name paid in cash awards(3) Total
Eric Aguiar, M.D.(1) — — —
Geoffrey S. Crous $ 20,00( $ 10,8442)$ 30,84:

(1) Dr. Aguiar serves is not currently compensated $fou his services.

(2)  On October 24, 2014, we granted Mr. Crouse an ppticacquire 2,500 shares of our common stockijngest
equal monthly installments over one year, commanoimFebruary 27, 2014. The option has an exeprise of
$8.70 per share. The amount in this column reptesba aggregate fair value of the option awardmaed as of
the grant date in accordance with Financial Accogn$tandards Board Accounting Standards Codificati
No. 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, or FASE Aopic 718, rather than amounts paid to or redllzy
Mr. Crouse. See the notes to our consolidated €ilmhstatements for a discussion of assumptionsenrad
determining the grant date fair value and compémsaixpense of our stock options.

3) Other than as described in (2) above, no aptto purchase our common stock were outstandiof as
December 31, 201-

Compensation committee interlocks and insider partipation

None of the members of our compensationroitt@e is or has in the past served as one of ffigecs or employees. None of our execu
officers currently serves, or in the past yearsdesed, as a member of a board of directors or eosgtion committee of any entity that has
or more executive officers serving on our boardioéctors or compensation committee.

Director nomination policy

The nominating and corporate governancencittee is responsible for identifying, evaluatingeruiting and recommending qualified
candidates to our board for nomination or elect@ur board nominates directors for election at eautual meeting of stockholders, and elect
new directors to fill vacancies if they occur.

Our board strives to find directors who experienced and dedicated individuals with divéasekgrounds, perspectives and skills. Our
governance guidelines contain membership critbaacall for candidates to be selected for thedrabter, judgment, diversity of experience,
business acumen and ability to act on behalf oftaltkholders. In addition, we expect each direttidre committed to enhancing stockholder
value and to have sufficient time to effectivelyrgaout his or her duties as a director. Our notifigeand corporate governance committee
seeks to ensure that a majority of our directoesratependent under the NYSE rules and that ongooe of our directors is an "audit
committee financial expert" under SEC rules.

Prior to our annual meeting of stockholders nominating and corporate governance commidieetifies director nominees first by
evaluating the current directors whose terms witliee at the annual meeting and who are willingaatinue in service. The candidates are
evaluated based on the criteria described abogesahdidate's prior service as a director, anahéleels of the board of directors for any
particular talents and experience. If a directotanger wishes to continue in service, if the naatiimy and corporate governance committee
decides not to re-nominate a director, or if a wayds created on the board of directors becausereignation or an increase in the size of th
board or other event, then the committee will cdesivhether to replace the director or to decrease
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the size of the board. If the decision is to repladirector, the nominating and corporate govera@ommittee will consider various candidi
for board membership, including those suggestecbinymittee members, by other board members, a direetarch firm engaged by the
committee or our stockholders. Prospective nomiaee®valuated by the nominating and corporaterganee committee based on the
membership criteria described above and set fortur governance guidelines.

A stockholder who wishes to recommend & pective nominee to the board for consideratiotheynominating and corporate governa
committee should notify our Corporate Secretanyiiting at our principal executive office. Such imetmust be delivered to our offices by the
deadline relating to stockholder proposals to besimtered for inclusion in our proxy materials, asferth in our bylaws.

Each notice delivered by a stockholder wihes to recommend a prospective nominee to tledfor consideration by the nominating
and corporate governance committee generally maktde the following information about the prospezhnominee:

. the name, age, business address and residencesdtitke person;

. the principal occupation of the person;

. the number of shares of our capital stock ownethbyperson;

. a description of all compensation and otherti@tahips during the past three years betweenttiokisolder and the person;
. any other information relating to the personuiegf to be disclosed pursuant to Section 14 oSteurities Exchange Act of

1934, or Exchange Act; and

. the person's written consent to serve as a dirdottected.

The nominating and corporate governancencitt®e may require any prospective nominee recondexiby a stockholder to furnish such
other information as the committee reasonably negyire to determine the person's eligibility toveeas an independent director or that could
be material to a stockholder's understanding optreon's independence or lack thereof.

Limitation on liability and indemnification matters

Our amended and restated certificate ariparation contains provisions that limit the pewadiability of our directors for monetary
damages to the fullest extent permitted by the @ér@orporation Law of the State of Delaware, @ BIGCL. Consequently, our directors will
not be personally liable to us or our stockholdersnonetary damages for any breach of fiducianyeduas directors, except liability for:

. any breach of the director's duty of loyalty toonsur stockholders;
. any act or omission not in good faith or that irved intentional misconduct or a knowing violatidriaw;
. unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stockuechases or redemptions as provided in Sectiorofl##e DGCL; or any

transaction from which the director derived an iogar personal benefit.

Our amended and restated certificate ajriparation and amended and restated bylaws prdkateve are required to indemnify our
directors, in each case to the fullest extent pgechby the DGCL. Our bylaws also provide that Wallkadvance expenses incurred by a
director in advance of the final disposition of augtion or proceeding, and permit us to secureramse on behalf of any officer, director,
employee or other agent for any liability arising of his or her actions in that
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capacity regardless of whether we would otherwesedrmitted to indemnify him or her under the psas of the DGCL. We have entered
into agreements to indemnify our directors and ekfecontinue to enter into agreements to indeynmifr directors. With certain exceptions,
these agreements provide for indemnification ftatesl expenses including, among other things, i@’ fees, judgments, fines and settler
amounts incurred by any of our directors in anyoacor proceeding. We believe that these certiéiadtincorporation and bylaw provisions ¢
indemnification agreements are necessary to atirattretain qualified persons as directors. We maimtain directors' and officers' liability
insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnifitian provisions in our certificate of incorporatiand bylaws may discourage stockholders from
bringing a lawsuit against our directors for breatkheir fiduciary duty of care. They may alsoued the likelihood of derivative litigation
against our directors and officers, even thoughaiion, if successful, might benefit us and otlieckholders. Further, a stockholder's
investment may be adversely affected to the extexttwe pay the costs of settlement and damagedavearainst directors and officers. At
present, there is no pending litigation or procegdivolving any of our directors, officers or emypées for which indemnification is sought,
and we are not aware of any threatened litigatiam thay result in claims for indemnification.

Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchangeohd 934 requires our executive officers and does; and persons who own more than 10% c
a registered class of our equity securities toréj@orts of ownership on Forms 3, 4 and 5 withSE€. Officers, directors and greater than 10¥%
stockholders are required to furnish us with copieall Forms 3, 4 and 5 they file. Because ouiiahpublic offering occurred after
December 31, 2014, we were not subject to Sectiga) Xor the period covered by this report.
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ITEM 11. Executive Compensation.
2014 summary compensation table

The following table presents informatiomcerning the total compensation of our named exexofficers, for services rendered to us in
all capacities during the fiscal year ended Decer3lie2014. Our named executive officers consistuwfChief Executive Officer and the two
other highest paid executive officers who were isgrat fiscal year-end:

Option
Fiscal Salary awards Total

Name and principal position year (%) ($)(1) ($)
Randal W. Scott, Ph.C 2014 203,70: — 203,70

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 201z 200,00t — 200,00(
Sean E. George, Ph.L 2014 281,85 454,35(2) 736,21

President and Chief Operating Officer 201z 280,00t — 280,00(
Lisa Aldersor 201¢ 286,64t 251,4043) 538,05:

Chief Commercial Officer 201z 239,58:(4) — 239,58:

Q) The amounts in this column represent the aggesfair value of the option awards computed gh@fyrant dates in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, rather thanammpaid to or realized by the individual. Seenbtes to our
consolidated financial statements for a discussfassumptions made in determining the grant datesélue and
compensation expense of our stock options.

(2) On each of February 28, 2014 and October @54 2we granted Dr. George an option to purchag@0BGshares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $3.42 and08eT share, respectively. The options vest a§%6 @f the shares on
the one-year anniversary of the grant date andi@fthe shares vest each month thereafter oeearetimaining three
years.

(3) On February 28, 2014 and October 15, 2014, we gddvis. Alderson an option to purchase 33,333 stard<5,000
shares, respectively, of our common stock at anceseeprice of $3.42 and $8.70 per share, respaygtiThe options vest
as to 25% of the shares on the one-year anniveo$ding grant date and 1/48th of the shares vest menth thereafter
over the remaining three years.

4) Ms. Alderson was employed on a [-time basis until October 1, 2013. Her annualizddrgavas $287,50(
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2014 outstanding equity awards at fiscal year-end

The following table presents informatiogaeding outstanding equity awards held by our naenettutive officers as of December 31,
2014:

Option awards Stock awards
Number of Number of Market
securities securities Number of value of
underlying underlying shares or shares or
unexercised unexercised Option units that units that
options options exercise Option have not have not
Grant (exercisable)  (unexercisable) price expiration vested vested
Name date (#) (#) ($/share) date (#) ($)
Randal W. Scott,
Ph.D. — — — — — — —
Sean E. George,
Ph.D. 11-16-12 19,44« 13,88¢(1) 1.2¢ 11-16-22 — —
2-28-14 0 50,00( 3.4z 2-28-24(2)
1C-15-14 0 50,00( 8.7( 10-15-24(2)
Lisa Aldersor 11-16-12 24,30t 17,36X(1) 1.2¢ 11-16-22
(1)
11-16-12 6,944(3) 111,1044)
2-28-14 0 33,33 3.4z 2-28-24(2)
1C-15-14 0 25,00( 8.7( 10-15-24(2)
1) The awards vest over a four-year period at theab25% of the total award on the opear anniversary of the vesting start date of Auglis2012 and 1/48th «
the total award on a monthly basis thereafter dweisubsequent three-year period.
2) The option vests as to 25% of the shares on thg/eaeanniversary of the grant date and 1/48thefshares vest each month thereafter over the margahree
years.
3) Represents shares acquired upon the early exefcsgmebased stock option, which shares are subjectightaf repurchase at the original exercise priaiel

for the shares if the executive terminates emplayrhefore the shares have vested.

(4) As there was no public market value for our commimtk as of December 31, 2014, we have set thenfaiket value at the initial public offering price.
Employment arrangements

In July 2010, we entered into an executirgloyment agreement with Sean E. George, Ph.DRP@sident and Chief Operating Officer.
This agreement was subsequently terminated in Nbee2014. Pursuant to the executive employmeneageat, Dr. George was provided
right to purchase 166,666 shares of our commorkstb$0.0006 per share, subject to a restrictezkgiarchase agreement dated July 15, 2
The restricted shares have now fully vested. Theioted stock purchase agreement imposes restrictin the transfer, grants us a right of
refusal and subjects the shares to a 180-day Ipgtedod after the effective date of our initiabfia offering. The right of first refusal
terminated upon the completion of our initial pelffering. Under his executive employment agredrpenr to its termination, in the event of
a "change of control" (such as a merger or reomgdioin which results in our stockholders immediafeior to such transaction holding less
than 50% of the voting power of the surviving gntir the sale or transfer of all or substantiallyof our assets), the vesting for any unvested
equity awards held by Dr. George would have acattdrand become immediately exercisable. Subjddstexecution of a general release of
all claims against us, the executive employment@ment provided prior to its termination that if Breorge's employment with us was
terminated by us without "cause" or not in conr@ttvith his death or disability, or if following“ahange of control" he resigned for "good
reason” (such as a material reduction in baseysataiesponsibilities, or a material change ingbegraphic location of his primary work
facility), then Dr. George would have been entitiedeceive the following: (1) a cash payment eqodl2 months of his then-existing base
salary, payable in monthly installments; and (2)dfelected to continue health insurance coveragerulCOBRA for himself or his eligible
dependents, we would have reimbursed him for tipfiGgihle premiums until the earlier of a 12-monéhipd or until he or his eligible
dependents became covered under similar planscanf®ineligible for coverage. If such a terminati@eurred outside of a "change of
control" context, Dr. George also would have reediaccelerated vesting of any unvested equity anardn amount equal to the number of
shares that would have vested had he remained getbfor an additional 12 months.
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ITEM 12. Security Ownership Of Certain Beneficid Owners And Management And Related Stockholder Maers.
Equity compensation plan information

The following table summarizes the numtesuastanding options granted to our employeessalbants and directors, as well as the
number of shares of common stock remaining avail&dsl future issuance under our equity compensatians as of December 31, 2014.

Number of Reserved for
Securities to be Future Issuance
issued upon Weighted Average Under Equity
exercise of Exercise Price of Compensation Plans
Outstanding Outstanding (Excluding Securities
Options (a) Options and Rights (b) Reflected in Column(a))

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holde 192151 $ 4.37 276,66
Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holde — — —

Total 192151 $ 4.37 276,66°

The information above relates to our 201dxK Incentive Plan, which was terminated in cotio@cwith our initial public offering in
February 2015 and was replaced by our 2015 Stamntive Plan.

Security ownership of certain beneficial owners angnanagement

The following table sets forth informatisegarding the number of shares of common stockflwéaléy owned on February 28, 2015, by:

. each person who is known by us to beneficialiyy®% or more of our common stock;
. each of our named executive officers and dimsciand
. all of our executive officers and directors as augr.

We have determined beneficial ownershigdoordance with SEC rules. Except as indicatedvéydotnotes below, we believe, based on
the information furnished to us, that the persord entities named in the table below have solengadind investment power with respect to all
shares of common stock that they beneficially osuject to applicable community property laws.

Applicable percentage ownership is based1g813,353 shares of common stock outstandinglatuary 28, 2015. In computing the
number of shares of common stock beneficially owmgd person and the percentage ownership of #rabp, we deemed to be outstandin
shares of common stock subject to options helchaygerson or entity that are exercisable withiml&®s of February 28, 2015. We did not
deem these shares outstanding, however, for thppeirof computing the percentage ownership of amgrgerson.
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Except as otherwise set forth in footnatethe table below, the address of each of theoperksted below is c/o Invitae Corporation, 458
Brannan Street, San Francisco, California 94107.

Number of Percentage of
shares shares
beneficially beneficially
Name and address of beneficial owne owned owned
Executive Officers and Directors
Randal W. Scott, Ph.C 3,439,55! 10.8%
Sean E. George, Ph.D.{ 204,66 *
Lisa Alderson(2 60,95( *
Eric Aguiar, M.D.(3) 3,732,461 11.7%
Geoffrey S. Crouse(« 21,75¢ *
All current executive officers and directors asaugp
(6 persons)(5 7,482,45; 23.2%
5% Stockholders:
Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. and affiliatg: 6,554,96' 20.€%
BlackRock, Inc.(7 4,166,66: 13.1%
Thomas, McNerney & Partners Il, L.P. and affiliate
?3) 3,732,461 11.7%
Genomic Health, Inc.(€ 2,207,79: 6.S%
* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

(1) Includes options to purchase 36,110 shares of canstazk exercisable within 60 days of February228,5.
(2) Includes options to purchase 36,110 sharesminon stock exercisable within 60 days of Febr2ay2015.

3) Consists of 3,682,968 shares held by Thoma®Jévhey & Partners II, L.P. ("Thomas McNerney"); 256 shares
held by TMP Associates Il, L.P. ("TMP Associatesiid 36,236 shares held by TMP Nominee II, LLC (AM
Nominee"). Thomas, McNerney & Partners Il, LLC ("PMLLC") is the general partner of each of Thomas
McNerney and TMP Associates. Eric Aguiar is a ma&anaj TMP LLC and has shared voting and investment
control over the shares held by each of Thomas Mo®&eand TMP Associates and indirectly shares imvest
control over the shares held by TMP Nominee. DwiAgdisclaims beneficial ownership of such shae@sept to
the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Tlading address of Thomas McNerney and its affisate60 South
Sixth Street, Suite 3620, Minneapolis, MN 55402.

(4) Includes options to purchase 2,500 shares of constomk exercisable within 60 days of February 28,52

(5) Includes options to purchase an aggregat®@9® shares of common stock exercisable withid&® of
February 28, 2015.

(6) Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed on Fefgruia, 2015. Consists of 5,816,409 shares helddikeBBrothers
Life Sciences, L.P. ("Baker Brothers"); 665,187rslseheld by 667, L.P. ("667"); and 73,371 shardd hg
14159, L.P. ("14159"). Baker Bros Advisors LP ("Baldvisors") is the investment advisor of 667, 8ak
Brothers and 14159, and has sole voting and digpegower with respect to these shares. JuliaBaRer and
Felix J. Baker are managing members of Baker Adsid®aker Advisors, Julian C. Baker and Felix kda
disclaim beneficial ownership of the securitiesdh®y the funds except to the extent of their pemyninterest
therein. The mailing address
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()

(8)

Baker Brothers and its affiliates is 667 MadisoreAue, 21st Floor, New York, NY 10065.

BlackRock, Inc. is the ultimate parent holding camyp of certain advisory subsidiaries that havepitwer to vote
or dispose of the shares. Of the 4,166,662 shisted labove, 2,365,865 are for the benefit of BiRadk Global
Allocation Fund, Inc., 482,772 are for the benefiBlackRock Global Allocation V.I. Fund of BlackRk
Variable Series Funds, Inc., 10,802 are for theefieaf BlackRock Global Allocation Portfolio of BEkRock
Series Fund, Inc., 41,249 are for the benefit aicBRock Global Allocation Fund (Australia), 27,941 for the
benefit of MassMutual Select BlackRock Global Altion Fund, 139,878 are for the benefit of JINL/BRock
Global Allocation Fund of JNL Series Trust, 933,304 for the benefit of BlackRock Global Funds—Glbb
Allocation Fund, 61,576 are for the benefit of BiRock Global Funds—Global Dynamic Equity Fund, 3B @&re
for the benefit of AZL BlackRock Global Allocatidrund, a Series of Allianz Variable Insurance Prasldcust,
and 71,570 are for the benefit of BlackRock Glodiidcation Collective Fund (collectively, the "BleRock
Funds"). On behalf of BlackRock Investment Managetnel C and BlackRock Institutional Trust Company,
N.A., the Investment Manager, Adviser, Sub-Adviaed/or Trustee (as applicable) of the BlackRockdsyn
Dennis Stattman, as a Managing Director of BlackRawestment Management, LLC and BlackRock Ingtitul
Trust Company, N.A., has voting and investment paaver the shares held by the BlackRock Funds. Benn
Stattman expressly disclaims beneficial ownershiglicshares held by the BlackRock Funds. The axfloé the
BlackRock Funds, BlackRock Investment Managemen,BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, N.A. and
Dennis Stattman is c/o BlackRock Investment ManageniLC, 1 University Square Drive, Princeton, 08640.

The address of Genomic Health is 301 PenobscoeDRedwood City, CA 9403
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ITEM 13. Certain Relationships And Related Trangsctions, And Director Independence.

In addition to the cash and equity compgosarrangements of our directors and named execafficers discussed above under the
sections entitled "Director Compensation” and "Exise Compensation”, respectively, the followingigescription of transactions since
January 1, 2014 to which we have been a party inhwthe amount involved exceeded or will exceedd$2@0 and in which any of our
directors, executive officers, beneficial holdefsnmre than 5% of our capital stock, or entitiefliated with or immediate family members of
any of the foregoing, had or will have a directratirect material interest.

Sales of convertible preferred stock

The following table summarizes purchasesusfconvertible preferred stock since January0142y certain of our directors, executive
officers and holders of more than 5% of our catatk and their affiliated entities. Each outstagdhare of preferred stock automatically
converted into one-sixth of one share of our comstook immediately prior to the completion of onitial public offering.

Shares of

Series F

preferred Aggregate
Purchaser stock(2) purchase price
Executive Officers and Directors
Randal W. Scott, Ph.C 1,000,000 $ 2,000,001
5% Stockholders
Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P.i 12,500,00 $ 25,000,00
BlackRock, Inc.(1 25,000,00 $ 50,000,00
Thomas, McNerney & Partners Il, L.P.{ 2,500,000 $ 5,000,00
Genomic Health, Inc 1,000,000 $ 2,000,001

(1) Includes securities purchased by affiliatethefpurchaser listed in the table. See "ltem S&eurity Ownership ¢
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Reélateckholder Matters” for additional information.

(2) Issued in August and October 2014 at $2.00 pees
Investors' rights agreement

In August 2014, we entered into a fifth awehed and restated investors' rights agreementositiain holders of our outstanding convert
preferred stock, including Genomic Health, Inc. gaity with which our director Randal W. Scott wafliated when it made its initial
investment in our convertible preferred stock i1 20and Thomas, McNemey & Partners I, L.P. andiafs, entities with which our director
Eric Aguiar is affiliated, as well as Baker Brothéiife Sciences, L.P. and its affiliates, BlackRoelc. and its affiliates, and funds advised by
Wellington Management Company LLP. This agreemenvides that certain holders of common stock issysah conversion of our preferred
stock have the right to demand that we file a tegfion statement or request that their shareswwingon stock be covered by a registration
statement that we are otherwise filing. In additiothe registration rights, the investors' righggeement provided for certain information
rights, board observer rights and rights of fifeoif we propose to offer or sell any new equggcurities. The provisions of the investors'
rights agreement, other than those relating testeggion rights, terminated upon completion of mitial public offering.
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Right of first refusal and co-sale agreement

In August 2014, we entered into a fifth auehed and restated right of first refusal and ce-sglreement with certain holders of our
preferred stock, including Genomic Health, Inc. eatity with which our director Randal W. Scott wafliated when it made its initial
investment in our convertible preferred stock il20and Thomas, McNemey & Partners I, L.P. andiafs, entities with which our director
Eric Aguiar is affiliated, as well as Baker Brothéiife Sciences, L.P. and its affiliates, BlackRadelk. and its affiliates, and funds advised by
Wellington Management Company LLP. This agreemeotided certain holders of preferred stock a riglypurchase and of co-sale in respec
of sales of shares of capital stock and for a ntastand-off following an initial public offering.Aese rights of purchase and co-sale terminate
immediately prior to the completion of our initiahblic offering.

Voting agreement

In August 2014, we entered into a fifth awehed and restated voting agreement with certaidenslof our preferred stock, including
Genomic Health, Inc., an entity with which our die@ Randal W. Scott was affiliated when it maddriitial investment in our convertible
preferred stock in 2011, and Thomas, McNemey &rfeastll, L.P. and affiliates, entities with whichralirector Eric Aguiar is affiliated, as
well as Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. andftdiates, BlackRock, Inc. and its affiliates, afwhds advised by Wellington Management
Company LLP. This agreement contained provisioganging voting and size of our board of directtisard composition and removal rights,
and drag-along sale rights. The voting agreememntibated upon the completion of our initial pubdigering.

Management rights

In connection with our sale of convertipkeferred stock to our investors, we are party éamagement rights letters with certain purche
of our convertible preferred stock, including ThansicNerney & Partners Il, L.P. and its affiliat&ackRock, Inc. and its affiliates, and
OrbiMed Private Investments V, L.P., pursuant tachtsuch entities were granted certain managenigmisy including the right to consult
with and advise our management on significant lassinssues, attend board of directors meetingsemeive board materials in certain cases,
review our financial data and operating plans, @ramur books and records and inspect our fadlifldhese management rights terminated
upon the completion of our initial public offering.

Stock options granted to executive officers and déctors

We have granted stock options to our exeeutfficers and directors, as more fully descriietitem 10. Directors, Executive Officers
and Corporate Governance."

Indemnification agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreets with our directors and executive officers. Sghagreements require us to indemnify tt
individuals to the fullest extent permitted undexi@vare law against liabilities that may arise &égson of their service to us, and to advance
expenses incurred as a result of any proceedingsighem as to which they could be indemnified.

Related party transaction policy

We have adopted a written policy that oteaaitive officers, directors, holders of more & of any class of our voting securities, and
any member of the immediate family of and any grdffiliated with any of the foregoing persons, amt permitted to enter into a related party
transaction with us without the prior consent of audit committee, or other independent membemioboard

118




Table of Contents

of directors in the event it is inappropriate for audit committee to review such transaction adua ¢tonflict of interest. Any request for us to
enter into a transaction with an executive offickrector, principal stockholder, or any of thermediate family members or affiliates, in wk
the amount involved exceeds $120,000 must firgirbeented to our audit committee for review, coarsiion and approval. In approving or
rejecting any such proposal, our audit committee isonsider the relevant facts and circumstancatadle and deemed relevant to our audit
committee, including, but not limited to, whethlke transaction is on terms no less favorable thang generally available to an unaffiliated
third party under the same or similar circumstaraebthe extent of the related party's interesfiéntransaction. All of the transactions
described above were entered into prior to the Galopf such policy.

Although we did not have a written poligy the review and approval of transactions witlated persons prior to the closing of our initial
public offering, our board of directors has histatly reviewed and approved any transaction whetieeztor or officer had a financial interest,
including all of the transactions described ab®&réor to approving such a transaction, the matéaiets as to a director's or officer's
relationship or interest as to the agreement oistretion were disclosed to our board of directOrs. board of directors would take this
information into account when evaluating the tratisa and in determining whether such a transactias fair to us and in the best interests o
all of our stockholders. In addition, for each tethparty transaction described above, the digsted directors in the context of each such
transaction approved the applicable agreementranddction.

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees And Services.

The audit committee has appointed Ernstaung LLP as our independent registered public attwag firm for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2015. Ernst & Young LLP audited onaficial statements in 2014.

The following table sets forth the feedduilby Ernst & Young LLP for audit and other seesaendered in 2014:

Year Ended
December 31, 201
(In thousands)

Audit Fees(1 $ 1,11¢(
Audit-related Fee —
Tax Fees —
All Other Fees —

Total $ 1,11¢

(1)  Audit fees include fees and out-of-pocket expenskgther or not yet invoiced, for professional &8 provided
in connection with the audit of our annual finahesi@atements and review of our quarterly finanstatements, ar
also include fees for our IPO, review of our regigbn statements, and services provided in coioreetith other
SEC filings.

Pre-approval policies and procedures

In connection with our IPO, the audit cortige established a policy to pre-approve all aadit permissible non-audit services provided
by our independent registered public accounting.fiAll of the services provided in 2014 were prg@ved to the extent required. During the
approval process, the audit committee considersrpact of the types of services and the related @ the independence of the independent
registered public accounting firm. The services e must be deemed compatible with the maintenahthat firm's independence, includ
compliance with rules and regulations of the SERrotighout the year, the audit committee will reviey revisions to the estimates of audit
and non-audit fees initially approved.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits And Financial Statement Schedies.

(&) Documents filed as part of this report
1. Financial Statements:
Reference is made to the Index to Finar®tiatements of Invitae Corporation included in I@mf Part Il hereof.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted becausedtenot required, not applicable, or the requinfdrmation is included in the financial
statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
See Item 15(b) below. Each managementacinbr compensating plan or arrangement requirée tiled has been identified.
(b) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Régint (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report omf-&-K filed February 23, 2015

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (purated by reference to Exhibit 3.2
the Registrant's Current Report on For-K filed February 23, 2015

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated éference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form Si& ({fa. 333-201433), as amended,
declared effective on February 11, 20

4.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agerendated August 26, 2014, among
Invitae Corporation and certain investors (incogted by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form Si& (f0. 333-201433), as amended,
declared effective on February 11, 20

4.2  Omnibus Approval and Amendment with Respect toieSdf Preferred Stock Purchase
Agreement; Fifth Amended and Restated InvestoghtRiAgreement; and Fifth Amended
and Restated Voting Agreement, dated October 9% ,2&rhong Invitae Corporation and
certain investors (incorporated by reference toiliiké.3 to the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-201433), asnaled, declared effective on
February 11, 2015

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and its officers and directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlegRtrant's Registration Statement on
Form &1 (File No. 33-201433), as amended, declared effective on Febigrg015)

10.2# 2010 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereu(ir@rporated by reference to
Exhibits 10.2, 10.3 and 10.4 to the Registrantgi®etion Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 33:-201433), as amended, declared effective on Febiiigrg015)

10.%# 2015 Stock Incentive Plan and forms of agreemémttinder (incorporated by referenc
Exhibits 10.5, 10.6 and 10.7 to the Registrantgi®mtion Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-201433), as amended, declared effective on Febarg015)

120




Table of Contents

Exhibit

Number

Description

10.4#

10.€#

10.7

10.¢

10.¢

10.1(

21.1

23.1
24.1

31.1°

31.7°

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated leyente to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333433), as amended, declared effective
on February 11, 2015

Executive Employment Agreement, dated July 30, 269Gnd between Invitae
Corporation (f/k/a Locus Development, Inc.) andrBEaGeorge (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Registratioat&nent on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
201433), as amended, declared effective on Febigrg015)

Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement, dated JulgdH), by and between Invitae
Corporation (f/k/a Locus Development, Inc.) andrBEaGeorge (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's Registratioat&@mnent on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
201433), as amended, declared effective on Febigrg015)

Lease (Standard Form), dated September 1, 201dndbpetween Invitae Corporation (f/k/a
Locus Development, Inc.) and Martin E. Harband stee of the Harband Family Trust, as
amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@ltke Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-201433), asnale, declared effective on

February 11, 2015

Sublease, dated December 6, 2013, by and betwe#adiCorporation and Sutter West |
Hospitals (incorporated by reference to ExhibitlBXo the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-201433), asnaled, declared effective on
February 11, 2015

Lease, dated October 31, 2012, by and betweeratn@brporation and 278 University
Investors, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhilfi.14 to the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-201433), asnaled, declared effective on
February 11, 2015

Sublease, dated November 21, 2014, by and betwmeéad Corporation and InMobi Inc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 toRegistrant's Registration Statement on
Form &1 (File No. 33-201433), as amended, declared effective on Febigrg015)

List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by referenc&xtibit 21.1 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333433), as amended, declared effective
on February 11, 2015

Consent of independent registered public accouffiting
Power of Attorney (contained on the signature gagbis Form 1-K).

Principal Executive Officer's Certifications Puratito Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

Principal Financial Officer's Certifications Purstizgo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.1"* Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (Secfi66 of Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002)

32.2"* Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (Secfi66 of Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002)

#

*

Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangement.

Filed herewith
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+ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulati®-K and SEC Release No. 34-47986, the certifinatfurnished in
Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accaynpés Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filed't fourposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984 (Exchange Act") or deemed to be incorporatedefigrence into

any filing under the Exchange Act or the Securifies of 1933 except to the extent that the regmtspecifically
incorporates it by referenc

Copies of the above exhibits not contained heregragailable to any stockholder, upon paymentmefagonable per page fee, upon written
request to: Chief Financial Officer, Invitae Coration, 458 Brannan Street, San Francisco, Caléd®dil07.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

Reference is made to Item 15(a) 2 above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

INVITAE CORPORATION

By: /sl RANDAL W. SCOTT, PH.D.

Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 27, 2015

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, thatleperson whose signature appears below constantkappoints Randal W. Scott
and Lee Bendekgey, and each of them, his trueail attorneys-in-fact, each with full power ofbstitution, for him or her in any and all
capacities, to sign any amendments to this reppRarm 10-K and to file the same, with exhibitsréte and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Comiaris$ereby ratifying and confirming all that eaxfrsaid attorneys-in-fact or their
substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be tgrvirtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidgrelow by the following persons, on behalf
of the registrant on the dates and the capaciitisated.

Signature Title Date
/sl RANDAL W. SCOTT, PH.D. Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer (Principal March 27, 2015
Randal W. Scott, Ph.L Executive Officer,
/s/ LEE BENDEKGEY Chief Financial Officer, General
Counsel and Secretary (Principal March 27, 2015
Lee Bendekge Financial Officer)

/s/ PATRICIA E. DUMOND Vice President, Finance (Principal

Accounting Officer)

March 27, 2015
Patricia E. Dumon

/s/ SEAN E. GEORGE, PH.D. President, Chief Operating Officer and

March 27, 2015

Sean E. George, Ph. Director
/sl ERIC AGUIAR, M.D.
Director March 27, 2015
Eric Aguiar, M.D.
/s/ GEOFFREY S. CROUSE
Director March 27, 2015

Geoffrey S. Crous
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 3333986) pertaining to the 2015 Stock
Incentive Plan, the Employee Stock Purchase Pldrilan2010 Stock Incentive Plan of Invitae Corgorabf our report dated March 27, 2015,
with respect to the financial statements of Invifaeporation included in this Annual Report (For@iK) for the year ended December 31,
2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
March 27, 2015
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Exhibit 31.1

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S CERTIFICATION PURSUAN T TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Randal W. Scaott, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporfForm 10-K of Invitae Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyiniagr(s) and | are responsible for establishing araihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (&
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlp@ugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgsteant's disclosure controls and procedures aeskpted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coueyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any chairgthe registrant's internal control over finaneigborting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the &gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyinfjadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our masinteevaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and ni@aéweaknesses in the design or operation of matecontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materiitinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2015

/s/ RANDAL W. SCOTT, PH.D.

Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER'S CERTIFICATION PURSUAN T TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lee Bendekgey, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporform 10-K of Invitae Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr(s) and | are responsible for establishing araihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (&
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlp@ugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgsteant's disclosure controls and procedures aeskpted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period coueyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any chaimgthe registrant's internal control over finaneigborting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the &gant's internal control over financial reportiaggd

5. The registrant's other certifyinfjadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our masinteevaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and ni@aéweaknesses in the design or operation of matecontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materiitinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2015

/s/ LEE BENDEKGEY

Lee Bendekgey

Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and
Secretary

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report ofitag Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K foe tyear ended December 31, 2014, as file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned offafehe Company certifies, pursuant tc
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, whsofficer's knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejtgrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemgiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Regdairly presents, in all material respects, timamcial condition and results of operati
of the Company.

Date: March 27, 2015

/s/ RANDAL W. SCOTT, PH.D.

Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report ofitag Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K foe tyear ended December 31, 2014, as file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned offafehe Company certifies, pursuant tc
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, whsofficer's knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejtgrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemgiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Regdairly presents, in all material respects, timamcial condition and results of operati
of the Company.

Date: March 27, 2015

/s/ LEE BENDEKGEY

Lee Bendekgey
Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and
Secretary (Principal Financial Officer)




QuickLinks
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 13505ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002



